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INTRODUCTION
1. On December 31, 1996, pursuant to the Civil Service Superannuation Act, (“CSSA”), MTS employees belonged to a secure government pension plan which had a large surplus (“Old Plan”). AD 909 indicates that the surplus in the Civil Service Superannuation Fund on December 31, 1996 was $179M.  
2. Under the Old Plan, surplus was used exclusively to improve pension benefits for employees and never to defray existing employer costs.

3. Employees had a real say in how surplus was utilized, and over any other changes made directly to the pension plan. Surplus was never used without a consensus between the government and employees and pensioners.  

4. Another hallmark of the Old Plan was 50/50 funding.  This funding was achieved by virtue of a pay as you go system whereby the employer would match monthly pensions paid out of the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF) (virtually all employee money) to retirees.  Whenever there were assets over and above 50% of the liabilities for the pensions, the Old Plan’s actuary would identify a surplus. Invariably, negotiations ensued, always resulting in substantial benefit improvements for members and retirees.
5. Then MTS was privatized.  On January 7, 1997, MTS employees were transferred to a private plan created by MTS (“New Plan”).  Their pension assets and pension rights were also transferred pursuant to The Manitoba Telephone System Re-Organization and Consequential Amendments Act, S.M. 1996 c. 79 (“the Act" or the “Re-Organization Act”). 

6. Upon establishment of the New Plan, it was recognized that employees would be contributing surplus funds; that is, assets above 50% of the liabilities of the New Plan. 

7. MTS made numerous representations that it would not use the employee surplus (referred to in this case as the “initial surplus”) to reduce its cost or share of contributions to the New Plan. With that assurance, the Province, MTS and employees entered into an agreement on November 7, 1996 regarding, among other things, the initial surplus. The evidence in this case is that all of the parties intended that the initial surplus would go to the benefit of employee/retirees and not to the benefit of MTS by reducing its contributions to the plan. 

8. The first major issue in this case involves interpreting the November 7 Agreement and determining whether it has been breached. The Plaintiffs say that from 1998 to early 2003 MTS did not fund the New Plan.  It used surplus to defray its existing costs (i.e. MTS took “contribution holidays”). As a result of this use and the accounting treatment of the COLA account, employees never received a single cent of benefit from their initial surplus, while MTS’ cost and share of contributions, its funding obligations, were substantially reduced. The initial surplus, which is agreed by the parties to be $43.4M as at January 1, 1997, has been spent by MTS through its accounting and operation of the New Plan. The COLA account now has a deficit of approximately $17M.

9. A related complaint is that, under the New Plan, cost of living adjustment (COLA) awards are capped at 2/3rds of inflation to a maximum Consumer Price Index (CPI) of 4 percent; which means the maximum COLA that can be awarded in the New Plan is 2.67%. In the Old Plan, COLA awards were higher than 2.67% in 14 of the 20 years prior to privatization. The average COLA award over this period was 3.77%. [AD 1001] 

10. The second major issue in this case relates to whether the New Plan provides for benefits which on the implementation date are “equivalent in value” to the benefits produced by virtue of the CSSA pension arrangement. 

11. Jon Singleton (“Singleton”) is the former Manitoba Provincial Auditor. Clifford Fox (“Fox) is an actuary who was appointed by Singleton pursuant to the Act, as an "independent actuary”, to determine whether benefits provided under the New Plan are equivalent. 
12. Fox rendered two written opinions on “equivalent in value”.  His draft opinion was that the plans were not equivalent because of funding, surplus and governance issues.  His final opinion was that the plans were equivalent, with no explanation given as to whether or how funding, surplus and governance were equivalent.

13. The Plaintiffs say that Fox's final opinion is wrong by any standard of review. The expert actuaries retained in this case, on both sides, agree that surplus, funding and governance are properly considered in determining the question concerning equivalency. The Plaintiffs also argue that Fox's decision must be set aside because Singleton interfered with Fox’s statutory duties such that Fox lost his “independence” and breached his duty to be fair to the Plaintiffs.
14. Another major issue is what does equivalency in value mean?  The Plaintiffs maintain that equivalency in value is a legal interpretation, which the Court must make in relationship to the appropriate aids at its disposal, including the history, objective and intent of The Re-Organization Act.  The Plaintiffs say that the clear purpose and objective of s. 15 of The Re-Organization Act is to achieve equivalency in value in the broadest sense.  In that regard, equivalency in value is not just formulaic benefits, but includes funding, surplus and governance.

15. Under that wider embrace of definition, the question then becomes whether equivalency in value is achieved.  The Plaintiffs state that the only component of equivalency in value which was achieved, were the formulaic benefits.  The funding was not equivalent in value because the Plaintiffs put $49 million more into the New Plan on January 1, 1997, and received no tangible or other benefits in return therefore.

16. With respect to surplus, historically under the CSSF, the Plaintiffs had ownership to surplus in the CSSF and surplus was always used to enhance the benefits in the Old Plan.  Surplus was never used for any other purpose.
17. With respect to governance, the Plaintiffs say that the governance component was not equivalent because under the Old Plan, use of surplus and fundamental changes in the plan was always made by consensus between the employees / retirees and the government.  There was never any unilateral action taken by the government to the detriment of the plan members.  In the New Plan, the plan member participation is ineffective, because MTS has taken full control over all aspects of the New Plan and acts in a dictatorial fashion with respect thereto.  Governance is gone from a matter of consensus to a matter of monopoly on the part of MTS.
18. MTS, as a Crown agent, owed a fiduciary duty to the Plaintiffs.  It breached that fiduciary duty in many respects, including its patent deliberate failure to provide full disclosure to the Plaintiffs in advance of passage of Bill 67 in order to thwart any legitimate influence that plan members otherwise would have enjoyed under the old regime.  Furthermore, MTS misrepresented to the Plaintiffs that it would not use the plan members’ initial surplus to reduce its share of contribution or costs to the New Plan.  In deliberate contravention of that representation, MTS has not only not provided improved benefits for the plan members with respect to the use of its surplus, but it has also used that entire surplus to reduce its cost obligations.
19. The remedies sought by the Plaintiffs are as set out in the Remedies section of this argument.
1.0
SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE
1.1
History of CSSF Plan
20. The Civil Service Superannuation Plan (the “CSSP” or “Old Plan”) is a statutory plan which was enacted by the legislature in 1939, as The Civil Service Superannuation Act (“CSSA”).

21. The Old Plan was a plan created to provide superannuation or pension benefits for employees of the government and government Crown agencies.  (AD 869) (06867 & 06868)
22. Initially, the Plan was funded by way of employees contributing between 4.5% and 7% of pensionable earnings.  Contributions were matched by the government dollar for dollar and benefits paid out of the consolidated revenue fund.  (AD 86) (06868 & 06869)

23. Various benefit improvements to the plan were made between the CSSA enactment and 1961.  (AD 86) (06869 & 06870)
24. In 1961 an agreement was reached between the government and the then Manitoba Government Employees Association (“MGEA”) whereby, in exchange for improved benefits, the government would discontinue matching funding and would use the resulting accumulated revenue for other government purposes.  (AD 86) (06870 & 06871)

25. From that point forward, the government and Crown agencies were responsible for the payment of 50% of any benefits paid to retirees.  Fifty percent of the benefit payments came from The Civil Service Superannuation Fund (“CSSF” or “Fund”) and government and Crown agencies were billed the other 50% by The Civil Service Superannuation Board (“CSSB”), which administered the Old Plan.  The government and Crown agencies reimbursed the Fund on a monthly basis for their 50% share of the benefits paid out.
26. The Old Plan was a defined benefit plan in which the contributions were fixed, the benefits were known, and, the Fund operated either on a surplus or deficit basis, depending upon the amount of contributions in the Fund from year to year and the investment income earned on an annual basis.

27. Effective July 2, 1977, the contribution rate paid by plan members into the Fund became 5.1% of yearly earnings up to the yearly maximum pension earnings (YMPE) and 7% of the balance of yearly earnings.  (AD 86) (06880)

28. The CSSF was a hybrid plan because of the nature of its funding and the nature of its management and governance.  As a practical matter it served its beneficiaries well, even though it was a hybrid compared to other plans.  (V5, p. 96, l. 5-17)
Civil Service Superannuation Board

29. The CSSB historically administered and still administers the CSSP and consists of nine members, four of whom are representatives of employees and retirees.  It is a body corporate.  The Lieutenant Governor-in-Council appoints the Chair and the members of the Board are paid out of pocket expenses incurred in the discharge of their duties under the Act.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2, Section 5) (24908 & 24909)

30. The CSSB appoints a plan actuary for the purposes of making such reports and valuations as the Minister may require.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2, Section 6.2) (24910)

31. Employees covered under the CSSA, include employees of the MGEA (now MGEU) and employees of unions who are bargaining agents for civil servants or Crown agencies, including the Plaintiffs TEAM, IBEW and CEP.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2, Section 6(3) (24912) and Tab 2B (25003)
32. The CSSB is the Trustee of the Fund (Section 8.1) (24913) and is responsible for investment of the Fund’s monies (Section 9(1)).  The Fund investments are through the CSSB Investment Committee, which includes employee representation.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2F) (25029)

33. The Fund is made up primarily of contributions from the salaries of employees together with interest earned on the Fund.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2, Section 12.3) (24916)
34. The government is statutorily obligated to backstop any payments required to be made by a government agency that ceases to exist.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2(f), Section 22(10)) (25030)

The Pension Benefits Act (“PBA”)
35. The PBA includes government and government agencies, subject to certain exceptions.  (Ex. 4, Tab 3) (25059)

36. Under the PBA, surplus is defined as the excess, determined at the time of review, of the value of the assets of the plan, excluding the present value of outstanding special benefits over the value of the liabilities of a plan in respect of service rendered by employees and former employees prior to that time.  (Ex. 4, Tab 3) (25061)

37. There are funding requirements in the form of solvency testing prescribed by the regulations in an amount and manner adequate enough to provide for payment of all pension benefits required under the pension plan (Section 26(1)).

38. No funds, including the surplus, can be paid out of a plan to an employer unless the Pension Commission believes it equitable to do so and consents in writing (Section 26(2)).

39. No amendment of the pension plan shall adversely affect the pension benefit credits of any member (Section 26(5)).

40. Any sum received by an employer from an employee as a contribution towards the employee into a pension plan is held in trust by the employer and cannot be appropriated or converted by the employer to its own use or any other unauthorized use by the trust.  (Section 28(1)) (Ex. 4, Tab 3) (25084)

The Pensions Benefits Standards Act, 1985 R.S.C. c. 32 (“PBSA”) (Ex. 4, Tab 4)
41. The funding of the pension plan, like under the PBA, requires prescribed tests and standards for solvency (Section 9(1)).  No surplus can be refunded to the employer without the approval of the Office of the Superintendant of Financial Institutions (“OSFI”) (Section 9(5) & 9(6)) (25140).  The PBSA prohibits amendments to the plan which have the effect of reducing pension benefits accrued prior to the date of the amendment and any pension benefit credits accrued.

42. An essential element of the PBSA is that it is a minimum standards enactment.  In other words, a plan could be registered which provides for rights or benefits greater than that prescribed in the PBSA.

43. More precisely, the PBSA and Regulations are not to be construed as preventing the registration or operation of a pension plan containing provisions that are more advantageous to members of the plan, former members or potential members or their spouses, beneficiaries or estates (Section 3) (25133).

Pension Committee

44. One of the examples of minimum standards is in the area of governance.  As a minimum, the administrator (in this case MTS) is required to establish a pension committee with at least the duties set out in Section 7(7).  However, the pension plan by agreement, or in this case by law, may provide additional duties and responsibilities of a Pension Committee commensurate with the required ordaining agreement or statute.

Trust Fund
45. An employer is required to keep all funds dedicated to the pension fund in a separate account in trust for the members of the pension plan.  The administrator is also the trustee of the plan (Section 8(1) and 8(3)) (25138) (again in this case, MTS).

Administrator

46. The administrator is required as well to exercise a degree of care that a person of ordinary prudence would exercise in dealing with the property of another person.  Where the administrator has a special skill or knowledge with respect to the administration of the plan, the administrator shall use that level of skill.  Furthermore, no person shall be appointed if there is a material conflict of interest between the person’s role as a member of the pension committee and the person’s role in any other capacity, and the member shall at all times act in the best interests of members of the pension plan.  (Section 8(4), 8(5) & 8(10)) (25139)

1.1.2
Superannuation Adjustment Account (“SAA”)

47. Effective January 1, 1970, a cost of living adjustment (COLA) was introduced as inflation was becoming an important factor in the realm of pensions and it became essential that current pension benefits be updated by a CPI adjustment.  The Old Plan called for an award of COLA of 2/3 of the then current CPI; meaning a retiree was promised a COLA in any given year, as long as there were sufficient funds available.  (AD 86) (06877)

48. The COLA provision was provided on a year to year ad hoc basis, but became a fixed benefit on July 1, 1977.  (AD 86) (06878)

49. Effective July 1, 1977, a separate account was established under the CSSA to finance the COLA provision for all recipients of pensions.  It became known as the Superannuation Adjustment Account (“SAA”).  COLA would be paid on July 1 of every year on a permanent annual basis, depending upon the amount in the account in each year.  The account was funded by direct contribution of 10.2% of all contributions from the main account of the Fund; COLA payments were matched by the government and government agencies.  (AD 86) (06880)

50. Under the CSSA, the account is made up of 10.2% of employee contributions (Section 13.2).  (V2, p. 77, l. 28-34; p. 78-79)
51. Any surplus in the SAA may be allocated by the Board to other purposes of the Fund (Section 13(6)) (24917).  The only purposes of the Fund is to provide pension benefits to members.

52. Under the CSSA, a retiree is entitled to a COLA adjustment to the extent that there is no unfunded liability in the SAA (Section 33.8) (24946).

53. There was a separate report prepared annually for the SAA by the Plan’s actuary (AD 352) (22665, Appendix IV-V).  Assets were kept separate from the main account and none of the assets in the SAA were available to fund the basic benefits under the CSSA (AD 24) (07758 & 07760).  (RV3, p. 65) (V2, p. 77, l. 28-34; p. 78-79)
54. Likewise, the main account, which held the monies for basic benefits, was tracked, accounted for and reported separately from the SAA.  All assets and liabilities associated with the main account were kept separate.  (AD 228) (03208) (RV1, p. 47) (V2, p. 80, l. 20-34; p. 81, l. 1-21)
Rate of Interest Applied to the SAA

55. The amount of interest to be credited to the SAA is to be determined by a method chosen by the CSSB.  (Section 13(5)) (Ex. 4, Tab 4) (25046)

56. The rate of interest historically was based on a formula which ostensibly met or exceeded the rate of return of interest on the Old Plan (Ex. 33).  Historically the rate of return credited under the Old Plan between 1997 and 2007 was 8.98% versus the rate of return on the Old Plan at 8.96% (25962).  (RV1, p. 48) (V2, p. 80, l. 1-15)
Objective of 2/3 of CPI

57. It was an objective of the Old Plan that retirees received 2/3 of CPI.

58. Initially, greater than 2/3 of CPI was granted, where possible, but with high inflation the level of COLA was reduced subsequently to protect the SAA from being unable to grant 2/3 of CPI and thereby not being able to provide adequate COLA increases in the future.  (RV1, p. 52-53)
20 Year Pre-Funding

59. In and about 1986, John Turnbull, of Turnbull and Turnbull (“Turnbull”), the plan actuary, suggested that there be a change in the way the SAA was funded.  Given the inflation rates; and the increase in retirees; he concluded that the SAA would be in jeopardy if it continued to pay out greater than 2/3 of CPI and would need an infusion of surplus from the main account in order to be able to perpetuate the 2/3 of CPI objective.  A strategy was put into place in which $32 million from the main account was transferred to the SAA for the benefit of future COLA increases up to 2/3 CPI.  Also, a protection was built in so that more than 2/3 of CPI could not be sourced out of the SAA until such time as the account could meet the test of having enough assets to cover off 20 years of liabilities for 100% CPI.  (AD 50) (AD 82, p.2)  (RV1, p. 56) (RV2, p. 22-26) (RV9, p. 92-93)
60. The government had to agree to the transfer of $32 million out of the basic account of the CSSF, because it was be responsible for 50% of the cost of any COLA increases granted as a result of monies being transferred to the SAA.  Twenty-five percent of that surplus transfer went to pay immediate COLA and the remainder was amortized over 30 years to benefit future retirees, in part (AD 82) (98106).  (Ex. 4, Tab 2B, s. 33.10) (25009) (RV2, p. 26) (V2, p. 85, l. 3-34; p. 86-89)
61. These changes were negotiated between the government and the Liaison Committee.  (See AD 32, 89 and 106).  (V3, p. 37, l. 19-33)
62. Hansard (AD 106) captured the essence of the way the process worked.  It was stated in connection with the transfer of the $32 million surplus into the SAA in the following terms:

   23                  As  a   result    of  consultation

   24                  between the Government of Manitoba

   25                  and  the   liaison   committee  of

   26                  employee  representatives  at   the

   27                  1986  session   of   the  Manitoba

   28                  legislature,  the   Civil   Service

   29                  Superannuation Act  was amended to

   30                  provide the  following  significant

   31                  benefit improvements.
. . . 

    6                  The transfer of the surplus to  the

    7                  adjustment  account  will   provide

    8                  additional  funding  for  cost  of

    9                  living  adjustments.    This  will

   10                  help to ensure that the incomes of

   11                  pensioners      are       protected

   12                  throughout their retirement years.  (RV2, p. 34)
Pre-Privatization Status of the SAA
63. In the mid-1990’s, Louis Ellement (“Ellement”) of Turnbull and Turnbull, produced reports from time to time for the Liaison Committee to demonstrate the status of the SAA.  The net result of these reports was to indicate, based on certain assumptions made, that there would be a shortfall in the SAA within a relatively short period of time without an infusion of surplus.  Consequently, the Liaison Committee pressed the government for assistance.  The government resisted on the basis that it did not have the requisite money to match COLA increases resulting from surplus injections into the SAA.  In the end, notwithstanding this analysis, no surplus was put into the SAA in order to meet the annual objective of 2/3 of CPI.

64. Since the initial infusion in 1988, no further infusion was required prior to privatization, and even after privatization, until 2006 (AD 180, AD 200, AD 208, AD 215, AD 224, AD 225).  (V3, p. 12-19, l. 1-25)
65. In 2006 the plan was able to transfer $145 million into the SAA to run off that account over a 30 year amortization period with a matching obligation from the government (AD 1259).  (V3, p. 19, l. 26-34; p. 20-21, l. 1-19)
Experience of The SAA

66. The history of the SAA from 1977 demonstrates that:

(a)
on many occasions, more than 2/3 of CPI was granted;

(b)
on no occasion was COLA of less than 2/3 CPI granted where inflation was 4% or less;

(c)
the only year in which less than 2/3 of CPI of 4% was granted, was in 1988, which was a timing issue between the determination of the COLA percentage to be granted and the allocation into the SAA of an amount sufficient to cover the required COLA;
(d)
COLA awards of 2/3 of CPI have been granted since privatization (January 1, 1997) on an annual basis.  (AD 200) (AD 1001) (Ex. 8, p. 3) (25750)

1.1.3
Funding Under the CSSF

67. Under the PBA, pension plans in Manitoba are required to be funded on the basis of certain solvency tests.  (Section 26(1)) (Ex. 4, Tab 30 (25082) However, pursuant to the regulations to the PBA, the government is exempt from solvency funding of the CSSF (Ex. 4, Tab 6, Section 26, RM 188/87 R. (25197).

68. The reason for this exemption is that the government, as a matter of fiscal policy, decided not to match employees’ contributions post-1961, but rather matched benefit payments.

69. The government could do so because of its ability to raise taxes and consequently, it was not saddled with the same funding obligations as a private pension plan, where the risk of underfunding and potential termination or wind-up of a plan was more prevalent (AD 1).
70. Pay-as-you-go funding versus pre-funding was a matter of public policy and was not a funding issue from a security perspective.  There was never any question that the government could not meet those obligations.  (V5, p. 17, l. 34; p. 18, l. 1-8)
71. The concerns of the Provincial Auditor in terms of the status of the government regarding its unfunded obligation as a result of the decision to pre-fund, were concerns of the government as well, but they had nothing to do with the ability of the government to make good on its obligations and they did not affect the viability of the CSSF.  (V5, p. 19, l. 23-34; p. 20, l. 1-14)
72. There never any discussion intra-government about the pension plan ever being wound up.  (V5, p. 20, l. 17-27)
50/50 Cost Sharing

73. Up to privatization (January 1, 1997), there was a hallmark of 50/50 cost sharing between the government and employees.
1.1.4
Governance Process - Liaison Committee and Advisory Committee
Employee / Retiree Perspective
74. The historical functions of the Liaison Committee, the Liaison Negotiating Committee and the Advisory Committee were enshrined by way of formal enactment under the CSSA as at March 15, 1990, codifying the Liaison Committee status as the sole statutory representative of plan members with the function, through the Negotiating Committee, to negotiate benefit improvements with the government’s representatives the Advisory Committee.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2B, s. 10.1) (25005)
75. The purpose and function of these Committees as set out in the legislation was to be the platform for negotiations between the government and employees / retirees to effect changes to the CSSA where agreement was reached.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2(b)) (25005)

76. The purpose of the Liaison Committee was to negotiate with the Advisory Committee (also known as the Task Force) and to make recommendations concerning pension matters.  The Liaison Committee represented approximately 40,000 members and was given the responsibility of negotiating improvements to the Old Plan.  (V2, p. 7, l. 15-32; p. 8, l. 1-11; p. 11, l. 18-34; p. 12, l. 1-7)
77. The constitutional objectives of the Liaison Committee included maintaining its strength and bargaining rights in the pension and insurance fields and to prepare briefs and make representations to government of desirable changes pertaining to superannuation and group life and dependent insurance.  It was the same bargaining process as with wages and other working conditions.  (AD 169)  (V2, p. 26, l. 1-10)
78. Whenever there was a surplus in the Old Plan, as determined by the plan actuary (Turnbull and Turnbull), the Liaison Committee would initiate a list of improvements the members wanted; have them costed out by the plan’s actuary; and, to the extent that they were affordable, the Liaison Committee would begin to negotiate benefit improvements with the Task Force.  (RV1, p. 24-26) (V2, p. 15, l. 9-34; p. 16, l. 1-31)
79. Although sometimes it took a long time, agreement was always reached with respect to use of the surplus.  The only issues were timing and cost sharing.  (RV1, p. 27) (RV9, p. 56-58) (V3, p. 65, l. 8-33; p. 67, l. 1-27)
80. All agreements for recommendation to the Minister had to go through the process of legislative enactment because the CSSP was a creature of statute.

81. However, there was never an instance where an agreement as to the use of surplus between the two Committees was rejected by the government; nor was there an instance where the government approved the settlement, but the amendments were not passed through the legislature.  (RV1, p. 28-29)
82. The only party responsible for negotiating changes was the Liaison Committee and all changes were initiated by the Liaison Committee.  It was collective bargaining without the ratification.  (RV1, p. 29) (V2, p. 22, l. 10-24)
83. The reason the Liaison Committee was recognized as the sole bargaining agent for the employees to negotiate changes to their pension plan was because the government did not want to deal with individual collective bargaining units for the various employee groups.  The bargaining rights were taken out of individual bargaining groups and resided in the collective group, such that the Liaison Committee role was concomitant with bargaining rights that a group would normally experience; so the unions would have meaningful say and input into their members’ pension plan.

84. The full details of the operation and interaction of the two Committees is set out in AD 54 (07021).

85. The significance of the Liaison Committee can be seen from Hansard when the legislature codified the process which had been in place for years:

Formal recognition of the employee and the employer committees charged with responsibility for discussing pension changes will more clearly establish the important role that they undertake in the provision of effective and responsible pension coverage for public servants in Manitoba.  (AD 106)  (RV1, p. 35) (V2, p. 25)
86. Although the process was one requiring agreement between the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee, the Minister would take the recommendation to Cabinet for its approval and ultimately to the legislature for enactment.  Due to the fact that the CSSP was a statutory plan, the process was one of formality and technicality and not one where the government considered that it had a discretion to thwart an agreement between its bargaining representatives and the employees’ bargaining representatives.  (See, as an example AD 151, AD 185 and AD 159 concerning the negotiation agreement and implementation of the Rule of 80.)

Negotiating Surplus

87. With respect to surplus, proposals were always at the initiative of the Liaison Committee.  There were never any proposals coming from the Advisory Committee.  (V2, p. 21, l. 6-21)
88. An example of the way the process worked is that the Liaison Committee would get the actuarial report of the plan’s actuary.  (See for example AD 24 (07759) showing a $63.7 million surplus in the fund as at December 31, 1982.  The report also showed the SAA as a separate account holding separate assets of $20.877 million (07758).  Those assets were not available for the main account.)  (V2, p. 30, l. 25-34; p. 31, l. 1-34)
89. Negotiations with the Advisory Committee would follow and an agreement was eventually reached because the Liaison Committee was there to negotiate an agreement with the respect to the surplus.  Once there was an agreement, it was reduced to writing and it would have to be drafted in legislative form, but the fundamental principles of the agreement were solidified.  (V2, p. 18, l. 1-33)
90. Once an agreement was reached between the Committees, there was never any time when there was any legislative debate or non-passage of the Act to give life to the agreement.  (V2, p. 19, l. 24-34)
91. Nothing pertaining to the CSSA was ever legislated without the Liaison Committee’s knowledge, discussion and agreement.  (V2, p. 20, l. 15-27)
92. The only process through which benefits were changed was through the Liaison and Advisory Committee process.  (V2, p. 20, l. 23-34; p. 21, l. 1-5)
93. Although the formal process was through the Liaison and Advisory Committees, at times when things were not moving as well as anticipated, there were direct discussions with the Minister as a principal decision-maker.  (See for example AD 49 (06926) a direct communication with the then Minister, Gordon Mackling.)  (RV2, p. 9-10) (V2, p. 36, l. 16-33)
Government Perspective

94. Darren Praznik (“Praznik”) was called as a witness.  He was the only Minister of the government called.  At one point, he was the Minister responsible for the CSSF and was intricately involved in the final settlement with respect to the November 7 Agreement (AD 440).  He was also significantly involved in the negotiations and structure of the plan while he was the Minister.  His unequivocal and uncontradictory evidence was that the surplus in the Fund belonged to the plan members and the government viewed the Fund as one which required consensus in decision-making process.  (V5, p. 6, l. 7-34)
95. He testified that, if there were plan changes contemplated, there would be extensive discussion between the various groups as well as informal discussion right up to the level of Minister.  Any recommendations made by the Advisory Committee and the Liaison Committee were by consensus which essentially agreed to by the government in advance.  Therefore, when a matter came forward, it was not a surprise as the Minister had already given instructions to the Advisory Committee that the government was prepared to accept the recommendation.  (V5, p. 11, l. 22-34; p. 12, l. 1-28)
96. An amendment would not be taken to the legislature unless there was consensus.  If the government was in agreement, the Minister would go through a formal approval process in terms of getting a Bill ready for the legislative session and putting it on the agenda and doing all the things necessary to give effect to the agreement reached.  (V5, p. 12, l. 20-34; p. 13, l. 1-20)
97. There was never any discussion or contemplation that the government intended unilaterally to increase employee contributions for existing benefits without consultation with the employees / retirees.  (V5, p. 15, l. 1-17)
98. Any use of surplus required a consensus between the government and the employees / retirees.  (V5, p. 16, l. 3-13)
99. The process of negotiation would be that the Liaison Committee would make proposals for pension improvements.  The Advisory Committee would discuss it with the Minister’s staff.  There would be negotiations and agreement would inevitably follow (AD 127 & AD 133).  (V5, p. 21, l. 19-34; p. 22, l. 1-34)
100. The only real issue between the employer and employees was the status of the government’s deficit pertaining to any new obligation.  The discussion was always around whether the employees would use surplus to fund the government portion.  (V5, p. 22, l. 12-34; p. 23, l. 1-13)
101. A public servant of a Minister would not write a letter of agreement without the expectation that Cabinet would give its approval.  These matters would be discussed internally and a mandate to the employer representatives would have been provided in advance of bargaining.  It would come to the Minister in an agreement form and then it would go through the formal approvals, but the substance of the agreement would have been vetted and the employer representatives would have had a mandate to enter into a formal agreement (AD 151).  (V5, p. 24, l. 24-34; p. 25, l. 1-4; p. 105, l. 1-23)
102. Although the process sometimes took a lengthy period of time because of the complexity of changes and administrative requirements and delay in ushering the Bill through the House and in passing the legislation, at times there were retroactive benefit improvements awarded.  (V5, p. 25, l. 19-34; p. 26, l. 1-16)
103. The process was that, if a commitment was made by way of an agreement between the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee when it came forward to the government, there will be deference to move it through the legislature.  If the government of the day (the employer) changed, the practical political repercussions would militate against a retraction.  (V5, p. 98-99; p. 103, l. 20-34; p. 104, l. 1-3)
1.1.5
Ownership / Use of Surplus Under the Old Plan

104. The history of what use was made of the Fund’s surplus at any given time under the CSSF, and the ownership of that surplus, can be summarized in the following exchange in Hansard (AD 137) between Praznik and leader of the opposition at the time, Paul Edwards (“Edwards”).


Edwards:

   34                  It appears that  several years  ago
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    1                  the Provincial  Government  stopped

    2                  paying into the plan  to match  the

    3                  contributions  of  the  employees.

    4                  This  would  mean  that  only   the

    5                  employee's portion  builds  in  the

    6                  plan, which, of course, results in

    7                  surpluses.

. . .

   11                  Presently I  am  advised  there is

   12                  somewhat in  excess of  50  million

   13                  dollars in  the plan  and that  the

   14                  superannuation  insurance   liaison

   15                  committee would   like  to  improve

   16                  the   plan,   but    instead    the

   17                  government has  decided  they will

   18                  simply use  it  to  save  money on

   19                  their part in not  paying into  the

   20                  plan.

. . .

   24                  What  can  the  minister  tell  us

   25                  about the complaint which comes to

   26                  me from  an  individual  who  would

   27                  know well  the  details  he speaks

   28                  of.     Why  are   the  additional

   29                  revenues only  being paid  into by

   30                  the employees?   Is there  in fact

   31                  that surplus?    And  why  is that

   32                  surplus not being  used to  improve

   33                  the plan?


Praznik:

    9                  Yes, there is a  surplus.  I'm  not

   10                  sure if it  is  50 million  dollars

   11                  or thereabouts  on  the employees'

   12                  side within the fund.   I have  met

   13                  with  the representatives   of  the

   14                  liaison committee.  They have host

   15                  of   benefits   that    they    are

   16                  proposing.

. . .

   26                  I would  be wrong  in  saying that

   27                  the government is prepared to jump

   28                  into those.  We simply do not  hve

   29                  the money to match them.
. . .

   28                  However, there  has been  precedent

   29                  with that fund  to improve  certain

   30                  aspects of it for employees,  using

   31                  their accumulated  surplus  without

   32                  matching.  And I  hope to get in to

   33                  those  kinds  of  discussions   and

   34                  negotiations    because   it    is
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    1                  certainly their money.

. . .

   11                  And I hope to get into those  kids

   12                  of  discussions  and  negotiations

   13                  because  it   is  certainly   their

   14                  money.  [Emphasis added]  (RV2, p. 4-6)
105. Concerning the above exchange, Restall explained:

(a)
sometimes it took a period of time to get agreement when the government was not prepared to share the cost of a benefit improvement 50/50 or at all;

(b)
in order to negotiate improvements, sometimes the Liaison Committee would agree to fund the government’s portion, or a part thereof, of the cost of a benefit improvement through the use of surplus;

(c)
the explanation usually given by the government was that it did not have enough money to fund its share of improvements;

(d)
until there was agreement, the surplus stayed in the fund to be invested;

(e)
there was never any suggestion by government or the opposition or any other party at any time that the surplus in the Old Plan was not the employees’ money; it was always treated as such.  (RV2, p. 6-8) (V2, p. 18, l. 34; p. 19, l. 1-12; p. 37, l. 1-19)
106. On those occasions when, in order to get desired benefits the Liaison Committee agreed to use a part of the Fund’s surplus to defray government costs, it was always accomplished with the concurrence of the employees through the Liaison Committee.  The government never used surplus to defray or reduce its existing cost obligations for benefits accrued, nor did the government ever attempt such a maneuver.  (RV1, p. 58-59) (V2, p. 22, l. 2-9) (V5, p. 13, l. 21-34; p. 14)
107. The government was never opposed to allowing the employees’ funding to be utilized in this manner when the Liaison Committee opted to fund benefit improvements.  (RV2, p. 10-11)
108. In the long history of benefit improvements of the benefits under the Old Plan between 1972 and 1996, the cost of sharing took the form of:

(a)
50/50 sharing between the employees and the government;

(b)
100% payment by the employees out of the surplus of the fund;

(c)
partial payment out of the surplus in the Fund; or
(d)
payment out of the Fund for a period of time before the government resumed paying 50% of the costs.  (AD 1151)

109. An example of (d) occurred in 1986 when negotiations began for the use of the best 5 years averaging in the basic benefit formula.  The CSSF picked up 50% of the normal employer’s share of the costs for a period of three years between September 1, 1986 and September 1, 1989, and thereafter, the government resumed being billed for its normal 50% share of the cost of pensions based on 5-year averaging.  (AD 63) (RV2 p. 18)
110. In 1996, the Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee agreed to certain substantial improvements.  The process followed was the same as it always had been right up to privatization.
111. The CSSP process after privatization has not changed.  The Liaison Committee and the Advisory Committee have entered into agreements which have provided benefit improvements.

1.2
Privatization
February - June 1996
112. The government commenced the process of privatization of MTS in early 1997.

113. Plan members got “first wind” of the possibility of the sale of MTS through the Liaison Committee at a meeting on February 5, 1996.  (AD 251) (21802) (RV2, p. 44)
114. Various individuals started to initiate efforts to obtain as much information as possible.
115. Early on, the security of the Old Plan was addressed at a Liaison Committee meeting with the then Minister responsible for the Civil Service Act, Vic Toews (“Toews”), who attempted to reassure plan members that they were secure; since section 22 of the CSSA dealt with the government intervening in a default situation in which a Crown agency could not or did not meet its obligations.  (AD 263) (RV2, p. 46-47)
116. Employees and retirees were naturally concerned because they were being “left in the dark” concerning what the government’s intentions were with respect to the Old Plan, which the government employees for MTS had enjoyed since inception and which was precious to them.
117. Even though the plan members were vitally affected, they were not aware, even as late as May, 1996, that the government had intended that there would be no continuation of their participation in the Plan.  (AD 256) (10878) (RV2, p. 47-48)
118. In and around early May, 1996, the first draft of Bill 67, The Manitoba Telephone System and Consequential Amendments Act (“Re-Organization Act”), contained the deemed consent provision under Section 15(8) (later to be Section 15(10)), in which the Plaintiffs were deemed to consent to the termination of their participation in the CSSF and to transfer an assign assets, liabilities and agreements from the Old Plan to the New Plan, and to have all rights determined under the New Plan without reference to the CSSA.  (AD 265)

119. The process of the privatization process with respect to the Old Plan commenced without the consent, knowledge or input of the employees / retirees into the New Plan, including what assets were to be transferred, in what amount; and, without any details as to the New Plan regarding the benefits enjoyed under the CSSA.  The lack of disclosure and input was unprecedented.  (RV2, p. 60)
July 1996

120. On or about July 2, 1996, MTS prepared the first formal draft of the plan text, unbeknownst to the plan members.  (AD 276) (RV2, p. 62)
121. Specifically, there was no knowledge as to the discretionary use of any surplus that MTS created (Section 16.02) (00778) (AD 276), which is something that the plan members obviously would have wanted to address, because in every case surplus had been used to improve benefits.  (RV2, p. 63-65)
122. On or about July 8, 1996, the plan members started to galvanize through the Telephone Pioneers of America to obtain information concerning the status of the New Plan.  (AD 280) (RV2, p. 67)
123. They were concerned with such matters as funding, governance, administration, whether the plan would be funded 50/50, what representation would be on the Board and how indexing would be continued.  (RV2, p. 70)
124. On or about July 12, 1996, in preparation for a meeting with Bill Fraser, the President and CEO of MTS (“Fraser”), to be held on July 16, 1996, the plan members were of the view that “equivalent in value” meant:

    4            Had  you at this point in time, or your  committee,

    5  at  this  point  in time,  formulated  any  understanding or

    6  position as to what equivalent in value meant?

    7        A   To  us, equivalent value is whatever we had in  the

    8  other  plan, in  terms of  calculation of  our pensions,  our

    9  input  into the new  plan, whatever influence  we had on  the

   10  running  of the, of the pension plan.  These things would be

   11  continued in the new plan.  [Emphasis added]
Major Concerns

125. There were many concerns from the outset, including:

(a)
governance under the New Plan and whether the plan members would be able to exercise the same influence under the New Plan as they did under the CSSP;

(b)
whether the financial position of the New Plan would be the same as the CSSP in that there would be a surplus coming over from the CSSF;

(c)
whether MTS was going to match employee surplus, so that the New Plan on Day 1 (January 1, 1997) would be in the same financial position of assets versus liabilities; the 50/50 matching hallmark;

(d)
whether MTS was going to transfer its pension reserve fund to the New Plan; and,
(e)
questions as to the amount of the transfer from the CSSP.  (AD 284) (RV2, p. 73-76)
126. Most importantly, the plan members were concerned about the size of their surplus which to them was defined as the assets greater than 50% of the liabilities attributable to MTS plan members (“Initial Surplus”).  (RV2, p. 77)
127. On or about July 16, 1996, representatives of the plan members met with Fraser.  At that meeting they asked for a copy of any plan text but they were advised that they would not receive a copy.  (RV2, p. 79)
128. At the meeting, issues of governance, funding and surplus were articulated as major concerns.  Fraser gave no assurances at that time with respect to those concerns.  (RV2, p. 79-80)
129. On or about July 24, 1996, Ken Beatty, a retired MTS lawyer (“Beatty”), on behalf of the employee / retiree group, confirmed the contents of the  meeting held on July 16, 1996, in which among other things, they were told that a working group for the pension plan had been developed by MTS, which did not include any representation on behalf of the employees / retirees.  They were also advised that Bill 67 was to receive royal assent in November 1996.  They were also told that there would be a surplus coming over from the CSSF, but the amount was unknown.

130. The position articulated by the group at that meeting was that:

(a)
the transfer amount was owned by the employees and neither the Province nor MTS had any right to that transfer amount;

(b)
the employees did not consent to the termination of their participation in the CSSP;

(c)
MTS and the employees / retirees should have an equal say in how the plan is administered (governance).  (RV2, p. 85)
131. No issue was raised by MTS as to who owned the initial surplus that was to be transferred, i.e. it was the employees’ money.  (RV2, p. 84-85)
132. On or July 31, 1996, Fraser, in a general information letter indicated that the monthly pensions and the cost of living increases would not be affected.  However, the representations made did not indicate what kind of governance the plan members would have.  MTS touted security under the New Plan as a source of comfort, but the group was never concerned about the security they enjoyed with the government plan.  On the contrary, there was a feeling that there was more risk, with MTS being more vulnerable of going into bankruptcy in a competitive environment.  Concerns over security under the CSSP had never been an issue.  (AD 294) (RV2, p. 86-90)
133. Despite the acknowledgment by Fraser that “As I have noted from our meetings that concerns exist as a result of an apparent lack of information and understanding of this complex and critical issue” (AD 295) (01507, par. 3), the only communications forthcoming from MTS were propaganda bulletins, which provided very general information and did not answer the group’s specific concerns with respect to governance, surplus and funding.  (AD 274, AD 294, AD 295 & AD 296) (RV2 p. 95-98)
August 1996

134. On or about August 6, 1996, Beatty posed more questions in writing to Fraser, including question 5(b):

Will the employees “surplus portion” of the transfer amount be used to enhance the employees share of the benefit improvements?”

and 5(c):
Will the employees “surplus portion” of the transfer amount be used to reduce the employer’s cost to the plan?

135. Those questions were posed by Beatty because the plan members did not want the surplus coming over to be used to reduce MTS’ costs.  (AD 299) (RV3, p. 10)
136. Furthermore, question 5(e) was:
Will MTS match the contribution of the employees’ “surplus portion” of the transfer amount by contributing an identical amount into the New Plan?
137. This question was posed to determine whether there would be 50/50 funding; that is to say, would MTS be contributing an equal amount to the employee surplus.  (RV3, p. 12)
138. The reference to “reducing employers’ contributions” to the Plan meant the cost to MTS of the existing benefits would not be reduced through the use of employee surplus.
139. On or about August 8, 1996, the employee / retiree pension committee (“ERPC”) was formally set up to represent the plan members.  (AD 301) (RV3, p. 18-19)
140. On or about August 12, 1996, a further draft of the pension plan was prepared and at the same time a meeting was held with Bill Shelest of MTS, who indicated in response to a request for a copy of the plan text, that it was still in a draft stage and that the ERPC would get it later.  (AD 304) (RV3, p. 25-26)
141. On or about August 27, 1996, Fraser sent a further letter (AD 313) in response to Beatty’s letter of August 6, 1996, (AD 299) and in specific answer to questions 5(b) and (c), which again were:

5(b)
Will the employees ‘surplus portion’ be used to enhance the employees share of the benefit improvements?
5(c)
Will the employees ‘surplus portion’ be used to reduce the employer’s cost to the plan?  (22769)
142. The answer in part from Fraser was “However, this surplus will not be used to reduce the employer’s cost of and share of contributions to the new pension plan” (08526) [emphasis added], which statement gave the ERPC comfort.  It was a guarantee that any surplus coming over would not be used to the benefit of MTS to the exclusion or detriment of plan members.  (RV3, p. 29-30)
143. There was no answer to question 5(d):  “Please outline how these employees ‘surplus portion’ will be invested in a separate trust account on behalf of the employees.”  (22769) (RV3, p. 30)
144. In answer to question 5(e):
Will MTS match the contribution of employees ‘surplus portion’ of the transfer amount by contributing an identical amount to the new plan?  (22769)

Fraser stated:
MTS will transfer to the pension plan trust fund the assets and investments currently held for pension obligations in its fund known as The “Pension Reserve”.  (AD 313) (08527) (RV3, p. 31)
145. With the response from Fraser, the ERPC believed the New Plan would be more than fully funded in that there would be a surplus if MTS met its current 50% obligation; and, from Day 1, the New Plan would be in a surplus position.  (RV3, p. 35)
146. As late as August, 1996, the ERPC was advised that the COLA awards would be determined in the same manner and the cost of living would be the same in the New Plan as under the Old Plan.  (AD 296) (00711) (RV3, p. 32-33)
September 1996

147. On or about September 4, 1996, MTS sent a copy of a September 3, 1996 draft text to legislative counsel, which draft was not ever sent to the ERPC for review.  (AD 325) (RV3, p. 37)
148. On or about September 11, 1996, an MTS information meeting was held involving Tony Williams (“Williams”) of Buck Consultants, the actuary for MTS and Ellement, now the actuary hired by the ERPC, at which time a copy of the plan text was requested, but again no promises were made.  (AD 298) (08791)
149. On or about September 19, 2006, John Corp, an actuary hired by CEP (“Corp”), wrote to Fraser requesting a copy of the plan text.  (AD 343)  Although CEP proceeded independently at the time, it was operating on a parallel course with the ERPC.
150. On or about September 24, 1996, the ERPC reiterated its concerns to MTS with respect to having an equal say in terms of governance; the spurned requests for the pension plan text, and, generally regarding the lack of information forthcoming.  (AD 347)
151. On or about September 25, 1996, a further letter on behalf of the ERPC by its legal counsel was sent to Fraser, reiterating its concern about surplus and how it was going to be utilized.  The ERPC wanted comfort that the surplus would be handled in the same way as it was in the CSSP, since it was surplus generated through the investment of plan member contributions; it was owned by the plan members; and, it should be used only for plan benefit improvements.  (AD 348) (RV3, p. 52)
152. The ERPC also wanted greater assurances that MTS would not defray or reduce its cost of obligations, because up to that point in time the ERPC did not have any documentation which would indicate how the surplus was going to be used and protected.  (AD 348) (RV3, p. 53-54)
153. Another main concern was articulated as follows:

(e)
We are of the further belief that, on a go-forward basis, new emerging surpluses in the Fund should be used to improve benefits consistent with past practice. (AD 348) (01552)

154. There was no response received from MTS prior to the ERPC receiving the November 8, 1996 draft on or about November 11, 1996.  (AD 448)
Initial Surplus / Protection

155. When the ERPC was giving consideration to the new MTS plan being formed, there was a concern that any surplus in the CSSF (again defined as being the amount above one-half of the actuarial liability for those benefits) would be protected when it was transferred into the New Plan, so as not to pay the employer’s cost of accrued benefits.  (RV11, p. 3, l. 1-15)
156. The preliminary assessment of the ERPC in terms of protecting the surplus was either to keep it in a separate account to improve benefits, or put it into the COLA account to increase the amount of assets in the COLA account.  (RV3, p. 55-56)
157. The prime issue was that the initial surplus be protected.  As stated by Praznik:

   11       A      The  principle   that   was  discussed   at  the  time  was

   12  to  protect   the   money,   that  it  wasn't   to  be   used  for  the

   13  purposes   of  MTS'  employer,    it  was  to  be  protected   for  the

   14  employees.  And how that was given life in the detail of the

   15  plan  thereafter   is  for  those  both  parties   to  work  out.   But

   16  the   principle,     the   principle    that    that   agreement,     my

   17  understanding    was  to  enshrine   that  that  money  was  protected

   18  in  a   way,   it  was   surplus   paid   in  by   pensioners,    being

   19  transferred    to  the  new  plan  and   it  was  for  their  benefit.

   20  It was their money and it needed to be protected.  (V6, p. 53, l. 11-20)
158. On or about September 30, 1996, a further draft plan text was prepared by MTS which for the first time incorporated a minimum guarantee of 2/3 of 4% up to a cap or maximum of 4%.  (AD 355 & AD 356)
159. On September 30, 1996, by way of a letter (AD 360), MTS sent a draft copy of the MTS pension plan text to Jules Benson, Secretary to The Treasury Board, Province of Manitoba (“Benson”).  (AD 355) (AD 356)
160. The letter stated that:

. . . 

With the exception of the cost of living provisions, all other differences were required to allow the pension plan to be registered under the PBSA and the Income Tax Act.  The changes to the cost of living benefits were included after much consideration and consultation with the plan’s actuaries.
. . . 

Please note that the document is still in draft form and will require some changes before being filed with the regulatory authorities and released to all other interested parties.
161. The ERPC was not notified of or provided with a copy of the plan text as had been requested on several occasions, or that MTS (not the government), which was putting restrictions on its release.  (RV3, p. 68; p. 72)
October 1996

162. By October 1996, an MTS bulletin advised that Bill 67, including the particulars of the new pension plan, would be finalized on November 7, 1996.  (AD 362)
163. At the same time, the plan members had not received any documentation pertaining to the new pension plan.  They had not received any information as to the contents of the pension plan, nor had they been given an opportunity to have input into the articulation or expression of their concerns with respect to surplus, funding and governance.

164. On or about October 2, 1996, an information meeting was held by MTS for any party wishing to attend.  In attendance at that time was Williams, who gave general information comparing the CSSP to the New Plan (AD 370).

165. At that meeting, MTS again was asked for a copy of the plan, but there was a refusal at that time to give the plan members a copy of the draft plan.

166. At that meeting, plan members were not advised as to the fact that there had been a change from the CSSA, to provide a minimum guarantee of COLA up to 4% in the New Plan or the reasons therefor.  Williams was instructed not to advise the plan members by MTS, notwithstanding that the plan text had been distributed to the government for review.  Furthermore, the concept of contribution holidays was discussed and attendees were advised that under the PBSA, if a surplus existed, MTS could take contribution holidays.  MTS, however, did not advise as to the contents of the draft text concerning the ability by MTS to use actuarial surplus on an ongoing basis as it saw fit.  (RV3, p. 76-77) (V37, p. 45, l. 10-28)
167. On or about October 10, 1996, MTS through its accountants, received a tax ruling indicating that the pension reserve fund (which turned out to be $383 million) was deductible pursuant to a Revenue Canada tax ruling (AD 735).  However, the ERPC was not made aware of the tax benefits available to MTS, which was a motivating factor in its haste to get the New Plan registered and the motive for making certain that the New Plan was fully funded (but no more).

168. On or about October 11, 1996, Fraser advised Corp that the pension plan document was currently being developed and could not be provided until MTS was fully satisfied that the pension plan met the requirements of The Re-Organization Act and would be registerable.  Until then, the document would not be forwarded (AD 377).

169. This response was in contradiction to the status of the plan text and its contents, especially in light of the fact that the timetable for completion of the plan document was the week of October 14, 1996 (AD 378, p. 2) (13128).

170. On or about October 15, 1996, Corp wrote to Fraser and asked for the specific date as to when the pension plan documents would be made available.  No further response was received (AD 379) at that time.  (RV3, p. 81)
171. On or about October 11, 1996, the ERPC received a letter, through its legal counsel, from Fraser indicating, among other things, that the New Plan included a rate of interest higher than the CSSA rate of interest of 3% for employees’ contributions made prior to January 1, 1984.  No other improvement was mentioned.  In terms of amount, it was an insignificant difference and used only for technical requirements under the PBSA (AD 376).  (RV4, p. 1)
172. With respect to the request to have a draft of the text provided, there was a continuing reluctance by MTS, to provide a copy in a timely fashion, or at all, notwithstanding MTS’ acknowledgment that it was critical the plan be in full compliance with the statutory obligations (AD 376) (2701559, par. 4).  (Apparently, the ERPC had no role in determining compliance.)  (RV4, p. 3-4)
173. On October 22, 1996, because the ERPC was now getting panicky in terms of the eleventh hour passage of Bill 67 without any involvement on the part of the ERPC, a meeting was arranged with Toews and Glen Findlay, the Minister responsible for MTS (“Findlay”).  At that meeting it was re-affirmed that the initial surplus coming over from the CSSF was employee owned surplus; that it had to be protected; and that the employee surplus be reserved for benefit improvements This commitment by the government that surplus must be reserved for benefit improvements was memorialized in a contemporaneous memorandum prepared by Ellement and addressed to Restall (AD 382).  (RV4, p. 5-7)
174. On or about October 23, 1996, MTS again reiterated that it would not use the employees’ surplus to reduce MTS’ cost of or share of contributions to the New Plan.  Fraser was responding to the written ERPC request for clarification dated September 25, 1996 (AD 348).  It was a representation relied upon by the ERPC (AD 383) (01562, Item 1).  (RV4, p. 11-12)
175. In the letter (AD 383), Fraser purported to make a determination as to the most appropriate use of the surplus.  Up to that point in time, the plan members were not involved in the kinds of evaluations or options that MTS was contemplating, including the contents of the plan text as related to any intended minimum guarantee.  (RV4, p. 13-14)
176. On or about October 24, 1996, in a follow up letter from Restall to Findlay, it was confirmed specifically that there would be equal representation on the controlling body as existed under the CSSP Plan; which included whatever control, governance or input the plan members had through the Liaison Committee and the CSSB with respect to plan improvements (AD 386).  (RV4, p. 7-8)
177. On or about October 24, 1996, the government, through Findlay and Toews, confirmed that the surplus generated was through employee contributions only and would not be used to reduce MTS’ liability; that these funds were to be used for the benefit of plan members; and, would not therefore be used to reduce the funding requirements of MTS in terms of ongoing costs for future benefits.  There was no response to the contrary to this letter (AD 386).  (RV4, p. 9-10)
178. On or about October 25, 1996, a further draft of the New Plan text was prepared (making minor changes), but again the plan members were unaware of it or its contents (AD 387).  (RV4, p. 15)
179. On or about October 25, 1996, Williams prepared a draft opinion on equivalency in value for MTS, in which he compared specific formulaic benefits only as between the plan text dated September 30, 1996 (AD 350) and the CSSA, PBSA and Income Tax Act (“ITA”).  The only specific improvements he could illustrate were the pre-1984 interest rate on employee contributions; the ability to retire at age 55 after two years of service; and, the possibility of a COLA improvement in that COLA of 2.67% was guaranteed to be provided if inflation was at 4% (assuming that the CSSP did not have enough funds in the SAA to provide same).  No other formulaic improvements were cited.  The improvements were technical requirements and of no financial significance.  (RV3, p. 19)
180. On or about October 29, 1996, MTS submitted the plan text for approval of the MTS Board of Commissioners so that it could be sent to Revenue Canada and to OSFI, with the warning that registration could take nine months with respect to OSFI and four months with respect to Revenue Canada.  MTS was relying upon the Williams’ opinion as to equivalency in value (AD 389) and the draft plan text to obtain approval from Revenue Canada (an implicit admission that the plan document was final as far as MTS was concerned).

181. On or about October 30, 1996, Williams finalized his opinion of equivalency in value (AD 401) , which did not differ from the draft opinion (AD 389).

182. On or about October 30, 1996, Towers Perrin provided an Estimated Pension Benefit Obligation Asset Analysis for MTS as at September 30, 1996, for the purposes of insertion into MTS’ prospectus and to establish the financial position of the New Plan both on a going concern and solvency basis.  (AD 407)
183. The report established on a going concern and solvency basis, using the market value of the plan’s assets, that there would be a surplus, meaning that the combined plan would be fully funded.  This report combined both the assets and liabilities of the CSSF and the pension reserve fund of MTS, including the assets and liabilities to meet COLA of 2/3 of CPI at 4% indefinitely.  (AD 407)
184. It also demonstrated that, as at September 30, 1996, the CSSF would have contributed approximately $32 million more in terms of assets than the pension reserve fund ($396.6 million - $364.8 million) (21841).  Consequently, MTS had a fairly good idea that there would be a surplus in the New Plan as at January 1, 1997.  (RV3, p. 25-28)
185. On October 30, 1996, at the request of MTS, Restall attended a meeting at Fraser’s office along with Fraser’s assistant, Heather Nault.  At that meeting, Restall reiterated the same issues concerning surplus, governance and funding.  Fraser did not voice any disagreement with the position that was being taken by the ERPC concerning initial and ongoing surplus.  (RV3, p. 30, l. 26-28)
186. In terms of governance, they spoke of the number of representatives on the governing body; that is, there would be an equal number of representatives from MTS and the plan members.  (RV3, p. 31, l. 1-21)
187. Fraser then initiated the topic of COLA and indicated that the New Plan would provide a guarantee of up to 2/3 of 4% as a maximum.  There was no discussion as to how it was going to be funded, how it was going to be administered, why it was being introduced, the cost of the guarantee and who was going to pay for it.  Nor was there any discussion as to the concept of 20 year pre-funding or the mechanics as to how the COLA account was going to operate.  In other words, there was no mention as to the motive behind MTS inserting a provision that was not contained in the CSSP.  (RV3, p. 32-34)
188. Neither was he advised by Fraser as to:

(a)
the Williams’ opinion on equivalency in value (AD 401);

(b)
when MTS planned to implement the new Plan;

(c)
the presentation to the MTS Board of Commissioners for approval of the plan text;

(d)
the tax benefits to be derived by MTS upon structuring the New Plan the way it was structured; or

(e)
the fact that the Towers Perrin projected a fully funded new plan (AD 407).  (RV3, p. 34-35)
189. Restall asked for but did not receive a copy of the plan text.  (RV3, p. 34)
190. Over the course of the summer and into late October, the government was receiving an increasing number of complaints and inquiries from plan members, particularly retirees, worried about their pension plan, as they had not received a copy of the plan text.  It was causing a great political problem because the pensioners and unions were exerting pressure with respect to their concerns.  (V5, p. 38-39, l. 1-6)
October 31, 1996

191. On October 31, 1996, the ERPC made a presentation before the legislature, specifically before the Standing Committee on Public Utilities and Natural Resources, for the purpose of outlining the concerns of the ERPC that had not been addressed by MTS to the satisfaction of the ERPC, and specifically focusing upon the areas of governance, surplus and funding.  (AD 409 & AD 410)
192. The presentation made at the legislature was an expression of the views that had been relayed to the government previously (AD 410).  (V5, p. 40, l. 33-34; p. 41, l. 1-15)
193. Praznik was present as the Deputy Government House Leader attempting to move Bill 67 through the legislature.  In terms of the presentation, as Deputy House Leader, Praznik put the concerns this way:

                                        . . .   And  from my  experience,

   22  having  been the Minister responsible  for the Civil  Service

   23  and  Civil Service  Superannuation Fund, every  one of  these

   24  issues  that was being raised,  in my view, was a legitimate

   25  issue  that had  to be  addressed if  this bill  was to move

   26  forward  and be able to provide  the -- what I understood  to

   27  be  the initial  starting point of  this equitable  transfer,

   28  the  status quo transfer.  And if they weren't addressed, we

   29  were  going  -- to  the satisfaction  of the  pensioners  and

   30  their  representatives, that  we were  going to  have a  very

   31  significant  problem with  this bill  in actually concluding

   32  and getting it through.  (V5, p. 42, l. 21-32)
November 1996

194. On November 1, 1996, a petition was presented to the legislature with approximately 1,525 signatures from plan members indicating in part that the “transfer amount” described in Bill 67, s. 15(1) (03831) as the surplus of assets over liabilities which are employee owned, must be used exclusively to provide benefits under the proposed New Plan and that there be a “mirror or look alike” plan.  (AD 415)
195. On or about November 1, 1996, after the meeting with Fraser, Restall sought the advise of Ellement, asking for an actuarial assessment with respect to the introduction of a minimum guarantee.  Ellement’s preliminary analysis indicated that the minimum guarantee would not kick in for at least 20 years.  [This 20 years is unrelated to the concept of 20 year pre-funding.]  (AD 423 & AD 424)
196. The surplus which had not yet been identified could well be used to increase the COLA above 2.67%.  Ellement did not really see the guarantee as a benefit, because it was not anything that had not been enjoyed under the Old Plan.  (RV3, p. 46-47)
197. On November 4, 1996, Restall wrote to Fraser to summarize their meeting of October 30, 1996, and to provide the ERPC’s position with respect to the minimum guarantee.  Based on the advice received from Ellement, although it seemed initially attractive, the ERPC observed that:
(a)
the proposal was a ceiling (or cap) fixed at 4%;

(b)
there may be funds available to meet more than 2.67% of COLA;

(c)
the guarantee would not be triggered for at least 20 years;

(d)
the actuaries should get together to develop a recommendation; and

(e)
the details of final agreement form part of the New Plan.
198. There was never any thought on the part of the ERPC that the surplus transferred to the New Plan would be used to purchase or pay for the minimum guarantee, nor was there any indication to that effect received from MTS.  (RV3, p. 50, l. 18-25)
199. There was no written response to the letter of November 4, 1996, from MTS, nor was there a meeting of the actuaries to work out the details of an agreement concerning the COLA prior to November 7, 1996.  (RV3, p. 47-48)
200. In terms of asking for the plan text, the ERPC was becoming increasingly frustrated and skeptical, musing that if the New Plan was as good as MTS was representing, then there was no reason why MTS should not provide the plan text for plan member review and participation.  (RV3, p. 49)
201. On November 4, 1996, Fraser wrote to Corp and indicated that the pension plan document will be submitted to the MTS Board of Commissioners on November 22 and, once it is approved by the Board, it will be made available to all interested parties.
202. On November 5, 1996, the plan text was approved by the Board of Commissioners (AD 431).  Neither the ERPC nor CEP was aware of that event having taken place.  (RV3, p. 51)
203. On November 7, 1996, MTS sent a copy of the plan text to Revenue Canada with a representation that it was a final document as far as MTS was concerned.  (AD 447)
204. Insofar as timing was concerned, MTS stated that the deadline for completing transactions with respect to the New Plan, was February 27, 1997, and June 27, 1997, for the asset transfer from the CSSF allowed by Revenue Canada.  (099020)
205. None of the information about the status of the plan or the timing of events set out in the letter was made known to the ERPC.  (RV3, p. 51-53)
November 6, 1996, Memorandum (AD 434)

206. On November 6, 1996, Fraser wrote to Findlay representing the following:
Potential Surplus of Contributions to the Civil Service Superannuation Fund 

Pensioners have expressed concerns that the anticipated surplus in employee contributions to the Civil Service Superannuation Fund (CSSF) may be used to finance MTS’ share of funding obligations. 

MTS has undertaken that any such surplus will not be used to reduce MTS’s cost or share of contributions to the new pension plan. This information was communicated by letter to Mr. Brian Meronek on October 22, 1996. 

Governance of the New Pension Plan 

Pensioners and union representatives have put forward concerns that they will not have adequate representation on the body governing the new pension plan. 

MTS is proposing that the composition of the governing body emulate the composition of the present Civil Service  Superannuation Board. That is, the governing body will be composed of a designated number of employee/pensioner representatives, and an equal number of employer representatives. In addition, the chairman of the governing body will be appointed by management. MTS is currently anticipating that there will be five employee/pensioner representatives, five management representatives, and a chairman designated by management.  [Emphasis added] (AD 434)
207. The memo goes on to state that the pension plan document is currently being developed and cannot be provided until MTS is fully satisfied that the plan meets all of the requirements of Bill 67 and is registerable under the PBSA and the ITA.
208. On November 6, 1996, the ERPC had no information as to what MTS had planned with emerging surplus.  (RV3, p. 57)
209. On November 6, 1996, Maggie Hadfield, on behalf of CEP, wrote to Findlay complaining about the fact that there has been no information forthcoming and that plan documents would not be ready until after November 22 (AD 435).

1.3
The November 7 Agreement
Noon hour meeting at the Legislature
210. Praznik testified that the privatization of the MTS pension plan was a major political issue for him and his colleagues in government.  It appeared to him that MTS had not addressed the valid issues that were raised and presented at committee on October 31, 1996.  The Premier asked him to intervene.  Praznik testified:
   34            And  around this time, the Premier, in my capacity
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    1  as  Deputy House Leader,  asked me to play  a role to try to

    2  broker-negotiate-facilitate  an  agreement with  the  pension

    3  unions  and  pensioners that  would satisfy  their  concerns,

    4  resulting  in necessary amendments to satisfy their  concerns

    5  that  would have --  allow the bill  then to proceed  without

    6  these being issues attached to the bill.  [V5 p. 44]
211. On November 7, 1996, Benson summoned Fraser to a meeting at the Legislature.  [V42 p. 55] Fraser, Pat Solman (“Solman”), Praznik, Eric Stefanson (“Stefanson”), Glenn Findlay, Benson and Richard Yaffe (“Yaffe”), a lawyer working for the government, were in attendance. [V42 p. 1] The November 6 memo outlined the contentious issues that had to be addressed and was, from Praznik’s perspective, the basis of the discussion at the meeting. [V5 p.45]  

212. One of the key concerns discussed was the concern that the initial surplus may be used to reduce MTS’ share of funding obligations. The protection of that money was a key issue. [V5 pp. 46-47]  Praznik testified that it was not the intention of his government in any way to use the initial surplus for the privatized MTS. [V5 p. 49] 

213. The understanding was that the words “any such surplus will not be used to reduce MTS’ costs or share of contributions to the new pension plan” meant that MTS (the new Company) would not use those dollars in any way to MTS’ benefit or to the benefit of the shareholders of the new Company.  No one at the meeting disagreed with that proposition and from Praznik’s perspective had there been disagreement, there would have been trouble passing the Bill in the legislature.  It had never been the intention of the government to allow the money of the pensioners to be utilized by the new Company (AD 434) [V5 pp. 46-49]

214. The representation of MTS that it would not use the initial surplus to reduce MTS’ cost or share of contributions to the New Plan meant that it would only be used to the benefit of the pensioners.  There was no discussion or connection between that representation and MTS having previously stated that the pension reserve fund would be transferred.  They were not connected. [V5 pp. 50-51]

215. Praznik says that it was also a major problem for his government that MTS had not shared the plan text with the unions/retirees. [V5 p. 58] He wondered how the pensioners could agree to anything without first having seen the plan text. [V5 p. 58]      

216. Exhibit 30 is a collection of agreed documents all relating to the events of November 7, 1996. The first page of handwritten notes is Bill Fraser’s, taken at the 12:30 meeting on November 7. 

217. Fraser testified that from his perspective it appeared that the government wanted to get closure on the outstanding pension issues in order to get the privatization bill through the house. At the meeting he was being pressed as to how he was going to resolve the outstanding issues. [V33 p. 72] 

218. Fraser says that the meeting was a “sort of an internal government discussion of the issues”. The intention was to meet with employee/retirees later, at five o'clock, and to put a memo of understanding before the parties as a basis for the call, then reach agreement and resolution. [V33 p. 75]
219. At the 12:30 meeting Fraser says he reiterated MTS’ position that because the company would be responsible for 100% of any unfunded liability risk, it could not give up control of any surplus based on actuarial assumptions, which assumptions he believed were going to change over time. 

220. There was a discussion about how to get past this impasse. Fraser says that he made the suggestion to use the provincial auditor as an independent objective third party to resolve the matter. [V33 p. 74]  Praznik says the idea to have the Provincial Auditor appoint an independent party to resolve the dispute may have been his idea. 

221. What to do with the “initial surplus” was also discussed. Fraser testified that what he and others were referring to as the “initial surplus” on November 7 was the excess above 50% of the liabilities that was coming over from the CSSF. [V34 p. 98] (see also V34 p. 20-21).  Later the “initial surplus” would be simplified by MTS to mean the difference between the employee contributions and the employer contributions on day one of the plan: $43.34M.
222. Fraser’s notes say “surplus into pot”. [Ex. 30] Praznik recalls that the main issue concerning the initial surplus was its protection: that it is used for the benefit of employee/retirees and not for the benefit of MTS.  As will be seen later, Fraser agreed that the goal was to use the initial surplus to provide a benefit to employees. [V34 pp. 109-110] The difference in position between the parties relates to whether the 20 year funding rule applies to the initial surplus and the structure, composition and interest rate of the COLA account.  

Benson Approached Restall

223. On November 7, 1996, Restall was at the Legislature to listen to presentations to the committee reviewing Bill 67. He was approached by Benson who showed him the November 6 memorandum from Fraser to Findlay: AD 434.  Benson asked Restall if the memo resolved his committee’s concerns. Restall said that it did not and then asked Benson if he had seen his November 4 letter AD 427. Restall got a copy of AD 427 and put it on Benson’s desk. He did not talk to him afterwards. Restall shared the Fraser Memo with the ERPC members that were at the Legislature. [RV4 p.54] 

224. Later, Stefanson and Praznik approached Restall indicating that they were aware that there was not agreement on issues relating to the pension plan. They wanted to create a document that would address those issues. [RV4 p. 63] Restall told Stefanson and Praznik about his group’s concerns. Praznik testified that his mandate was to facilitate reaching an agreement where the outstanding issues could be resolved. [V5 p.61] Fraser indicates that the discussions he had with the government the evening of November 7 were between him and Praznik; he does not recall speaking to Stefanson or anyone else from the government. [V34 p. 102]
225. There was a meeting scheduled for 5:00 pm (which may have started later) in the office of the clerk of the Legislature: Binx Remnant, Stefanson and Praznik were at the legislature with the representatives of the union/retirees (Restall, Trach et al); Fraser was available by phone. 

226. There were a series of phone calls between Restall and Fraser. At MTS (it may have been before or after the first telephone discussion between Restall and Fraser), Solman prepared the first draft of the November 7 Agreement. [Exhibit 30] [V42 p. 74]   

227. A draft of a memo of understanding was then sent to the Legislature from Fraser’s office.  [RV4 pp. 65-66] 

228. At the time of these discussions Restall and his group had not seen the pension plan text and were therefore unaware of the governance structure being proposed, and the provisions which gave MTS full control of future plan surplus. Restall made Praznik, Stefanson and Fraser aware that there would be no final agreement on pension matters without having access to a copy of the plan text. [RV4 p. 65] 

229. The first draft is page 25677 of Exhibit 30. Restall and his committee reviewed the document and made recommendations. Negotiations ensued.    

230. The first draft, and all subsequent iterations, deals with the following 5 areas:  

1.
Composition of the Pension Committee;  

2.
Review process for the transfer of assets from the CSSF;  

3.
COLA guarantee and use of the initial surplus;  

4.
Employee input into the drafting of the pension plan; 

5.
Resolution of disputes relating to the agreement.
Pension Committee

231. The parties were never far apart with respect to the composition of the Pension Committee. The main concern of the ERPC was to have a highly qualified and experienced independent third party Chairperson since the Chairperson would have the deciding vote if there was no consensus between MTS representatives and the employee/retiree representatives. 

232. On November 7, agreement was reached that the Chairperson of the Committee would be a highly qualified independent third party. 

233. Restall was not aware as at November 7, 1996, that MTS was proposing that the Board of Directors of MTS would have the role and authority under the governance document [AD 452] to amend, terminate, merge or consolidate the plan with a new or existing pension plan; transfer assets of the plan to any other pension plan; approve amendments to the plan document; and to have the final say with respect to the application of employee surplus.

234. He was similarly not made aware of the delineated roles and responsibilities ascribed to the administrator and the pension committee in the draft governance document.  [RV4 p.80]
235. Had Restall known about the roles and responsibilities being allocated to the Pension Committee under the new plan he would not have signed the November 7 Agreement. [RV4 p. 80]
236. Restall and Trach expected that the Pension Committee referred to in the November 7 Agreement would play the same role and have the same influence as the Liaison Committee in the Old Plan. The November 6 memo (AD 434) stated that the Pension Committee would be the “governing body”. It was a representation or commitment relied upon by the ERPC. Restall was not advised during the negotiations otherwise.  [RV4 pp. 68-69] 
237. In terms of governance, Restall testified that the “governing body” meant:

   24    Q   Now, what did you take governing body to mean?

   25    A   What it says, the body of the governance.  To me

   26  it, it indicates that there is authority, some level of

   27  authority, some level of control.  Some level of, of control

   28  in the -- in making changes or other -- anything else that,

   29  that, that has a, a major effect on the, on the operation of

   30  the plan such as utilization of surplus, change in benefits.

   31  Actually, a mirror image of, of what was in the liaison

   32  committee and how it operated with the civil service plan.  [RV4 p. 57]
238. Fraser did not advise Praznik that the pension committee would not be the governing body, or that the MTS Board would be the governing body.  [V5 p. 79] 

239. Praznik understood that a fundamental piece in equivalency was that the plan was to be governed jointly within a similar structure to the civil service plan. [V5 p. 54] Praznik understood equivalency of benefits to include governance of the plan so as to ensure that when benefits were paid out they were in fact equivalent to what they would have been had their been no privatization.  

240. Praznik testified that governance was to be by consensus like the CSSF. There were generally discussions about MTS’ concern that it would be responsible for unfunded liabilities so it needed ultimate authority. He responded as follows: 

   15       Q      Do  you   accept,   sir,   that   it  just   makes   common

   16  sense   that   if   one  side   is   responsible    for   funding   any

   17  unfunded   liabilities    that  they  should  have   the ultimate   say

   18  on decisions that would affect funding issues?

   19       A      But,  sir,   that,  in  fact,  is  what  they   would  have

   20  had  under  the  pensioner   governance    committee   because   at the

   21  end  of   the  day  it   would  only   operate   if  it   was  able   to

   22  decide   something   and   the  required   MTS  appointed    the  chair

   23  and  it  also  appointed   four  of  those   -- of  the  eight,   as  we

   24  decided,    eight   representatives.        So,   in   essence,    they

   25  couldn't   have  acted,   decisions   couldn't   have  been  made  that

   26  would    have   created     greater    liabilities     or   additional

   27  liabilities for MTS under that governance structure.  So the

   28  protection would have been there, yes. [V6 p. 61]
Actuarial review of transfer amount
241. The second matter of negotiation on November 7 was with respect to the actuarial review of the transfer of assets from the CSSF to the new plan. This was a process issue, i.e. what happens if the actuaries do not agree on the appropriate transfer amount? It was agreed that the matter would be referred to an actuary appointed by the Provincial Auditor if the transfer amount or the initial actuarial report were not agreed to by the Pension Committee. 

COLA Guarantee and the Initial Surplus

242. Paragraph three of the November 7 Agreement deals with the COLA guarantee and the use of the initial surplus.   The parties are at odds as to what was agreed the night of November 7, 1996. 

243. There are four sentences in paragraph three. The first sentence is that MTS will provide a minimum cost of living adjustment of 2/3 of CPI to a maximum CPI of 4%. 

244. The provision of this guaranteed indexing up to a cap was not something that the employees sought from MTS. [V34 p. 89-90] The guarantee was not part of a negotiation process in the sense of offers and acceptances. [Exhibit 61 - Plaintiffs’ Read-Ins Tab 8]  It was put in the plan by MTS because the company believed that it was an existing obligation established under the CSSA by virtue of consistent past COLA awards. MTS believed that, if the guarantee was not in the plan, OSFI would have required it in any event. [V42   pp. 89-90] [Exhibit 61 - Plaintiffs’ Read-Ins Tab 6]  

   19        Q     Now   would   you  agree    that   it  was   a  reasonable

   20  expectation that COLA awards would be at least two-thirds of

   21  inflation?

   22        A     I  would   say  that   there,   yes,   I  would   say  that

   23  there  was  a  reasonable   expectation    that  there  would  be  cost

   24  of living increases given.

   25        Q     And --

   26              THE COURT:  At least two-thirds of inflation?

   27              THE WITNESS:  Yeah.

   28  

   29  BY MR. SAXBERG   :

   30        Q     And  because   COLA  had  consistently    been  awarded   as

   31  we're   seeing   in  this,  in  this   document,   at  least   at  two-

   32  thirds   of  inflation    from   1987  on,   because   that   had  been

   33  consistently    awarded,   MTS's  view  was  that  that  could   create

   34  an  existing   obligation   that  it  was  required   to duplicate    in
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    1  the new plan.

    2        A     Yes,   that's    a  fair    statement.      That    was   an

    3  assertion we made, yeah.

    4        Q     And  MTS's   view  was  if  it  wasn't   included   in  the

    5  plan   text,   OSFI  would   probably    require   the  plan   text   be

    6  amended to include it.

    7        A     We believed that to be true, yes. [V42   pp. 89-90]
245. Restall and Trach understood that the guarantee was to be funded by MTS. Restall, Trach and Praznik all understood that the guarantee was not to be paid for by the initial surplus.  On this point, Praznik testified under cross examination as follows:

   24       Q      I'm asking whether you had any understanding as to

   25  how  they   were  going   to  fulfill   that   commitment,    how  were

   26  they going to fund it?

   27       A      Yes,  the  only   understanding    --  not  the  detail   of

   28  how   they  would    do  it  from   their   own   resources,    but   my

   29  understanding    that   that   would   not  be  done   by  taking   the

   30  employee   surplus    that  was   being  transferred    by   the  Civil

   31  Service -- from the Civil Service Superannuation Fund.

   32       Q      Yeah.    And  did   you  have  any  understanding     as  to

   33  how it would be done, not how it would not be done --

   34       A      No, sir.
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    1       Q      -- how it would be done?

    2       A      I,  I  --  no,  sir,  I  did  not  know  how  it  would   be

    3  done but I know how it was not to be done. [V6 p. 57-58]
246. The second sentence in paragraph 3 reads: 

However, if the cost of living adjustment account in any particular year is able to fund a higher increase, then a higher increase would be given that year.
247. Like the guarantee, this sentence was in MTS’ first draft. Fraser testified that the provision is subject to the account satisfying a 20 year funding test. Solman wrote this draft, but could not explain why there is no mention of a 20 year pre-funding test.  
248. The third sentence deals with the use of the initial surplus. It reads as follows: 

Any initial surplus from the CSSF would be allocated to the new pension plan trust fund to fund future costs of living adjustments.
249. At the time that the November 7 agreement was being negotiated the “initial surplus” was understood by all parties to mean the surplus portion of the transfer amount coming over from the CSSF. In other words, the amount of assets in excess of 50% of the liabilities in the old plan. [Fraser V34 p. 98]
250. There was a discussion about the initial surplus and what was going to happen to it.  The ERPC originally suggested that the surplus be placed in a separate account.  Restall wanted to make sure that it was safe and protected in a separate account where it could be monitored and tracked. Restall testified that Fraser told him that the initial surplus could not be in a separate account.  The discussion ensured putting the initial surplus into the COLA account for safekeeping. Restall and Trach intended that the initial surplus would be available to “top up” the minimum cost of living adjustment of 2/3 of CPI with a maximum CPI of 4%, or to pay for other benefit improvements.  

251. In the Old Plan some surplus had been placed in the SAA.  It was always used for indexing; it was never used for anything other than for the benefit of plan members. It was never used to reduce the employer’s funding obligations. Restall’s thinking at the time was that if the surplus cannot be placed in a separate account then it should go into the COLA account to be protected for the employees’ exclusive benefit. [RV4 p. 67]
252. All of the witnesses present on November 7 agreed that there was no discussion about the logistics of how the COLA account would operate. [V5 p. 79-80] There was no discussion about what interest rate would be applied to the account or what assets, other than the initial surplus, would be credited to the account. The concept that the account would be a notional account was not even discussed. [V34 pp. 96-97] 

253. Most importantly, all of the witnesses involved that night, including Fraser, confirmed that the 20 year pre-funding concept was not discussed or mentioned as a restriction on the use of the initial surplus in topping up COLA awards above the minimum COLA guarantee. [Fraser V34 p. 95]   

254. Restall assumed the account would work the same as in the Old Plan but he saw the initial surplus as being a separate matter where the parties were agreeing that it could not be used to reduce MTS’ costs; it was for the benefit of plan members. The ERPC relied on MTS’ representations that the initial surplus would not be used to reduce its “cost or share of contributions to the plan”.   

255. Restall understood that what was agreed to that night was that the initial surplus would be placed in the indexing account where it could be tracked and accounted for and would be used to pay for new benefits above the guarantee - new benefits in the form of an indexing benefit that would not have been achieved otherwise or other types of benefit improvements. [RV4 p. 71] Trach had the same understanding. 
256. Praznik says that the principle behind the agreement was that the employees’ initial surplus would be protected for the benefit of employees and that it could not be used to reduce or defray MTS cost or share of contributions to the plan.  Praznik says there was no discussion that use of the MTS initial surplus by MTS was the trade off for the 2/3 up to 4 percent guarantee.  [V6, p. 58]  

257. The fourth and final sentence reads: 

In subsequent years the financial position of the COLA account will be reviewed by the plans actuary, if sufficient additional assets exist in the account beyond those required for the stated COLA increase for a particular year then pension benefits may be increased provided that the liability of the pension plan in total does not increase due to the change in benefits.

258. In the CSSA, a benefit improvement did not automatically increase the liabilities of the employer. The reason was that, on several occasions, the liaison committee agreed to pay the full cost of the new benefit out of employee surplus in the CSSF. 

259. Restall understood the final sentence to mean that, if there were additional funds over and above that committed for pension adjustments, any change that was negotiated involving this excess would not be a change that would automatically or unilaterally increase the cost to MTS without the Company’s agreement. [RV4 p.71] 
260. Fraser testified that the last sentence meant that there could not be a benefit improvement from assets out of the COLA account if the improvement would result in a greater deficit for MTS. [V34 p. 98-99]
Employee input into the drafting of the pension plan

261. Fraser was initially reluctant to provide the ERPC with a copy of the plan text.  However, as discussions carried on, he relented.

262. Paragraph 4 of the November 7 Agreement states that the plan text will be available on November 11 and that the ERPC will have until November 25 to submit requests for amendments. Restall does not know why a deadline of November 25 was imposed. He understood the agreement to be that recommendations would come from his committee and then there would be negotiations which would resolve any issues before the plan was sent to Ottawa for registration. Based on his discussions with Fraser, Restall “came away” with “the feeling” that would be the process. Otherwise, he asked rhetorically: what is the point of the exercise, if the concerns can simply be discarded? [RV4 p. 73]

Resolution of disputes relating to the agreement

263. Paragraph 5 of the Agreement indicates that disputes with respect to the agreement would be referred to the actuary appointed by the Provincial Auditor. Bill 67 contained a provision calling for a review by an independent actuary at the time the November 7 agreement was reached. 

264. All of the parties to the November 7 Agreement felt that there had been a full and final resolution of the matters negotiated and agreed to that night.  At around 10:00 pm that evening, the Minister for MTS announced the Agreement to the committee reviewing Bill 67. The Minister thanked Mr. Fraser, the union representatives and Ministers Stefanson and Praznik for their “eleventh hour” efforts to “bring this to a conclusion which I am sure fulfills everybody’s hopes for a better agreement than maybe existed when the negotiations started.” [AD 446 p. 15833] The Agreement was then read into the Hansard record. 
1.4
Two Amendments to Bill 67

265. On November 8, 1996, two important amendments were made to Bill 67.  The first, added the Independent Actuary Provisions, a shoulder check to ensure that equivalency was achieved.  The second amendment added the provision stating that the equivalence determination could not impede or interfere with the effect of the November 7 Agreement.  
266. These amendments were made to satisfy the ERPC’s concerns with respect to surplus, governance and funding and are stated as follows:

Independent actuary to review plan
15(2.1)
As soon as possible after this Act receives royal assent, the Provincial Auditor shall appoint an independent actuary to review the plan proposed by the corporation for the purposes of clause (2)(a) to determine whether the benefits under the proposed plan are equivalent in value as required by that clause.

Concerns of independent actuary to be addressed
15(2.2)
The corporation shall take any steps necessary to resolve any concerns raised by the independent actuary in a report prepare for the purposes of subsection (2.1).
. . . 

Effect of agreement
15(8.1)
Nothing in this section is to be interpreted as nullifying the effect of the agreement, or any part thereof, executed on November 7, 1996 by representatives of The Manitoba Telephone System and of the employees, and by the Minister and one other representative on behalf f government, on the subject of pension issues.  (AD 453) (15847-15848) (15850-15852)

267. At committee, the Minister responsible for MTS (Glen Findlay) commented on how and why the independent actuary provisions were introduced: 

We certainly took leadership in terms of trying to be sure the company aggressively negotiated, dealt with the different representatives to try to bring some of the issues to a conclusion. I do know that letters have been exchanged between the president or representatives of MTS and the different union representatives. 

Having those letters, we met over noon hour to try to draft an addition or an amendment here that would, we hope, cross the bridge here in terms of giving greater comfort around the intent of equivalency, what equivalency would turn out to be.   We are prepared when we get to that section to have that amendment brought in. It is currently being drafted…  [AD 446 p. 15816]  (Emphasis added)

268. 
Other statements in the House addressing these amendments include:

Mr. Ashton:

. . . 

. . . We are dealing here with the pensions of existing pensioners and close to 4,000 current employees, approximately 5,500 to 5,600 Manitobans.  To put it in perspective, the value of the pensions is in the several-hundred-million-dollar mark - 350 - depends on who calculated it.

. . . 

. . . Why I am pleased with these recent amendments is I think there has been evidence of good faith in doing exactly that.

. . . 

. . . but I think when it comes to ensuring employees’ pensions, that is one thing everybody agrees on.  I am pleased with the series of amendments that we are dealing with which is evidence of the progress that has been made, even in the last 24 hours. . . . The process I think really came together yesterday, both the employee groups and pension groups being involved, the minister, our involvement, and theirs.  There have been two significant events.  Last night there was the signing of the memorandum of understanding which I think was a very . . .   (15848)

269. The amendments were significant because the government wanted to ensure that the agreement reached (AD 440) gave the plan members the guarantees intended and wanted to give it the force of law, so that whatever was in the plan text and whatever MTS had been previously incorporated into the text would be overridden by that agreement.

   13        Q   And,  and could  you  indicate to the  court, from

   14  your perspective, why these amendments were being made?

   15        A   Yes.   As  the Deputy Government  House Leader who

   16  was   present  in  that  capacity   and  part  of  the,   the

   17  proceedings,  my,  my  recollection very  much  was  that we

   18  wanted  to ensure that  the agreement we  reached on the  7th

   19  gave  the pensioners  the guarantees that we  intended it to

   20  be.   We wanted to  give it the force of  law.  We wanted  to

   21  incorporate  it in the statute so it would have the force of

   22  the  Legislature behind it.   And whatever  was in the  plan,

   23  the   document, whatever  MTS   had been  planning  for   its

   24  pension  plan, would be overridden  by that agreement.  This

   25  agreement  was to be the law of the Province of Manitoba and

   26  have  the  force of  the  law, and  that  was our  intent  in

   27  putting  it into the particular  document.  And that  covered

   28  the  broader issue  or the  broad sense of  equivalency.  We

   29  wanted  to make sure  that status quo  equivalency of moving

   30  the  plan from the Civil Service Superannuation Fund over  to

   31  the  new company was  on an equivalent  basis, and I  believe

   32  my   colleague,   Mr.   Findlay,   who   was   the  Minister

   33  responsible,  spoke,  spoke to  that  into  the House  and  I

   34  certainly  -- we were -- I  was in concurrence with his,  his
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    1  comments on it. [V5 pp. 78-79]
270. On November 8, 1996, a draft of the pension plan was prepared by MTS.  For all intents and purposes, it was the same draft as earlier drafts (AD 355, AD 356 and AD 387) which could have been provided much earlier to the ERPC (AD 450).
271. On November 8, 1996, Buck Consultants prepared a draft governance document which was not known or provided to the ERPC for review (AD 452).  (RV4, p. 77-78)
272. Nor was the ERPC made aware that the governance of the plan, according to the document, resided with the Board of MTS and that the role of the Pension Committee under Section 4.3 of the governance document (16196) was essentially a replication of the minimum standards provided under the PBSA.  Had the ERPC known about the contents of this document, they would not have signed the November 7 Agreement (AD 452).  (RV4, p. 80)
273. On November 11, 1996, the ERPC received a copy of the plan text from MTS (AD 450).
274. On November 12, 1996, senior MTS officials by resolution proposed that the draft plan, which it had just provided to the ERPC for review, be approved by the MTS Board of Commissioners, indicating that the draft was a final version of the pension plan document and was essentially the same as the draft version previously reviewed by the Board with only a few minor revisions.  The resolution further indicated to the MTS Board that there were no anticipated substantive changes required (AD 459).
275. MTS did not advise the plan members of this parallel process being conducted by MTS at the same time or that an actuarial valuation report on the New Plan would be available February 3, 1997 (AD 459).  (RV4, p. 82-83)
276. On November 13, 1996, (AD 462) in a memo from Ellement to the ERPC, the initial observation was made that:

There are a number of places in this version of the draft plan text that introduce discretionary control over benefits and funding to the company that did not exist before.  (08719, Item 1)
277. They included discretion over the use of surplus in Section 5 (Item 7) (08720) of the plan, the funding of the COLA guarantee under Section 15 (Item 18) (08721), the future use of ongoing surplus at the discretion of the company (Item 19) (08721), the future use of surplus on a wind-up basis (Item 23) (08722) and the duties and responsibilities of the Pension Committee (Item 24) (08722).  (RV5, p. 6-7)
278. The matters addressed in this memo (AD 462) were issues which the ERPC would have wanted to know about prior to signing the Memorandum of Agreement (AD 440) as Restall stated:
   23       Q      Were   these   matters    that   are   set   out   in  this

   24  particular memorandum were those matters that you would have

   25  wanted to know about on November 7, 1997?

   26       A      Absolutely, yes.

   27       Q      And why is that?

   28       A      These,   these  are  matters   that   we  certainly   would

   29  have, would have brought up in the negotiations of, of            -- in

   30  forming   the  memorandum   of  agreement.    These   are  all  usually

   31  important issues to plan members, and at that time of course

   32  we  did  not  have   the  plan  text,   we  had  no  idea   that,  that

   33  these sections would be in the plan text in that way.  (RV5, p. 7, l. 23-33)
279. On November 19, 1996, there was an amendment to The Civil Service Superannuation Act, The Public Servants Insurance Amendment Act and The Teachers’ Pensions Amendment Act, c. 55, which sets out the following in Part 2 under The Public Servants Insurance Amendment Act (AD 474) (03955).

Transfer of surplus

12.1(1)
Where in the opinion of the actuary a surplus exists in the fund, an amount may be paid out of the surplus to the government or a government agency, calculated in relation to the proportion that the number of their employees who are members of the fund bears to the total membership of the fund, if:

(a)
in the case of employees who are represented by a recognized bargaining agent, an agreement to so use the surplus has been made between the recognized bargaining agent and the government or government agency; and

(b)
in the case of employees who are not represented by a recognized bargaining agent, such use of the surplus has been approved by the government or the government agency.

Minister of Finance to receive amounts

12.1(2)
Amounts authorized to be paid under subsection (1) shall be paid to the Minister of Finance who shall pay them to the government or the affected government agency.
280. On November 19, 1996, the ERPC wrote to MTS reiterating the concerns that had been extant from the inception of the notion of privatization; that being governance, funding, surplus, initial and ongoing, and the ability to be able to come to an agreement on the terms of the plan before it is presented to OSFI for registration (AD 472).

281. From the ERPC perspective, the intention was that the review process would allow for the identification of concerns in a timely fashion in order to properly and thoroughly assess them and have them resolved.  (RV5, p. 10-11)
282. On November 21, 1996, there was a meeting held between representatives of MTS and the ERPC wherein it was agreed that wording would be crafted towards a workable resolution to the sharing of ongoing surplus (AD 493) (03398).
283. On November 22, 1996, the Board of Commissioners of MTS passed a resolution approving the November 8, 1996 pension plan for registration and delegating to senior MTS officers the ability to make changes which were not substantially different from the plan text (AD 478 & AD 479).

284. Again, the ERPC was not made aware that the plan text which they were reviewing and proposing amendments to had already been adopted by the Board of MTS.  RV5, p. 12-13)
285. On November 25, 1996, formal changes were presented to MTS by way of a memorandum from Ellement to Williams (AD 485).  These requests for changes were essentially in three categories:
(a)
technical wording changes to correspond with the requisite legislation;

(b)
substantive wording changes to correspond with the requisite legislation;

(c)
substantive changes dealing with the issues of governance, funding and surplus (Items 1, 5, 7, 8, 17, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25 and 26).

286. On November 25, 1996, CEP through Corp also sent a request for changes (AD 490).
287. On November 26, 1996, Restall, on behalf of the ERPC, wrote to MTS and confirmed his understanding that the New Plan would not be registered until there was agreement on the wording of the plan text (AD 496).  (RV5, p. 18, l. 1-10)
288. On November 27, 1996, Pat Solman (“Solman”) wrote back and indicated that MTS was committed to working with the ERPC to resolve any concerns with respect to the new pension plan, but that it would register the plan notwithstanding (AD 503).  To the ERPC, this stance was inconsistent with resolving issues before the plan was registered.  (RV5, p. 19)
289. On or about November 28, 1996, Restall wrote to Solman reiterating the understanding with the Ministers as reached in discussions prior to and on November 7, 1996, that the ERPC’s substantive concerns would be addressed and reflected in the plan text and pointing out the fact that there was plenty of time to register the text; that it was inconsistent that MTS would register a plan without consensus and in any event by December 6, a mere three weeks after ERPC receipt of the initial plan text (AD 507).  (RV5, p. 20-21)
290. On November 25, 1996, Corp confirmed with Ellement that they were both in agreement with respect to the concerns raised by CEP and the ERPC respectively (AD 489).

291. On December 2, 1996, Williams wrote to Brenda McInnes of MTS (“McInnes”), setting out proposed wording to resolve the issue of ongoing surplus and essentially indicating that up to 50% of an excess actuarial surplus above a certain threshold would be available for benefit improvements.  This letter was not shared with the ERPC (AD 541).

292. On that same day, Solman wrote to the ERPC and to CEP setting out the final position of MTS.  MTS’ position with respect to plan governance had not changed nor had its position with respect to the use of ongoing surplus, save and except for the fact that MTS removed the discretion to refund to itself any of the ongoing surplus (which was not a concession because it was acknowledged that legislatively MTS could not remove surplus unilaterally in any event (AD 542) (04516)).  All other amendments were either technical, semantical wording changes, or specific requirements of the legislation.
293. In addition, it was the first time that the ERPC was made aware of a separate plan governance document.
294. On December 3, 1996, a draft of the governance document, prepared on or before November 29, 1996 (AD 514), was submitted to the ERPC and CEP (AD 544).

295. The governance document did not provide the same level of employee / retiree participation as under the CSSP Plan.  Restall recited the difference as follows:

        . . . It's     -- it  weakens the governance that we had

   15  in  the  indexing   --  in  the   superannuation    fund.    Regarding

   16  the  use   of  actuarial    surplus   it  states   that   the   pension

   17  committee    is  to   make   recommendations,     but   look   at  what

   18  happened   in  the   liaison   committee   in  the   event  of,   of  an

   19  actuarial   surplus,    and  you  see  that  the   members  of  the   --

   20  and  the  sub-committee,    or  the  liaison   committee   negotiated

   21  the   use   of  surplus.      Didn't   --   they,   they   would   make

   22  representations    to  the  government    committee   that  they  dealt

   23  with, and negotiations would begin, and would continue until

   24  agreement was reached by those two bodies.

   25              In this governance document it says that, that the

   26  pension   committee   would  make  a  recommendation,    but  does  not

   27  cover   what   would    happen   if   the   recommendation     was  not

   28  approve d.  It   -- to me it took away the level of governments

   29  we had in the old plan.  (RV5, p. 26, l. 14-29)
296. On December 3, 1996, a revised draft plan text was provided by MTS to the ERPC and to CEP (AD 552).

297. On December 6, 1996, there was a meeting between Ellement and Williams to discuss, among other things, Ellement’s concerns about the sections in the plan text dealing with the pension benefit adjustment account (“PBAA” or “COLA account”) and how that account was to be funded.  Ellement reported to the ERPC that Williams had undertaken to get back to him with respect to that particular issue (AD 558) (AD 560) (07978, item 1).
298. On December 10, 1996, Ellement and Corp agreed to pursue resolving the issues of surplus and governance by introducing a formula for surplus which would provide for a proportionate share of ongoing surplus based on the relative contributions to the surplus made by employees and by MTS; and, by introducing a two-thirds majority vote of the Pension Committee before any changes could be made with respect to the use of surplus (AD 562 & AD 563).

299. In that correspondence, there was no mention specifically as to how the COLA account would be funded because Ellement was waiting for a specific response back from Williams.
300. The suggested change to the voting requirements of the Pension Committee was prompted in order to replicate the CSSP in the sense that there could be no changes to the plan text without a consensus and with respect to ongoing surplus, the formula could not be changed by one side without the approbation of the other side.  (RV5, p. 29-30)
301. CEP, through Corp, concurred with the recommended changes of the ERPC on December 13, 1996 (AD 580).

302. On December 20, 1996, Solman reiterated MTS’ position with respect to surplus and governance.  MTS was consistent in its refusal to make any change from its initial position of maintaining full discretion with respect to the use of surplus and full governance over the plan.  She did not mention or specifically respond to Ellement’s concerns with respect to how the COLA account would be funded (AD 628).
303. The position advanced by Solman (AD 628) (03411) as to differences in funding arrangements between the Old Plan and the New Plan was irrelevant.  Whatever funding obligations MTS had under the new legislation was not a concern of the plan members.  (RV5, p. 32)
304. As well, comparing MTS as a plan in relation to other private sector plans was irrelevant to the task at hand from the ERPC perspective (AD 628) (03411).  (RV6, p. 32-33)
305. On December 23, 1996, the ERPC made one further attempt to deal with the issues of surplus and governance, (AD 637), as did CEP on December 30, 1996 (AD 645), but to no avail.

306. The final pension plan document, which was never agreed upon by the plan members, is dated January 3, 1997, with an effective date of January 1, 1997 (AD 711).
307. The companion document, the governance document, was never agreed upon; was never changed from its initial draft of December 2, 1996; and, was never filed with OSFI (AD 712).  (RV5, p. 34-35)
1.5
Independent actuary process
1.5.1
Provincial Auditor Involvement

308. Singleton became the Manitoba Provincial Auditor in July 1996 [V38 p. 60]. In November 1996 Singleton was aware from Benson that some of the MTS retirees were concerned about whether the new MTS plan would be equivalent to the benefits provided through the CSSA; and that the parties could not resolve the issue themselves. [V39 p. 2 and pp. 5-6]  Benson contacted him and asked whether it would be appropriate to put a clause in the Re-Organization Act asking the Provincial Auditor to hire an independent actuary to express a view on the issue of equivalency. [V39 pp. 1-2]    

309. The Assistant Provincial Auditor, Warren Johnson (“Johnson”), testified that he was uncomfortable with the Provincial Auditor’s Office taking on the assignment of resolving a labour/management dispute relating to pensions. 

    8        Q   And  what, if  any, reaction  did you  have to  the

    9  news  that the provincial auditor's office would be  involved

   10  with the privatization of MTS?

   11        A   Well,  I  was,  I  was  quite  surprised.    I was

   12  puzzled  by  why  they  would ask  the  provincial  auditor's

   13  office  to  get involved  because I,  I was aware,  I guess,

   14  just  from media, that there  was some issues between labour

   15  and  management,  and I  thought those  types of  issues are

   16  better   resolved  through   some  kind   of  consensual  or

   17  arbitrary  --  arbitration  process, negotiation,  what not,

   18  rather  than  some third  party  coming along  and  declaring

   19  this  as, this is the appropriate position…[V23 pp. 3-4] 
310. Johnson was also concerned because the Provincial Auditor’s Office did not have the experience or background in resolving these matters. He was concerned there could be legal implications. He testified that the assignment was unusual for the Provincial Auditor’s Office. [V23 pp. 3-4]  He raised these concerns with Singleton. Singleton did not share the concerns. He was confident moving forward since he believed that the question only related to the financial aspects of benefits, the monthly payments that are issued. [V23 p. 4]  Singleton told Johnson that he would “look after things” and play the “lead role”. [V23 pp. 3-4]  

311. Johnson (the Assistant Provincial Auditor) and Tom Paterson (an Audit Principal in the Provincial Auditor’s Office) (“Paterson”) testified that MTS representatives attended a meeting at the Provincial Auditor’s office prior to the Independent Actuary being selected. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the Provincial Auditor’s assignment. MTS indicated there was an urgency to get the project completed because there was a timing consideration associated with registering the pension plan. [Johnson V23 pp. 4-5] [Paterson V24 p. 4]  

Appointment of the Independent Actuary

312. Section 15(3) of the Re-Organization Act says that the “Provincial Auditor shall appoint an independent actuary to review the plan… to determine whether the benefits under the proposed plan are equivalent in value…”  

313. The Provincial Auditor’s Office decided not to tender out the assignment of independent actuary. Paterson did not do any due diligence with respect to the appointment of Fox as the independent actuary. He had never worked with Fox in the past and he did not consult with anyone in the office who had, about the appointment. [Paterson V24 pp. 6-7]   

314. Singleton and Johnson testified that because of the urgency, timing wise of the assignment, no actuaries other than Fox were considered for the job. There was an existing contract with Aon Consulting and so, as a matter of expediency, it was determined that Fox would be the independent actuary. [Johnson V23 p. 5]  [Singleton V38 p. 73-75]   Singleton had never worked with Fox.  He does not recall doing any reference checks in terms of due diligence to find out Fox’s reputation or capabilities.[V38 p. 75] He was not aware of what work, if any, Fox had done for the Provincial Auditor’s Office. He does not recall asking anyone at the Provincial Auditor’s Office about Fox or about the work he had done for others in the office. 

Expertise

315. Fox testified that prior to 1997 he had very limited involvement with government pension plans. [V18 p. 13]   He had no direct experience with the CSSA. [V16 p. 7]

316. Most importantly, with respect to this assignment, Fox testified that he did not feel confident or comfortable deciding points related to issues of ownership of surplus. [V18 pp. 15-16] He said he was not an expert, as he viewed that as a legal issue. On this point Fox testified:  

        THE  COURT:    I  want  to  make  sure,  Mr.  Fox,   that  I

   17  have  your  answer.     You're  saying   --  or  is your   answer  that

   18  at the outset you weren't confident that you had the ability

   19  to deal with issues of ownership of surplus?

   20              THE  WITNESS:    The  rights   to  ownership   of surplus,

   21  Your Honour.

   22              THE  COURT:    Issue   of the  right   of  ownership   --  a

   23  right to ownership of surplus?

   24              THE WITNESS:  Correct.

   25              THE COURT:  Okay.

   26  

   27  BY MR. SAXBERG   :

   28       Q      Now,   why   is   that?      Was   it   because   of   your

   29  experience?

   30       A      Well, not, not really my experience.  I could have

   31  views  but  I,  I didn't   think  that  rights   were  necessarily    my

   32  -- they weren't my expertise.

   33       Q      Okay,    you   didn't    believe    that    that   was    an

   34  actuarial matter?
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    1       A      Correct.

    2       Q      And you saw that as a legal issue?

    3       A      I did. [V18 pp. 16-17]
317. Regarding the interpretation of the phrase “benefits which on the implementation date are equivalent in value”, Fox stated that “equivalent in value” was not a common actuarial term. He believed it could mean a lot of things. [V18 p. 17]   
November 28 meeting and Fox Retainer

318. Fox met with Singleton, Johnson and Paterson on November 28, 1996. 

319. AD 505 are Paterson’s notes of the meeting. The first notation is that Fox confirmed that he is satisfied with the contract agreement signed September 1994: AD 203. 

320. Paterson and Johnson testified that the terms of Fox’s retainer for his selection as Independent Actuary were set out in the existing contract between Alexander Consulting and the Provincial Auditor’s office: AD 203.  [Johnson V23 p. 7]  [Paterson V24 p. 7]
321. Singleton equivocated somewhat as to Fox’s hourly rate for the independent actuary engagement. Initially he said Fox was retained because there was already an agreement in place and he wanted Fox to do the assignment at the same rate. He then said that he had a recollection (which he admitted may be false) of a more current document with updated rates. [V38 p. 76] But Singleton’s discovery evidence was unequivocal; the hourly rate applicable was the hourly rate set out in the existing contract: $125.00 per hour. [V38 p. 77 and pp. 79-80]   

322. Fox testified that the contract at AD 203 was the applicable contract for his assignment, except with respect to the hourly rate. [V16 p. 61]
323. Fox said that he did not believe that his retainer was constrained by the $125.00 rate in the existing agreement. He said he did not apply the $125.00 rate in this particular case. [V16 p 48]   

324. Fox testified that he did not discuss with the Provincial Auditor changing his hourly rate on this assignment from the $125.00 per hour in the existing contract [AD 203] to $250.00 per hour. [V18 p. 3]  

325. Fox was then shown his earlier sworn evidence at discovery. There he said that his regular hourly rate on other assignments was $250.00 per hour so he doubled his time on the independent actuary assignment to compensate for loss in fees.[V19 pp. 58-59]   

326. Fox gave other contradictory and inexplicable explanations as to why he doubled his hours throughout his testimony. He said he was not an expert in his time system. [V16 p. 61] Later he admitted that he doubled the hours intentionally to achieve an end result of $250.00 per hour.

   13        Q   So  the  -- what  you  were trying  to  achieve in

   14  this, then, was an hourly rate of $250 an hour.

   15        A   Correct.

   16        Q   And  so for some reason, you couldn't put down  the

   17  true  or accurate  amount of time  you spent on  a task,  you

   18  had to --

   19        A   Double it.

   20        Q   -- double it.

   21        A   Right.

   22        Q   And the reason you had to --

   23        A   Silly system, but that's ...

   24        Q   And  so  the  reason  you  had  to  double  it was

   25  because of a problem with the computer system?

   26        A   Correct. [V16 p. 65]

327. Johnson and Paterson testified that they understood Fox’s hourly rate to be $125.00 per hour throughout the assignment and after receiving his invoices. They were not aware that Fox had doubled his hours and thus increased his hourly rate and his compensation two fold. [Johnson V23 p. 35]

328. There is also one instance in which Fox added a $1,200.00 mark up to one of his bills in breach of his retainer contract. [V19 pp. 114-115]  

1.5.2
Process Letter

329. Fox states that “equivalent in value” is not a common actuarial term. That is one of the reasons he decided it was necessary to consult with interested parties about the meaning of “equivalent in value”.  
330. Fox established a process to determine the meaning of equivalency.  The process was to be a balanced one, which envisioned equal opportunities for interested parties to make submissions about the meaning of “equivalent in value”, so that Fox could then formulate a consensus as to the definition used.

331. The process Fox chose is outlined in a letter [AD 596] to interested parties dated December 17, 1996, reproduced below. 
For the benefit of the parties to the MTS Pension Plan, I believe it is appropriate to outline the steps that will be followed prior to providing our opinion:

1.
Meet with the relevant parties to obtain input as to their understanding of what is meant by “equivalent in value”. 

2.
Formulate consensus on the meaning of “equivalent in value”. This will be communicated to all interested parties prior to the determination of our opinion. 

3.
Review the finalized MTS Pension Plan (i.e. the MTS Pension Plan Text) that is to be filed for registration with OSFI and Revenue Canada. 

4.
Compare the relevant sections of the MTS Pension Plan Text with the provisions of the Civil Service Superannuation Act to determine whether “equivalent in value” is achieved.

5
Provide the actuary’s opinion on the extent to which “equivalent in value” has been achieved to the President and Chief Executive Officer of MTS, together with any recommendations we may have as to changes which we believe are required to achieve “equivalent in value”. The Act provides that the Corporation shall take any steps necessary to resolve concerns raised by the actuary. We believe it would be appropriate to incorporate the changes with those requested by the regulatory bodies. 

6.
Review the reamended MTS Pension Plan Text changes prior to its resubmission to the regulatory bodies and issue the final actuary’s opinion to all parties.   [AD 596]

332. Fox testified that this process was his idea. [V18 p. 58] But the letter went out under Singleton’s signature. When asked why; Fox said he did not have an explanation. [V18 p. 62] 

333. At discovery Fox testified that step 2, “to formulate consensus on the meaning of ‘equivalent in value’”, meant that he had to reach a consensus with the Provincial Auditor. At trial he resiled, stating that “consensus” was probably a “bad word”. He merely wanted to get interested parties views. [V18 p. 59-62]  

334. Singleton and Paterson made “substantial changes” to Fox’s original process letter, which is AD  586 .

335. The most important change that Singleton made was to add into step 5 the right to forward any recommendations that the Provincial Auditor’s Office “may have as to changes which we believe are required to achieve “equivalent in value”. [Paterson V24 pp. 11-12]  

336. Paterson does not recall discussing this change with Fox. [V24 p. 12] Fox does not recall approving this important change. [V18 p. 65] Fox agrees that the letter contemplates the Provincial Auditor making his own recommendations on equivalency. He said however that he did not believe that the Provincial Auditor had any role in making recommendations on equivalency. [V18 p. 65]  

   27       Q      And  Mr.  Fox,   if you  compare   agreed   document   586,

   28  which   is  your   first   draft,   to  the   final   version   of  the

   29  letter   at  596,   you  would   agree   that   there   were  numerous

   30  changes made to the draft you prepared?

   31       A      Yes, there's some substantial changes.

   32       Q      And  those  changes,   collectively,    were  all  made   by

   33  the provincial auditor's office and not you?

   34       A      As far as I can recall, that's correct.
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    1       Q      Do  you   recall   specifically     approving   the   final

    2  document before it was sent out to interested parties?

    3       A      I cannot recall that, no. [V18 pp. 67-68]
Invitation Letter

337. Accompanying the “process letter” was another letter that Singleton revised and sent out under his own signature. [AD 601] The letter invites the parties to schedule a meeting with Fox, on either December 19 or 20, 1996, to discuss equivalency. 

338. This “invitation letter” was also edited by Singleton and Paterson. Fox cannot say whether he approved the final version of the letter.     

339. One change made by Singleton was to characterize Fox as his “agent” in deciding the question concerning equivalency.  Singleton admitted he made the change, which he dismissed as a poor choice of words. [V38 pp. 87-88]
          Q     What,   what  exactly    did  agent   --  did  you   intend

   31  "agent" to mean?

   32        A     Someone    who   would   provide    an   independent    and

   33  objective opinion on the work that they had done.

   34        Q     If  that's  what   you  were  intending   to  communicate,
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    1  why wouldn't you just insert language to that effect?

    2        A     Well,   I'd   indicated   my   affidavit    in  retrospect

    3  that  would  have  been   much  clearer.    But  as  I answered   in  my

    4  previous question, your previous question, I was thinking as

    5  agent   and  the  terms   that   we  use  the   word  "agent"   in  the

    6  provincial   auditor's    office   to be  a  public   accounting   firm

    7  that  we  would   hire  to  express   an independent    and  objective

    8  opinion on the work that they had done.
Meetings with Interested Parties

340. The Plaintiffs met with Fox on December 19, 1996 in two separate meetings, each scheduled for one-half hour.  

341. AD 620 are Paterson’s notes of the meeting. AD 641 p.22055 are Fox’s notes of the meeting.  

342. Restall and his group communicated their view that “benefits… equivalent in value” includes equivalency with respect to the use and control of the initial surplus, future surplus, governance and the funding of benefits on the implementation date and thereafter. All of these aspects were considered to be benefits by ERPC.

343. After the meeting Restall forwarded to Fox a letter [AD 717] in which he provides further information on the position of the ERPC as it relates to the establishment of the new MTS pension plan.  

344. Fox believes that he was aware of the ERPC presentation to the legislature on October 31 and was given a copy of it. [V18 pp.18-19] The presentation was also provided to MTS. In the presentation, ERPC legal counsel went through the history of how surplus was used in the CSSF for 20 years, including the fact that it was used to pay both ends of a benefit improvement on several occasions.   

345. CEP also met with Fox on December 19, 1996. Corp, the actuary for CEP, testified that he communicated to Fox his groups concerns about surplus sharing and governance. He did not believe that these issues were “non-benefit” matters as they are characterized in Paterson’s notes of the meeting. To Corp changes needed to be made to the MTS plan text to make it equivalent to the benefit system provided through the CSSA. [V8 pp. 63-64]  

        29       Q   At  the time, did you have a view as to whether or

        30  not surplus was a non-benefit provision?

        31        A   Our   view,  that  surplus   was  --  surplus  and

        32  governance had to be included in, in equivalence.

        33        Q   And  it says -- also,  it says within these notes,

        34  above  the reference that we  were just looking at, it  says,
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    1  quote:

    2  

    3                  "Both of  these parties  felt that

    4                  through the negotiations they have

    5                  achieved equivalence."

    6  

    7            Do  you recall whether or not you indicated at  the

    8  meeting   that  through the   negotiations  there's been  an

    9  achievement of equivalence?

        10    A   No, I think that, that's wrong.
346. Fox’s notes do not characterize Corp’s submission as being that surplus control and governance were “non-benefit” issues. Paterson’s notes of the meeting are at AD 621. Fox’s notes are at AD 641 p. 22053. 

347. At the meeting Corp asked Fox to copy CEP with any correspondence the Provincial Auditor or Fox sent to or received from MTS. Corp followed up with a letter dated January 17, 1997. [AD 741] Bill Hales of TEAM also sent a letter asking to be copied with documents sent to or received from MTS. [AD 786]

348. Corp testified that he did not receive any documentation after making his request. He said the reason he wanted this information was so that he could respond to errors or contentious issues raised by MTS or the Provincial Auditor. [V8 p. 70-71]   

349. Fox testified that this was a reasonable request which he left up to Paterson to deal with. [V19 pp. 17-18] Paterson and Singleton do not recall considering or dealing with the request. [Paterson V24 p. 35] [Singleton V39 pp. 16-17]
350. Fox also met with MTS representatives, Williams, the General Manager of the Civil Service Superannuation Plan Walter Worosz, and the then actuaries for the CSSP Dennis Ellement and John Turnbull. 

351. Fox’s first meeting with MTS was on December 2, 1996 at Solman’s office. Fox’s notes of that meeting begin on page 22057 of AD 641 (a collection of Fox’s notes).    One of Fox’s notes reads: "Equivalence mean better or financial."  Another says: "Equivalence in aggregate - Governance   as well",  indicating that there was a discussion about equivalency and what it involved. The notes also indicate that Fox was told by MTS that the "Pension committee is established which is responsible for the management of the Fund."  [V18 pp. 71-74]
352. Fox testified that he was aware of Williams’ view of equivalency prior to the definition of equivalency letter being circulated. [V18 p. 81] Fox had Williams October 30 opinion on equivalency [AD 404].  

353. Solman, the then Treasurer of MTS, certainly communicated her thoughts on “equivalent in value” to the Provincial Auditor's staff [see AD 616].  Fox testified that he had Solman’s view of equivalency on his file. AD 493 is a position paper prepared by Solman that made its way into Fox’s file. It outlines MTS' views compared to the view of the plan members, with explanations as to why MTS believed they were wrong. 

354. Solman testified that as a result of the December 2 meeting in her office and the December 11 meeting with Williams; Fox was aware of MTS’ position regarding equivalence before December 17, the date that interested parties were invited to schedule meetings with Fox to discuss equivalency. [V43 pp. 56-57]  

355. Fox had MTS’ views on equivalency before he penned his definition of equivalency. Fox testified: 

   25       Q      Well,  and  what   I'm  asking  you  is,  as  a  result   of

   26  your   meeting    with   MTS   on   December    2nd   and   then   your

   27  subsequent    meeting   with   MTS'  actuary,    you  knew   what  MTS'

   28  position was on equivalence in value before you drafted your

   29  definition of equivalence?

   30       A      I  had a  very  good  idea  and  that's   all  -- I  wasn't

   31  a hundred percent sure but I had a pretty good idea. [V18 p. 82]
   17       Q      So  with  that   distinction   in  mind,   before  you  sat

   18  down  to  write   your  understanding    of  what  the  definition    of

   19  equivalency     meant,    you   didn't    require     any   additional

   20  information from MTS?

   21       A      No [I didn’t]. [V18 p. 83]
356. MTS’ position on equivalency was no mystery to anyone. It was that equivalency was to be interpreted narrowly as financial benefits and that surplus and funding of benefits were not to be included as part of the equivalency opinion. 

357. After all parties had their input, and Fox was satisfied that he had all the information he needed, Fox formulated his definition of equivalence. The definition [AD 752] stated expressly that the opinion on equivalency required a determination as to whether the treatment of surplus and the initial funding of benefits were equivalent. 

358. Fox's definition of equivalence, which represented his thoughts at the time, is set out below [V19 p. 19]. 

In our evaluation of whether the new MTS pension plan provides benefits that are equivalent in value, we will examine the following: 

i)
Whether the benefits available to members and their beneficiaries under the MTS pension plan and the CSSA are equivalent.  Where there are differences in the benefits, we will decide whether the difference is material.  Any differences in the CSSA and the MTS plan that are the result of PBSA or ITA requirements will be included for completeness only. 

ii)
Whether the funding of the benefits available at the implementation date and the use of any surplus funds that arise on the implementation date are equivalent to the premiums under the CSSA.  Since the funding arrangements under the MTS plan will be different than the funding arrangement under the CSSA we must be assured that at the implementation date the benefits have been funded in an equivalent manner and that surplus funds generated by employee contributions are not inappropriately used by the employer. [AD 752]
359. Fox said the following about his definition of equivalency: 

   Q     So  at  this  point   in  time,  and   Mr.  Fox,  you  just

   15  confirmed   that   the  funding   of  the  benefits   and  the  use   of

   16  surplus   were  important   considerations    in  your  determination

   17  of equivalency?

   18        A     On the implementation date, correct.

   19        Q     On the implementation date?

   20        A     Yes.

   21        Q     Yes.    And,   and  as   a  matter   of  fact,   you  never

   22  resiled from that view ever, did you, that, that funding and

   23  the use of surplus on the implementation date were important

   24  to your definition -- or your determination of equivalency?

   25        A     Correct.

   26        Q     And as you sit here today you remain of that view?

   27        A     Yes, I do.
360. Fox testified that it was important that he be the one to develop the definition of equivalency and that he did not require the concurrence of the Provincial Auditor. He said the Provincial Auditor’s role was limited to providing him with information, if he needed it. [V18 pp. 61-62]  

361. Nevertheless, Fox sent his definition to the Provincial Auditor’s Office. 

362. The Provincial Auditor’s Office re-wrote Fox’s definition of equivalency to make it “short and sweet” on the advice of Johnson [AD 764]. The next document, AD 765 is the “short and sweet” version of the definition of equivalence. Fox had no input into the changes that were made to his definition of equivalency. All of the changes were made at the Provincial Auditor’s Office. [V19 p. 27]   

363. This “second draft” was a substantial change from the draft that Fox had prepared. [V19 p. 26] It takes out all references to “surplus use” as an issue in equivalency. [V19 p. 26]    

364. AD 766 is the next revision to the definition letter. This “third draft” was shared with Fox.  Fox was concerned that employee and employer contributions were at least equal on implementation and going forward for one valuation. [V19 p. 29] He struck out the words that stated that equality of funding had to be on December 31, 1996 and made the sentence more generic to consider equality of funding going forward as well.   

365. The definition was changed further in the “fourth draft” AD 766 by the Provincial Auditor’s Office to indicate that the funding of benefits was a secondary objective. Fox says he did not agree that the funding of benefits was a secondary objective. Funding of benefits was very important to Fox. [V19 p. 31]

366. A “fifth draft” definition letter [AD 772] was prepared by the Provincial Auditor’s Office. It appears to be a complete re-write of the definition of equivalency. The “fifth draft” does not include any reference to surplus or the funding of benefits. It appears to have been drafted by Singleton as it is saved as “equiv2.js”. Fox says that this draft did not encapsulate his definition of equivalency. [V19 p. 33]  

367. Singleton made handwritten revisions to “draft five” which are on AD 780, described at trial as the “sixth draft” [AD 780]. Fox does not recall having any input into the changes from draft five to draft six. [V19 p. 34]

368. The seventh draft AD 781 is the version of the letter that incorporates Singleton’s handwritten changes on the sixth draft. [V39 p. 32] Fox had no part in writing the seventh draft AD 781. [V19 p. 35]

369. The “seventh draft” of the definition letter was shared with Fox.  Fox and Paterson had a discussion about this version of the definition letter.  After the discussion, a paragraph dealing with funding was re-inserted into the definition.  

370. AD 782 was described as “draft eight” at trial. The funding paragraph handwritten into this document is Fox’s suggestion for a change to the definition of equivalency. [V19 p. 36] Fox wanted the funding paragraph in the final definition. [V19 p. 37] Paterson testified that the funding paragraph language that was added in handwriting to AD 782 was a collaboration between himself and Fox. [V24 p. 41]  Singleton did not know who recommended that the funding paragraph be added. [V39 p. 33]
1.5.3
Definition Letter sent to Fraser February 4, 1997
371. On February 4, 1997, Singleton took it upon himself to fax the definition letter to Fraser and solicit his comments. 

372. AD 788 is a Fax from Singleton to Fraser attaching the draft definition with a note saying "Please call me in the morning with any comments you may have." [V39 pp. 35-37] 

373. Singleton did not send the draft to the ERPC or CEP because he took it upon himself to determine who received the draft. Fox was not consulted or asked if it was okay to send the draft to Fraser. [V19 p. 39] He was surprised it was sent because everyone had been consulted already. It appeared to Fox that MTS was getting “an extra kick at the cat”. [V19 p. 39] 

374. Paterson was not aware that the draft was sent to Fraser until after it happened. [V24 p. 42] Johnson had nothing to do with the draft being sent to Fraser. [V23 p. 21] 

375. Singleton and Fraser are professional acquaintances who have known each other for many years. They interacted when Fraser was the controller for the Province of Manitoba and Singleton was an auditor at the Provincial Auditor’s Office. Subsequently, they dealt with each other when Singleton was with the Crown Corporations Council and Fraser was at MTS. Their professional dealings were such that they would periodically lunch together. They felt comfortable dealing with each other in their professional capacities. [Singleton V40 p. 12]    

376. Fraser made handwritten notes on Singleton’s definition letter, including markings beside the funding paragraph as crib notes before calling Singleton on February 5, 1997. [AD 788] 

377. Fraser testified that he told Singleton that the legislation provided a narrow definition of equivalency which was restricted to the actuarial opinion on whether the financial benefits were equivalent. The narrow definition does not include the funding of benefits, surplus or governance. [V34 p. 107] He also told Singleton that if you want to expand the definition to include surplus and governance, as Restall suggests, then you have to consider the fact that the New Plan is funded.  He reminded Singleton that the Provincial Auditor’s Office had long criticized the government for not funding the Old Plan which led to an inherent risk in the Old Plan’s ability to pay pensions. He told Singleton that the MTS plan addressed the Provincial Auditor’s complaint because it is pre-funded. He argued that the New Plan is far superior to the Old Plan because MTS is funding it as opposed to the pay as you go system in the CSSF.  He saw funding as a benefit in terms of the security of the plan. Fraser said that funding in the new plan was the overriding benefit in the whole plan. [V33  pp. 97-98] 
378. Fraser said he was not particularly “fussed” about how Fox defined equivalent in value for the purposes of his review. He believed the plan was equivalent under either definition, wide or narrow.  
     Q   What,  if  any, intention  did  you have,  sir, to

   29  influence how they defined equivalent in value?

   30        A   None.   Like, I wasn't,  I wasn't fussed about how

   31  they  defined  it  at  all.   I  mean,  it  was  --  from my

   32  perspective,  you know, there was one school of thought  that

   33  said,  you know,  it's purely  financial, and  I could  agree

   34  with  that; but  if there's  another school  of thought that
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    1  says,  you  got to  throw in  surplus, you  got to  throw in

    2  governance  and, and  some things, and  I'm not fussed  about

    3  that  either.  But if you throw  those in, then throw in  the

    4  fact  that there's 400 million dollars of funding going into

    5  a  trust account that  is dedicated for  the sole purpose of

    6  paying  retirees' and employees' pensions  and that is a  far

    7  superior  plan  to  one that  basically  has an  IOU  and no

    8  money.
379. In his examination for discovery, Singleton had sworn that he had absolutely no recollection of his discussion with Fraser. [V39 pp. 53-54] 

380. At trial Singleton developed a memory, he said he recalled one aspect of his discussion with Fraser, as follows: 

    8        A   Well,  my recollection is that Mr. Fraser made  the

    9  point   to   me  that   under  the   sections  of   the   MTS

   10  privatization   act   regarding   the   appointment   of  an

   11  independent   actuary,  there was   no  secondary objective,

   12  there   was  just  the   primary  objective  of  determining

   13  equivalence  in  value, and  so that  there was  probably no

   14  need to have a secondary objective in this definition. [V39 p. 37]

381. After receiving Fraser’s comments, Singleton unilaterally deleted the funding paragraph that was added at Fox's insistence.  A fax cover page from the Provincial Auditor’s office indicates in handwriting that “per Irene-apparently last paragraph is being dropped?  Change made by JS presumably based on discussion with Fraser.”  [AD 792]

382. Singleton testified that he deleted the funding paragraph because he thought that Fraser had made a good point that there was only one objective set out in the Re-Organization Act. [V38 p. 38] He says that he made an interpretation of the Act that there was only one objective and no need for a secondary objective. [V39 p. 39 ln 6-20] When asked if that was his role he defended his decision, stating: “the Act is silent on how the definition of equivalence in value is to be determined.” [V39 p. 43 ln 11-16]     
383. Singleton was asked if he was aware whether Fox shared his interpretation of the Re-Organization Act. 

   16        Q   Did  you consider  whether   --  yeah,  did  you

   17 consider   whether  or  not  Mr.  Fox   had  a  role  as  to

   18  interpreting the object of the Act?

   19        A   I don't think I turned my mind to that.

   20        Q   Do  you know as to whether  or not he may have  had

   21  a different interpretation of the object of the Act?

   22        A   No, I don't know. [V39 p. 45]

384. The “secondary objective” that Singleton deleted from the definition was about the funding of benefits on day one, which Fox considered to be a primary consideration. Singleton had not even seen the November 7 Agreement and he doesn’t believe he knew that employees were putting in $43M more than the employer on day one of the plan when he took out the funding paragraph. [V40 pp. 5-6]   

385. Singleton confirmed that taking out the funding paragraph narrowed the definition of equivalency. [V40 pp. 13-14] 

386. Fox testified that he did not authorize or support the changes that Singleton made to the definition of equivalency.  
   27        Q     So  looking   at,   at  agreed   document   800,   is  this

   28  your definition of equivalency --

   29        A     No.

   30        Q     -- that you used?

   31        A     No.

   32        Q     Fair  to  say  this  is  Jon  Singleton's   definition    of

   33  equivalency?

   34        A     That's someone's definition, it's not mine. [V19 p. 41]
387. The definition letter sent out to interested parties was not Fox's definition of the meaning of equivalent in value.  It was Singleton's view. Fox testified that his definition of equivalency on the date that Singleton sent his definition out would have included funding of benefits on the implementation date. [V19 p. 42] It also included governance, surplus on the implementation date, reciprocity and emerging surplus utilization. [V19 pp. 42-42] 

388. With the funding paragraph deleted, Singleton then finalized the definition of equivalence letter and sent it out to all interested parties on February 5, 1997. [AD 800] Singleton intended that the interested parties would rely on the definition he sent out to them. [V40 p. 10]   

389. Fox did not communicate to Singleton or anyone else that the definition letter that was sent out to interested parties [AD 800] was not his definition of equivalency. When asked why he did not tell anybody, he stammered: “I don’t know. I didn’t.”   [V19 p. 44]  

390. The significant differences between Fox’s first definition letter [AD 752] and Singleton's letter [AD 800] are as follows: 
1.
Fox’s definition states that differences arising from the PBSA and ITA would be dealt with for completeness only; whereas Singleton’s definition focuses on the differences arising from the PBSA and ITA as being the determination of Equivalency. 

2.
Singleton’s definition does not consider funding and surplus considerations; Fox’s does consider funding and surplus considerations.

391. Restall received the definition letter on February 5, 1997. He immediately called Paterson, asking if funding and surplus were part of the definition. [AD 794] [RV5 p. 67] Neither Paterson nor Restall recalls what if any answer was given.  

1.5.4
Fox’s February 18 Opinion on Equivalency

392. After the definition of equivalency was circulated, Fox began to work on his opinion as to whether the benefits provided by the new plan were equivalent in value to the benefits produced as a result of the CSSA. 

393. In Fox’s first several drafts he concluded that the benefits were not equivalent, because MTS had contributed less on the implementation date (funding) and the control of ongoing surplus was not equal (surplus), to the detriment of the plan members. 

394. In total, there were three drafts of the Opinion of Fox that the Plans were not equivalent [ADs 808, 807, 806].  

395. In the last draft of his opinion dated February 18, 1997 [AD 806], Fox wrote that after meeting with the interested parties “there appears to be very little concern on the basic terms of the plan as they relate to benefits payable on… retirement.”  It was a trite observation. The concerns that the employees raised at the committee reviewing Bill 67, which led to the enactment of the independent actuary provisions, related to surplus, unequal funding on day one and governance. Basic benefits were never an issue. From the Plaintiffs perspective, the Independent Actuary was not hired to resolve that issue.   

396. In his February 18 Opinion Fox states that to achieve “equivalent in value on the implementation date the following points must be kept in mind: 

(i)
The actual level of funding of the pension benefits accrued to December 31, 1996 is very important.  Under the CSSA the funding arrangement was one that attempted to provide benefits that were 50% funded by the employer and 50% funded by the employee.
(ii)
Once the terms of the plan text have been finalized it will be very difficult for any party other than the company to amend.  

(iii)
Surplus ownership has not been a concern in the past because a surplus in the CSSA belonged to the employee.” [AD 806]

397. Fox concludes that it was necessary for changes to be made to the MTS plan; without them, he was of the view that there was not equivalency. He made the follow recommendations:

(i)
The participating employers in the MTS Plan should only be allowed to take a contribution holiday or to reduce their contributions to the MTS Plan once there is a surplus (subject to (ii) below) and their contributions have in aggregate equalled the level of the employee’s contributions transferred from the CSSA Plan for service to December 31, 1996.  The inclusion of this kind of protection will prevent MTS and other participating employers from utilizing surplus funds generated by employee contributions to finance the company’s share of the cost of the accruing benefits.  In addition, the wording of Section 16.11 should be amended to ensure that the surplus funds within the Pension Adjustment Account cannot be allocated to other purposes until the contributions allocated to the adjustment account by employers are equal to the to the contributions made by the employees as of the implementation date.  Another way to accomplish the above would be for MTS to transfer into the fund an amount equal to the employee contributions on the implementation date.  

(ii)
A section on sharing of emerging ongoing surplus funds should be included in the text.  This section would allocate surplus funds in proportion to the contributions made by each party.  The portion of the surplus that emerges as a result of employee contributions must be used to improve benefits or reduce employee contributions and the portion of the surplus emerging from employer contributions can be used in a manner deemed appropriate by the participating employers.

. . . .

Opinion

Unless amendments are made to the MTS Plan to alleviate concerns outlined above, it is my opinion that the MTS Plan does not provide benefits that are equivalent in value to the benefits under the CSSA.

Supplemental comments:

. . .

Based on the concerns of interested parties, it would certainly be appropriate to suggest that an amendment to the provisions respecting governance be added that does not permit the Company to unilaterally amend the MTS Plan in areas of surplus utilization, and funding of benefits…The suggestion that approval by two thirds of the Pension Committee would be required to amend these sections seems reasonable.  Further discussions with the concerned parties should be undertaken to obtain a satisfactory consensus on the Plan governance.

398. Fox explained that the first recommendation was in response to the representation by MTS that the initial surplus would not be used to reduce its cost or share of contributions. [V19 p. 62] 

399. Fox’s second recommendation was pro-rata sharing of future surpluses as recommended by Corp. [V19 p. 63]
400. Fox was also recommending that the plan operate on consensus, which was his assumption at the time. [V19 p. 65] 

401. The February 18 Opinion [AD 806] reflected Fox’s views at the time. [V19 p. 78]  At first, Fox testified that these were just matters he was considering and that he was just communicating to the Provincial Auditor his thoughts because he had been asked to do so.[V19 p. 67] His discovery evidence was contradictory and nowhere in the draft opinions did Fox indicate that these were simply matters he was considering. [V19 p. 66] Eventually Fox admitted that AD 806 reflected his view at the time and that on February 18 he endorsed the recommendations he was making. [V19 pp. 79-80] 

402. The Opinion with its recommendations in AD 806 were Fox’s recommendations and Fox’s alone. At this point there was no collaboration with the Provincial Auditor’s Office. (This document may be the only truly independent opinion in this case). It was truly Fox’s opinion. [V19 p. 60] 

1.5.5
February 19 Meetings

403. Fox sent his opinion to the Provincial Auditor’s Office on February 18, 1997. [AD 806]  Paterson made some minor editorial revisions to the opinion. He testified that he did not have any concerns about the opinion. [V24 p. 48] 

404. Cheryl Barker (“Barker”) of MTS testified that Singleton telephoned her and requested that she come to his office to meet him and Fox on February 19, 1997. [V41 p. 14 and p. 15] Prior to the meeting, Singleton faxed Barker a copy of Fox’s draft opinion. [V41 p. 14] Barker was told that the prime purpose of the meeting was to discuss Fox’s opinion. Singleton has no recollection of calling Barker, setting up the meeting, or sending her Fox’s opinion; but he does not deny that it happened. [V40 pp. 17-19]

405. Singleton did not send a copy of the draft opinion to the ERPC or invite them to the meet with Fox to discuss the opinion.  AD 814 is an Agenda for a February 19, 1997 meeting. Neither Restall nor anyone in his group was aware that MTS had been provided a copy of the draft opinion and was able to make comments on it at a meeting held on February 19, 1997. He was not aware that this meeting had occurred prior to the litigation. [RV7 pp. 61-62] 

406. Singleton did not ask Fox if it was okay to send Fox’s opinion to MTS and set up a meeting. This meeting was at the sole initiative of Singleton.  Fox testified that he did not want to meet with MTS to discuss his opinion. He wasn’t looking for that kind of information from MTS.[V19 pp. 71- 72] 
407. Singleton also requested a meeting with Fox and his staff to discuss Fox’s opinion. This meeting was prior to the Barker meeting. Paterson’s notes of the meeting are found in AD 815. The notes only indicate who was at the meeting, that it started at 9:30 am and the purpose of the meeting was: “Discussion of draft report – concerns particularly.” 
408. Fox has absolutely no memory of this first meeting with Singleton, Paterson and Johnson. [V19 p. 69] Paterson also has no recollection of the meeting.[V24 p. 48-49]  Singleton said he does not specifically recall the meeting of February 19. He had a very general recollection of another meeting prior to Fox finalizing his opinion. [V40 pp. 19-20] He does not recall if at this other meeting they were discussing Fox’s draft opinion. Singleton has no recollection of what he said at that other meeting. [V40 pp. 21-22] 

409. Johnson had a vivid recollection of the meeting. He testified that it was not a very long meeting and that Singleton did most of the talking. Singleton thought that the opinion was long and confusing. Specifically, Singleton told Fox he was confused about “the linkage between some of the issues that were listed as causing the benefits to be not equivalent in value.”  [V23  pp. 30-31]  

30            THE  COURT:  But, sorry,  I just want to identify.

31  You  say  he expressed  confusion about the  linkage  between

32  what?

33            THE   WITNESS:    Well, the   way the   opinion is

34  worded, it, it says that:
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"Unless amendments are made to  ...

alleviate  the  concerns  outlined

above, is my  opinion that the  MTS

Plan  does  not  provide  benefits

that are  equivalent  IN  value to

the benefits under the CSSA."

7  

It's  that linkage of those  issues to the, to the

opinion on benefits.

12  BY MR. SAXBERG:

15        Q   That  was -- was that  a concern to Mr. Singleton,

16  the linkage?

17        A   Yes.

18        Q   Did  you have  any concerns that  you expressed  at

19  that meeting?

20        A   Well,  as Jon  read through  and  tried to  explain

21  what  his  concerns  were,  Tom Paterson  never  really said

22  anything  and Cliff  Fox never  really said  anything, and  I

23  was  sitting there and just looking at the document and I, I

24  basically   concurred.    I   said  that's,  that's  a  good

25  question,  like how  do those things  link up;  like I  don't

26  understand  how  those  things impact  on  pension  benefits.

27  And  then Cliff Fox just said, well, leave it with me, I'll,

28  I'll sort it out, and that was the end of the meeting. [V23  pp. 30-31]
410. Fox, Paterson and Singleton do not deny that the meeting occurred or challenge Johnson’s recollection of events. [Fox V19 pp. 69-70] [Singleton V40 pp. 21-22]

Barker meeting

411. The second meeting on February 19, 1997 involved Singleton, Barker, Fox and Paterson. Singleton says he does not recall the meeting, but does not deny it took place and that he was there. [V40 pp. 18-19] Barker specifically recalls Singleton being there and speaking at the meeting. Paterson and Fox believe that Singleton may have been there. [Fox V19 p. 71]   

412. Barker brought Fox’s draft opinion with her to the meeting. [V41 p. 26] She raised issues and provided information to Fox of which the Plaintiffs were unaware.   

413. Before the meeting Barker asked the treasury department to provide a status update on the employees’ outstanding pension issues. [V41 p. 32-33] The briefing note that was prepared in response to her request is AD 813. It appears to offer counter arguments to the issues raised in Fox’s opinion. Barker reviewed the briefing note [AD 813] in preparation for the meeting. Barker testified that the briefing note provided the information she was taking into the meeting. [V41 p. 42]  
414. The briefing note is wrong when it says (second bullet p. 1) that Revenue Canada would not have permitted MTS to match the employee’s $43.34M initial surplus because that would have created a surplus that would exceed their limit. [V41 p. 43] 

415. The briefing note is also wrong when it states that the $43.34M initial surplus has been “used up” in providing employees/retirees with a benefit in the form of an account that is closer to 20 year pre-funding, which triggers larger COLA awards. The way the account was set up precludes the possibility of achieving 20 year funding. Moreover, the ERPC never agreed that the 20 year pre-funding restriction applied to the initial surplus. 
416. Paterson’s notes of the meeting [AD 815] state: “surplus from employees should not be available to MTS as employer. Agreement on placing surplus in COLA account has been reached.”

417. Barker does not recall if she advised that the initial surplus would not be available to MTS. [V41 pp. 62-63]
418. Paterson’s notes also say “funding not considered a benefit”.  At the meeting Barker advocated a narrow definition of equivalency that did not include consideration of surplus control, funding or governance. She testified that MTS’ responsibility for deficits was also not relevant: 

    5        Q   You  didn't view  the fact  that MTS  now had  this

    6  additional   deficit   responsibility   as  being   part  of

    7  equivalent  in value.   Rather, you saw it  as merely a data

    8  point.

    9        A   That's true. [V41 p. 56]
419. At the meeting Barker indicated to Fox that certain portions of his opinion were not correct. [V41 p. 27] She would have addressed what she viewed as the employee’s “misconception” that they had control over surplus in the old plan. [V41 p. 41] 
420. Barker argued to Fox that the 1992 surplus example showed that employees did not have the level of control over surplus in the old plan as they believed they had. Fox says that Barker did not mention that the use of the 1992 surplus was by virtue of an agreement between the liaison committee and the advisory committee.[V19 p. 59]    

421. All of the information she had regarding use of surplus and governance in the CSSF came from her discussions with Fraser. She had no personal knowledge of any of the agreements between the liaison committee and the advisory committee and relied exclusively on Fraser’s information. [V41 p. 29] Fraser was not involved in any of the agreements on the use of surplus either.  

422. Paterson’s only recollection of the meeting comes from reviewing his notes. Paterson was aware of the 1992 use of surplus to pay for employer costs of a new benefit. Singleton was also aware of it. Paterson did not view it as relevant to equivalency. Barker and Fox had a copy of the ERPC’s presentation to the legislature on October 31, 1996 which fully itemized 20 years of surplus use in the old plan, including the 1992 example that Barker raised.  Barker only raised the one example in general terms. The ERPC had disclosed all of the facts relative to the use of surplus in the old plan long before the February 19 meeting. The ERPC did not view the use of surplus to pay employer costs as relevant to their level of control over surplus because surplus was only used in this fashion with their express consent. Barker acknowledged that she was not aware of the government ever using employee surplus unilaterally without the consent of employees. [V41 pp. 47-48]  
423. At the meeting Barker told Fox two points of information about the initial Actuarial Valuation Report for the New Plan: (1) that it would disclose an unfunded liability and (2) the normal costs for MTS would be higher than the employee contributions.  She does not recall if she told him the size of the unfunded liability. [V41 p. 44]
424. She cannot recall whether or not she disclosed the following information that was available to MTS at the time: (1) the report would be available on February 27 (2) the report used an actuarial value which included a $63M write-down of assets from market value (3) there was a $36.6M surplus on a solvency basis (4) the assumptions were different from the CSSA assumptions (5) MTS was considering a pension expense, for accounting purposes, that was lower than the employee contributions to the pension plan. [V41 pp. 44-46]  Barker did not advise Fox that the COLA account would not contain all of the COLA related assets to fund the guarantee or that the interest rate would be a CANSIM rate. 

425. Fox’s recollection of the meeting is limited to the three “new” pieces of information that he says Barker disclosed at the meeting: (1) the unfunded liability (2) MTS normal costs higher than employee contributions and (3) the 1992 use of surplus in the CSSA.[V19 p. 73] Fox says those three pieces of information were the main reason that he reversed his opinion. [V19 pp. 74-75]  Fox does not recall Barker telling him that the actuarial valuation did not use market value of assets and that there was a $63M write-down in the market value of assets which led to the $7M unfunded liability.[V19 p. 84]  Fox says that Barker did not tell him there was a $36M surplus on a solvency basis. [V19 p. 84] Fox agreed that the measurement of assets in the plan on day one could have been based on market value rather than actuarial value of assets.[V19 p. 88]  Fox dealt with market value of assets in determining the appropriate transfer ratio from the CSSF in his second assignment with the Provincial Auditor. [V19 p. 92]  

426. Barker testified that three or four months after the meeting Fox’s draft opinion would have been marked for destruction. [V41 69-70] She did not consider sharing its contents with her employees or the retiree representative as being her responsibility; she said it was up to Fox and Singleton. [V41 pp. 31-32]  
Fox telephone call to Johnson

427. Johnson testified that shortly after the February 19, 1997 meetings he received a telephone call from Fox. Fox told Johnson he was having trouble with his report. He wanted to confirm his understanding of Singleton’s concerns as expressed at the first meeting. Johnson says that he rehashed the meeting and Singleton’s concern about the linkage between Fox’s recommendations and equivalency. Johnson testified: 

                                               …and  then  I  was  kind of

    8  surprised,  Cliff  said, what  if there  is  no linkage?    I

    9  said,  oh, well, then  does that mean  the benefits would be

   10  equal  or like what is, what is  the impact of that?  And he

   11  says,  he agreed that they  would be, he said, well,  they're

   12  probably  better under the new plan than under the old  plan,

   13  and  that's  a,  that's  a  positive  thing  and  the report

   14  probably should reflect that, then.

   15            And  he,  he seemed comfortable  with that  and he

   16  seemed  to be agreeing that that's  what he was going to  do.

   17  I  don't really know  what he was  going to do  but that  was

   18  kind  of  the impression  I  got.   And  then he  said,  what

   19  about,  what about the other issues?  And I said, what other

   20  issues?   And I believe  he mentioned surplus and governance

   21  stuff.    And  I said,  well,  is that  relevant  to  pension

   22  benefits?   And he  said, well, it would  be helpful to have

   23  that  stuff   addressed to  maybe   resolve future  disputes

   24  regarding  pension issues.  And I,  and I asked if there  was

   25  any,  if there  would be  any linkage on  those things  with,

   26  with  pension  benefits.   And  he  said, well,  not  really,

   27  because  that's what he was,  that's what his first position

   28  was,  that there really is no linkage.  Or he was -- I  guess

   29  it  was a hypothetical situation, he's saying, what if  there

   30  is  no  linkage.   And,  like  I  don't know,  if  he  thinks

   31  there's no linkage, that's fine by me.

   32            I lost my train of thought here, I'm sorry.

   33        Q   You were mentioning about Mr. Fox and linkage.

   34        A   Yes.    And  the,  and the  other  issues  and  the
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    1  relevance  of them and if they, if they were linked.  And he

    2  said,  what should  I do?   I  said,  I don't know,  I  don't

    3  understand  the implications of those things; you're  talking

    4  to  the wrong  person on, on  this stuff.   If you're  saying

    5  that  they  don't  link  to pension  benefits  then  I  don't

    6  understand  why they need to be in the report.  And he  said,

    7  so  shall I drop them?  I said, well, wait a minute, I  said,

    8  I  don't know, I says, it's not my report, it's your report.

    9  If  you  feel that  these things  aren't linked,  then, then

   10  report  accordingly.  And then  I was, I was very surprised.

   11  He  said, well, what if they sue?  And I was kind of  shocked

   12  by  that.    And  I  said,  well,  why  would  you  let  that

   13  interfere  with your professional judgment,  and like I mean

   14  your  opinion has  got  to be your  opinion.   Whatever you,

   15  whatever  you decide is the appropriate opinion, you need to

   16  support  it  and live  by it  and, and  if you  believe that

   17  that's  your opinion, then  that's your opinion, whatever it

   18  is.   And I said, I  don't, I -- I'm  not -- I don't want to

   19  influence  you one  way or the  other.  It's,  it's like  you

   20  need  to do what you need to  do, and all I can say is, good

   21  luck.
428. Fox does not recall this telephone conversation but admits he has no basis to challenge the accuracy of Johnson’s recollection. [V19 p. 70] He did not say, he would not have said that. 

429. Johnson says that he reported this discussion to Paterson and Singleton. He told them he thought that Fox would change his opinion because there was “no linkage.” [V23 p. 33]   

430. Singleton does not recall being advised by Johnson that Fox was changing his opinion after hearing Singleton’s concerns, but he doesn’t deny that it happened. [V40 pp. 22-23] In his discovery evidence, which Singleton confirmed was truthful, he testified that he had a general recollection of being told that the definition would exclude funding and surplus. [V40 pp. 23-29] Paterson said his understanding from Singleton and Johnson was that Fox changed his opinion because it was determined that the ERPC’s concerns were considered to be ‘funding’ and ‘governance’ rather than a benefit or entitlement accruing to participants.  [V24 pp. 56-57]  

February 20 discussion between Singleton and Fraser

431. Fraser testified that he spoke to Singleton about Fox’s equivalency opinion on February 20, 1997. [V33 pp. 102-103] 
432. AD 816 are notes prepared by Fraser of his discussion with Singleton.  Fraser says that he was recording Singleton’s comments. The first point that Singleton made to Fraser was that he had concluded that the benefits are equivalent. Fraser says Singleton’s second point was that the feedback he is getting from other parties is that ordinary members feel a loss of personal ownership and control. Fraser responded that it was not an equivalency issue.  It was an emotional issue and Singleton should not accept the lobbying. Singleton said there was a fear that the company would reduce its contributions in the future if there was a surplus. Fraser responded that the CSSF has zero contributions and so MTS is taking a contribution holiday every year. Fraser said he debated the issues with Singleton. The grid at the bottom of his notes explains Fraser’s position that MTS’ funding of the plan and the guarantee make it better than the benefits provided through the CSSA. [V33 p. 102-103]    

433. Singleton had no recollection of this telephone call. [V40 p. 22] 
Actuarial Report was not provided to Fox

434. Fox asked Paterson to get the initial Actuarial Valuation Report that Barker discussed at the February 19 meeting at around the time he was formulating his opinion. [V19 p. 90] Paterson says that he and Fox asked MTS for the valuation at the “meeting with MTS people”. [V24 p. 59]  

435. In the last paragraph of his February 18 opinion [AD 806] that was provided to Barker of MTS, Fox said it was important for him to review the initial actuarial report prepared by MTS’ actuary. The report was completed on February 27, 1997. MTS sent it to Revenue Canada and to OSFI on February 27, 1997: but not to Fox.

436. The initial actuarial valuation [AD 827] shows a $7M unfunded liability on an actuarial basis.  However, the liability arises only because of a $63.1M write-down of market value assets by Buck Consultants (the New Plan’s actuaries).  Had market value of the assets been used to determine funding, the New Plan would have had a significant surplus.   
1.5.6
Fox Changes his Opinion

437. Shortly after the February 19 meetings, Fox reversed his opinion on equivalency.  In a short missive, Fox declared the benefits under the two plans to be at least equivalent in value on the basis of three assumptions. [AD 840] Fox had sent three prior signed versions of the final opinion, each of which was modified by the Provincial Auditor. [V19 pp 105]
438. The three assumptions Fox expressed in his final opinion [AD 840] are set out below: 

1.
MTS will enter into a reciprocal agreement with the CSSA so that the portability of benefits to MTS plan members to the CSSA employers will be preserved; 

2.
The initial actuarial valuation of the plan will reveal an unfunded liability (even after MTS transfers its full reserve and the appropriate transfer is made from the CSSA) and that MTS’ share of the actuarial normal costs will exceed the share of the actuarial normal cost contributed by employees.

3.
MTS will develop an appropriate unregistered supplemental pension arrangement to provide the benefits not permitted by the Income Tax Act (“ITA”).

439. Fox testified that the second assumption relates to his equivalency funding test which required that (1) accrued benefits on the implementation date were funded 50/50 and (2) that employees were not funding more than 50% of the cost of benefits accruing in the future (at least for the period of the first actuarial report). [V19 p. 29 and pp. 105-106] 
440. Fox says that the three pieces of information he received from Barker were the main drivers behind his changing his mind. [V19 p. 74] He says that he also reviewed all of the material information he already had, including the November 7 Agreement (AD 440) before changing his mind.[V19 p. 76]  Fox’s time sheets reveal that he spent 6.75 hours finalizing his opinion [AD 874]. Divided by two, (since he doubled his time), that means he spent about 3 ½ hours finalizing his opinion. (The previous time sheet (AD 821) deals with events leading to and including the February 19, 1997 meetings, which are misdated on AD 821 as February 21). Fox’s last time sheet indicates that he may have had two contacts with “JS” prior to finalizing his opinion. [AD 874 p. 21624]    

441. Fox stands by his opinion and denies that he was interfered with. He also says that the process to determine equivalency was fair. [V16 pp. 16-17] 
442. Concerning the fate of a now $1.3 Billion plan, Fox went from a five page letter which detailed his reasons as to why the benefits provided by the Plans were not equivalent and dealt with the major issues that caused the legislature to enact the independent actuary provisions (i.e. the Plaintiffs concerns about surplus, funding and governance) to a simple three paragraph letter dated March 5, 1997, indicating without any reasons that the Plans were equivalent based on certain assumptions. Fox testified that it was “probably an error” on his part not to respond to the concerns of the employees in his final opinion. [V20 pp. 2-3]   

443. Fox denies that after the meetings of February 19, 1997, and the telephone call with Johnson he excluded surplus, funding and governance from his definition of equivalency (as Johnson asserts), thereby causing him to change his opinion. [V19 pp. 119-120]  He maintains that he considered those elements but still considered the Plans to be equivalent because he had certain expectations, as follows: [V19 p 80]

(a)
He expected that the initial surplus (the November 7 Agreement) would form some form of benefit for the employees.[V18 pp. 51-52] [V19 p. 81 and 83] [V18 p. 34] 

(b)
The $43.34M initial surplus could only be used for cost of living improvements/increases. [V16 p. 25]

(c)
He relied on the MTS’ undertaking that the initial surplus would not be used to reduce MTS’ cost or share of contributions. [V18 p. 26] (He testified that It would have been helpful if the initial surplus showed up as a liability for future cost of living increases, then MTS could not have used the initial surplus to reduce its cost or share of contributions to the plan) [V19 p. 81]
(d)
All of the COLA related liabilities and assets (debits and credits) would be included in the COLA account.[V18 pp. 40-41] 
(e)
A reasonable interest rate would be applied to the COLA account.[V18 p. 42]  
(f)
The amount of funding to maintain 2/3 of inflation COLA awards would be credited to the account each year to keep the account solid.[V18 pp. 45-46]
(g)
The governance of the plan would operate on the basis of consensus between employees/retirees and MTS.  [V19 p. 80]

(h)
It would be impossible, or at least very difficult, for MTS to use surplus without consulting the employees in the new plan.[V16 p. 23] 

(i)
MTS would not use surplus without consulting the employees / retirees. [V19 p. 80] 

(j)
MTS would act in good faith and be even-handed and forthright with                    employees and would not bypass the Pension Committee. [V19 p. 81] 
(k)
He assumed the parties could go to court to resolve surplus matters,      otherwise he would have put in protection in the plan text to stop MTS from taking surplus without the agreement of employees. [V19 pp. 80-81]  

444. Regarding the use of surplus, Fox testified it would not be equivalent for MTS to use surplus without the consent of employees:  

BY MR. SAXBERG:

   17        Q   Well,   repeat  the  question  that  led  to   that

   18  earlier  answer.   The question was:   At the  time you  were

   19  forming  your opinion, were you of  the belief that it  would

   20  be  equivalent  for  MTS  to  use  employee  surplus  at  its

   21  discretion without employee agreement?

   22        A   No.

   23            THE  COURT:   So  you didn't  believe it  would be

   24  equivalent for that to happen.

   25            THE  WITNESS:   Well, I didn't  believe that  would

   26  happen, so ...

   27            THE  COURT:   Mr. Fox,  the question  was given  to

   28  you  two or three times  before we broke.   I thought it  was

   29  pretty  clear.  I repeated it one last time and asked you if

   30  that  was your answer.  You indicated that it was.  Now your

   31  answer is different?

   32            THE  WITNESS:   I guess I  was in  the wrong  space

   33  here.  I don't ...

   34            THE  COURT:  I'm going to, I'm going to recite  one
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    1  more time what I wrote down in my notes --

    2            THE WITNESS:  Okay.

    3            THE  COURT:  --  as your answer.   Your answer  was

    4  that  as  of  March   '07 (sic),  the   time  that  you were

    5  rendering  your  opinion,  you  believed  that  it  would be

    6  equivalent   for  MTS  to   use  surpluses  attributable  to

    7  employee  contributions at  their --  at  its discretion  and

    8  without  the consent of  the employees.   You said yes, that

    9  was  your belief at  that time, that  it would be equivalent

   10  for  that to,  for  that to occur.    That would  be -- that

   11  would,  that would  amount to  equivalence or  that would be

   12  equivalent.

   13            THE  WITNESS:  Well,  I must have  ...  That's  ...

   14  I  don't,  I don't  think that's  --  that is  not true.    I

   15  apologize.

   16            THE  COURT:  So you don't believe -- you're  saying

   17  now  you don't  believe it  would be equivalent  for that to

   18  happen.

   19            THE WITNESS:  Yes.
Fox March 20 Presentation to TEAM

445. After rendering his March 5, 1997 final opinion on equivalency (AD 840), Fox made a presentation to TEAM in which he answered questions about his opinion. AD 862 is a copy of a slide presentation that Fox put together for the appearance.
446. One of the questions TEAM asked Fox was why he did not recognize that section 16.1 of the plan text took away the right of employees to determine use of ongoing surplus? Fox’s reply was: “Basically the answer to this question comes down to one simple fact and that is that anything that MTS does with this plan can and likely will be done with consensus…” [AD 862 p. 04178]
447. The ERPC did not understand the basis of Fox’s decision. Restall testified that Fox’s determination could impact the pensions of some 7000 MTS plan members.  His opinion was delivered in a one page document with no backup, no documentation, and no rationale. Restall’s committee felt that it deserved a better explanation or at least some explanation. [RV6 p.4] Restall wrote to Singleton asking for clarification and the documentation behind the opinion in AD 870.
448. Singleton’s response to Restall’s request for information was curt:  “It is not my practice to publically release documentation supporting opinions expressed by my office. I must decline to your request to our audit documentation.” [AD 872]
449. Fox was also asked if he could produce documentation related his decision.  He obfuscated and said there was no such documentation. [AD 862 p. 04181] It was only after threatened legal recourse and subsequently, through the discovery process, that the Plaintiffs received the draft documents and information that the Provincial Auditor had so readily shared with MTS during the process.   
1.6
Governance in practice under the New Plan
450. After the new plan was established, MTS set up a Pension Committee as required by the November 7 Agreement.  However, the Pension Committee is not the governing body of the new MTS pension plan as the ERPC expected on November 7.

451. As a result of the discussion and representations of MTS before and on November 7, Praznik understood that the new plan was to be governed jointly with a similar structure to the CSSF. 

   11        Q   Did  anyone  indicate  at  that  meeting  that the

   12  governing  body would  be other than  the body  that was  set

   13  out in this particular paragraph?

   14        A   We   reviewed   this   document   line   by   line.

   15  "Governing  body" was in that document.   We discussed it in

   16  terms  of governing body  for the plan,  and the only issues

   17  that  were to be decided, which were in contention, were  the

   18  composition  of that  governing body and  the appointment of

   19  the  chair.  But the -- when we reviewed it, we talked  about

   20  governing   body  and  the  --  it  was  understood  in   the

   21  discussion  this was  the body  to run the  pension plan  and

   22  that's why the other issues became important. [V5 p. 53]

452. The government’s lawyer, Yaffe, told the House (on behalf of the government)  that the Pension Committee would be the trustee of the New Plan. 
Mr. Sale: Just so we all understand, what is the relationship between the members of the pension committee which are established under the memorandum of understanding and the trustee? 

Mr. Yaffe: The members of the pension committee would serve as the trustees under the new plan. [AD 453 p. 15850]
453. The governing body of the new plan is the Board of Directors of MTS, not the Pension Committee.  The Board of Directors has delegated its authority to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.  However, the real decision making in connection with the New Plan is done at the Plan Administrator level. 
454. Solman testified that she had a major role in the creation of the New Plan and its governance structure. [V43 p. 13]  She admitted that she had no direct experience with the governance of the Old Plan; neither did Fraser, McInnes or Williams. 

455. MTS asserts that the governance of the New Plan is similar to the Old Plan.  The Pension Committee was set up to duplicate the functions of (1) the Superannuation Board (comprised of 4 employee representatives, 4 employer representatives and a neutral Chairperson) and (2) the functions of the Liaison and Advisory Committees “mushed together”, to use Solman’s words. [V43 p. 15]

456. The Plaintiffs disagree that the governance structure emulates that of the Old Plan. 
The key difference is the presence and authority of the Plan Administrator, a feature not in the Old Plan. 

457. The Administrator has the same duties and functions as the Pension Committee with respect to making recommendations for the use of surplus and for benefit improvements. Solman testified: 

           Q                                                   …you have two  bodies,

   18  the  administrator  and then  the pension committee  who  can

   19  both   make  recommendations  on   surplus  and  on  benefit

   20  improvements; correct?

   21        A   Correct.

   22        Q   Now,  you'd agree with me that that redundancy, i n

   23  other  words, two committees doing  the same thing, is not  a

   24  feature of the old plan?

   25        A   Well, okay.  Okay.

   26        Q   In  other  words, when  the liaison  committee  and

   27  the  advisory committee  made a joint  recommendation on  the

   28  use  of surplus and on a benefit improvement, which they  did

   29  from  time  to  time, there  was  no other  body  that  could

   30  concurrently  make  its  own  recommendation  on  those same

   31  matters?

   32        A   Okay.
458. The Administrator is also one of the four employer representatives on the Pension Committee, which appears to raise the very real possibility of conflicts of interest. Solman testified that she sat on the Pension Committee as both Administrator and employer representative because she did not believe she could have disassociated her responsibilities as Administrator from her role on the Pension Committee. [V43 pp. 24-25]   

459. Solman testified that as Administrator she understood that her duty to the Pension Committee was to provide it with all the information it required to perform its function. [V43 pp. 26-27]  
         Q   Now,  one of the pension committee functions is to

   27  receive  information so  that it,  so that  the plan  members

   28  are informed about what's happening with the plan; correct?

   29        A   Correct.

   30        Q   And  so the plan members are to be kept up to dat e

   31  with  respect to important  developments through the pension

   32  committee; that fair?

   33        A   Correct. [V43 p. 33]

460. The Pension Committee, on the other hand is mandated to “assist the Administrator in administering the plan”. [Sec 2.4 of the Plan Text AD 711] 

461. The Court heard evidence that the Administrator has made all of the recommendations to the Audit committee in connection with use of surplus and other important changes to the pension plan.  

462. The Pension Committee, on the other hand, has not made a single substantial recommendation to the Audit Committee.  Moreover, the Pension Committee has been precluded by MTS representatives on the committee from even discussing issues related to the use of the surplus to fund the plan through contribution holidays.

463. Restall testified that there were two Pension Committee meetings in 1997. In 1998, one year after it was established, the MTS pension plan moved into a surplus position.  A new actuarial report as at January 1, 1998 disclosed a surplus of $31.5M.  MTS immediately chose to take a contribution holiday. Solman conceded that taking a contribution holiday is one option for the use of surplus. 

              Q   And  would you agree that when the company takes  a

    2  contribution holiday, it impacts the surplus?

    3        A   It  reduces the surplus,  so, yeah, it impacts  the

    4  surplus.  Can I add one thing though?

    5            It impacts the surplus if one exists. [V43 p. 31]

464. The decision to take a contribution holiday is reflected in Minutes of a meeting of the Audit Committee on April 29, 1998. [AD 944]  The last sentence in item (e) of the minutes states: “the [Audit] committee requested that a communications strategy be developed and circulated to the committee members in May 1998”.  

465. After the contribution holiday decision was made, there was a third meeting of the Pension Committee. In an apparent breach of her duties to the Pension Committee as Administrator, Solman intentionally did not disclose that there had been a new valuation disclosing a large surplus and that MTS had approved spending the surplus on a contribution holiday.   

         Q   And  what I want to know is -- well, you'd, you'll

   31  agree,  at  this  May 26th  pension  committee  meeting,  you

   32  didn't  provide information to the pension committee, number

   33  one, that there was a new actuarial valuation?

   34        A   Not yet, no.
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    1        Q   No, not at -- I'm just --

    2        A   Not at this meeting, no.

    3        Q   -- at this meeting?

    4        A   Correct, no, I didn't.

    5        Q   No  information  was  disclosed that  there  was  a

    6  surplus in the plan now?

    7        A   No.

    8        Q   And  no information that  the company was taking  a

    9  contribution holiday?

   10        A   Correct.

   11        Q   And  was it  a conscious decision  not to disclose

   12  that information pursuant to the communications strategy?

   13        A   Yes.
466. It was not until ten months into the contribution holiday that the employee / retiree representatives on the MTS Pension Committee learned of the contribution holiday. Litigation followed shortly thereafter. 

467. MTS’ contribution holiday lasted more than 5 years. The Company re-commenced funding in May of 2003.
468. MTS takes the position that the Pension Committee has no role or jurisdiction with respect to funding matters and that the decision to take a contribution holiday is solely a funding matter. The position is difficult to understand when one considers the duties of the Pension Committee, which include: making recommendations with respect to the use of any surplus; review and make recommendations on benefit improvements, COLA adjustments and substantial changes to the administration of the plan; and to review of financial statements and actuarial funding valuations.  Many of these duties relate to monitoring funding or using surplus for funding purposes. 
469. During the years that MTS was taking contribution holidays, the employee / retiree representatives on the Pension Committee made several recommendations to use the surplus to fund a benefit improvement.  A benefit improvement package was prepared by Ellement, on behalf of the ERPC.  However, the benefit improvements proposed were not endorsed or accepted by the employer representatives on the MTS Pension Committee.  The proposals were not even put to a vote.  Rather, a process was established to determine a benefit improvement protocol.  Ultimately, that initiative disintegrated out after MTS took the position that it was not prepared to endorse any pension benefit improvement that either would cost MTS or the plan members additional money or which used surplus.  
470. At the same time that MTS was rejecting its employees' / retirees' pension benefit improvement proposals, the Liaison and Task Force Committees in the Old Plan were finalizing the terms of a major benefit improvement funded in part out of the very same $179M surplus that existed in the CSSA when MTS was privatized.

471. AD 1064 is a letter from the Minister responsible for the CSSA dated August 16, 2000.  It is an announcement to all members of the CSSF that the pension formula in the Old Plan has been improved to increase pension benefits in respect of the Civil CSSP.  The improvement to the formula results in monthly pensions that are increased between 6% to 14%, depending on the pensioner’s final salary.  This benefit improvement was funded, in part, from the CSSA’s share of the employee surplus that was divided when MTS was privatized. Pensioners received the benefit effective September 1, 2000. There was no additional cost to pensioners for this large increase in their pensions.  

472. One of the reasons for “putting the brakes” on the benefit improvement process in the New Plan was that the Fund had suffered a loss of assets of $92M in the wake of the 911 terror attacks. Notwithstanding this loss, however, Solman recommended (without input or consultation with the Pension Committee) a continuation of the contribution holiday that began in 1998.  [V43 pp. 45-46] [AD 1055].  
473. As the Court learned from Restall’s evidence, the Pension Committee in the New Plan is completely ineffectual.  All of the decisions and determinations with respect to the pension plan are made by the Administrator and then routinely confirmed by the Audit Committee (not unlike the rubber stamp on the joint recommendations of the Liaison and Advisory Committees in the Old Plan.) Solman confirmed this in her testimony: 


    A   Has  there  ever been  a recommendation  that cam e

   26  forward  that I, that I, as, meaning the administrator, came

   27  forward that wasn't approved?

   28        Q   Yes.

   29        A   No,   I  don't  recall  any   that  had  not  been

   30  approved.

   31        Q   And  has there ever been a written  recommendation,

   32  something  like  the document  that  we're looking  at, made

   33  by   the  pension  committee  to   the  audit  committee  on

   34  anything?
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    1        A   During my time?

    2        Q   During your time.

    3        A   During my time.  No, not that I'm aware of. [V43 pp. 23-24]
474. Worse still, the Pension Committee in the new MTS plan has not even been made aware of key events affecting the plan.  The Pension Committee was not advised about the contribution holiday decisions, nor was it told of OSFI’s concerns about MTS’ actuarial valuations and funding of the plan in 2003 and 2004. The Pension Committee was not consulted or informed about the proposal to OSFI by the plan’s actuary to completely revamp the COLA account and eliminate the guarantee. [AD 1288] 

475. Finally, MTS has decided to introduce a new defined contribution plan for new employees. The Pension Committee was not consulted or advised about this prior to the  decision being made to implement it through labour relations channels. There has been no information provided to the Pension Committee about what impact this defined contribution plan would have on the COLA account or on the potential for benefit improvements in the New Plan. 
2.0 
LIST OF ISSUES
1.
What are the obligations of MTS pursuant to the November 7 Agreement and has MTS breached the November 7 Agreement?

2.
Interaction between the November 7 Agreement and Equivalency 

3.
Is the Independent Actuary’s Opinion final and conclusive?   

4. 
Are the benefits equivalent as required by s. 15(2)? 

5.
What are the appropriate Remedies for the Plaintiffs?
3.0
ARGUMENT
3.1
What are the obligations of MTS pursuant to the November 7 Agreement and has MTS breached the November 7 Agreement?

3.1.1
The Objective of the November 7 Agreement
476. The concept of equivalency has been elusive since the day the privatization of MTS was announced. 


477. The purpose of the meeting involving the Province, MTS and its employees on November 7, 1996 was to get closer to equivalency, the easy way, by achieving a consensus of the interested parties.  

478. Hansard transcripts of the Standing Committee on Public Utilities and Natural Resources of the Manitoba Legislature, which reviewed Bill 67 on a clause by clause basis, confirm that this was the purpose of the November 7 meetings.  On November 8, 1996, the then Minister responsible for the administration of the Manitoba Telephone Act, the Honourable Glen Findlay, stated:

[…] Certainly it has been the intent of the government to be sure that this very critical item for the current employees, the retired employees for MTS as a corporation and for government come to achieve what we had directed in the Bill, and that is that there be equivalency in the benefits from the old plan to the new plan.  

There has been a lot of discussion around what that means, what equivalency means.  Certainly I understand a fair bit of concern on the part of many parties.  Lots of discussion and meetings took place.  …Further negotiations happened involving the company and lead us to a position yesterday where there was some dissatisfaction with whether there really was a full and complete understanding.  

Yesterday, we had a major, major meetings involving the Minister of Finance (Mr. Stefanson) and the Minister of Energy and Mines (Mr. Praznik), employee reps and the corporation.  Certainly the opposition played a role in making sure that we got that done.  We all wanted something that was signed that represented the idea of equivalency, that gave comfort to all, that as we passed these sections, exactly what everybody wanted was really going to happen. (Emphasis added) [AD 453 p. 15846]
  
479. What equivalency meant, and how it was to be achieved, were certainly issues the Legislature was grappling with as a result of the intervention of the Plaintiffs.  In short, the November 7 Agreement was one attempt at ensuring equivalency was achieved.  The independent actuary provisions were the other  mechanism. 
480. The major issue of contest between the parties in this litigation about the November 7 Agreement revolves around the treatment of the $43.34M initial surplus. All of the witnesses that were in involved in the negotiations on November 7 agreed that the objective was to see that the initial surplus provided a benefit to plan members.     

481. Fraser agreed that the objective of the November 7 Agreement was to achieve a benefit for employee/retirees through the application of the initial surplus. 

   19        Q   Now,  do you  agree with me  generally though that

   20  in  terms  of the  process, that  because  the CSSF  is only

   21  responsible  for  50  percent  of  the  liabilities,  when  a

   22  surplus  was  identified,  employees wanted  to  access  that

   23  surplus  and  they, in  fact, entered into  negotiations  and

   24  there were changes to the act; do you agree with that?

   25        A   Yes.

   26        Q   And  would  you agree  that  with respect  to this

   27  matter,  privatization of MTS, that for January 1, 1997,  the

   28  employees  were saying there is  a surplus, above 50  percent

   29  of  the  liabilities  for  the  new  plan,  and  we  want to

   30  negotiate  and deal with  that surplus  to get some benefit;

   31  do you agree with that?

   32        A   Yes. [V34 p. 19] 

   15        Q   Well,  I, there haven't  -- you --  all I'm saying

   16  is  that under the old plan, if the government wouldn't step

   17  in,  as you say, to backstop  the 50 percent liability, that

   18  the  corollary, the  other side of  it is  that when  there's

   19  more  money than the 50 percent liability, it belongs to  the

   20  employees  and they can use it.  And that's what happened in

   21  the past; correct?

   22        A   Yes.

   23        Q   Thank  you.  Now, I want to get back then to  this

   24  plan,  to the, to  this process and  the, once again, you've

   25  agreed  that the  employees identified that  type of surplus

   26  above  50 percent  of the  liabilities and  they were asking

   27  questions  about it.  Now, eventually it led to the November

   28  7 agreement; correct?

   29        A   Yes. [V34 p. 23] 

   19        Q   And  do you  agree that the,  that the  employees',

   20  one  of  the  employees' concerns  was  with respect  to  the

   21  initial surplus and how it would be dealt with?

   22        A   Yes.

   23        Q   And  is  it fair  to say  that the  employees were

   24  asking  for some  sort of  arrangement in  which the  initial

   25  surplus,  that  is,   the assets  over  50  percent   of  the

   26  liabilities could be used to their benefit?

   27        A   Yes, I think that's fair. [V34 p. 85] 

    5        Q   Do  you agree with that, in terms of its  accuracy?

    6  That  that was the idea  of the memorandum of understanding,

    7  to  put the,  to allow the  account to be  closer to  20-year

    8  pre-funding?

    9        A   Yes.

   10        Q   And  did  you  see  that as  being  something that

   11  would,   that  would  ultimately  lead   to  a  benefit   for

   12  employees and retirees?

   13        A   Well,  that certainly  was, was  the, the  hope of

   14  all  parties.   But I  mean,  again, it depends  on interest

   15  rates  and market conditions  and all of  those factors.  So

   16  there's a, there's a lot of changing variables.

   17        Q   But the, the, the objective --

   18        A   The objective, the objective --

   19        Q   -- was to obtain a benefit?

   20        A   -- by all means, by, by all means, yes. [V34 p. 110]
482. Fraser’s hope and expectation was that the initial surplus placed in the COLA account would grow. [V34 p. 97 lns 26-31] 

483. Solman echoed Fraser’s understanding during her testimony:

   Q     And so would you agree that generally speaking the

   11  broad -- or your understanding of the broad objective of the

   12  November   7  agreement   was   to  provide   a benefit   to  employee

   13  retirees   in  the  form  of  getting   them  closer   to  higher  COLA

   14  increases?

   15        A     That'd be correct, yes, that was my understanding. [V42 p. 82]

484. Praznik testified that the initial surplus was to be used for the benefit of employees not MTS:

          Q   The next part of this paragraph is:

   14  

   15                  "Any initial surplus from the CSSF

   16                  would  be  allocated  to  the   new

   17                  pension plan  trust  fund  to fund

   18                  future     cost      of     living

   19                  adjustments."

   20  

   21            Can  you  indicate  what, what  is  being  intended

   22  there, from your perspective?

   23        A   Yes.   This was our intent -- and, again, when  you

   24  read  the documents,  Mr. Fraser's document and  this one on

   25  which  -- this  is based on that,  the fundamental  principle

   26  was  that the employee surplus that was coming over from  the

   27  civil  service fund could not be  used to the benefit of,  of

   28  MTS.     It  was   there  for  the   benefit  of  those   who

   29  contributed.   It was  their money... [V5 p. 68]
485. Restall understood the November 7 Agreement to have achieved protection of the initial surplus for the benefit of retirees and active plan members. 

   14     Just stopping there, what, what did you understand

   15  that you were agreeing to on that night?

   16    A   That the initial surplus would be placed in the

   17  indexing account and -- where it could be, it could be

   18  tracked and accounted for and, and would be used to pay for

   19  new benefits.

   20    Q   New benefits in the form of what?

   21    A   In the form of possibly an indexing benefit that

   22  we would not have got otherwise or, or other benefits could

   23  be used for formula enhancement or other type of benefit. [V4 p. 70]
486. Trach also confirmed that the object of the exercise was to use the initial surplus to produce additional benefits for plan members.   

    2        Q   So  Mr.  Fraser's  draft  had  indicated  that the

    3  surplus  would go into  the new pension  plan to fund future

    4  cost  of living adjustments and,  and you've added what's --

    5  what, what is it that you wanted to add to that, sorry?

    6        A   Well,  I'm not  sure if it  was between this  draft

    7  and  the  next one,  but at  some point  in the  drafts,  Mr.

    8  Fraser  came back  to us  and said  that we  couldn't have  a

    9  separate  account and  that the,  I think  he said  the PBSA

   10  wouldn't  allow for it, it had to  be in the same, had to be

   11  the  same  fund.   So  our,  our alternative  to  a separate

   12  account  was to put the,  the employee surplus into the COLA

   13  account  and  to park  it there  and  earmark it  for either

   14  improved  COLA benefits  above the  minimum or  to make plan

   15  improvements... [V4 p. 59]

487. Fox testified that his understanding of the effect of the November 7, 1996 Agreement (AD 440) was important to his final decision that the benefits were equivalent in value.  [V18 p. 51] Fox testified that he expected that the initial surplus would transform into a benefit for employees.  

      Q     And  with  respect   to  the  November   7  agreement   you

   25  expected   that   the  initial   surplus   would  be  --  would   go  to

   26  the employees' benefit?

   27        A     Correct.     It was  --  all  documentation    that   I had

   28  seen  clearly   indicated   that   that  initial   surplus   was  to  --

   29  going to be used for the -- to the employees' benefit.

   30        Q     Did  you  expect   that  that  employee   initial   surplus

   31  would   show   up  as  a  liability    for   future   cost  of   living

   32  increases?

   33        A     That certainly would have been helpful.

   34        Q     And  if  that  was  the  case,  then  it,  it  wouldn't   be
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    1  able  to  be  used  to  reduce   MTS's  contributions    to  the  plan;

    2  is that fair?

    3        A     I wouldn't have thought so. [V19 pp. 81-82]
The Initial Surplus was not to benefit MTS
488. The other side of the coin is that MTS made repeated representations to the ERPC and to the government that it would not use the initial surplus to its own advantage to otherwise reduce its cost or share of contributions to the New Plan. [AD 434 – November 6 Memo] &  [AD 383] The representation was the launching pad from which the parties took off to reach an agreement about the initial surplus. 
489. Restall’s committee relied on the commitment that MTS would not use the surplus to reduce any contributions that were the responsibility of MTS. [RV4 p.56] [Trach V4 pp. 45-46]

490. In the Legislature on November 7, 1996, Findlay repeated MTS’ commitment in order to assuage the fear of employees that they would lose control over their initial surplus: 

…MTS has undertaken that any surplus in employee contributions to the Civil Service Superannuation Fund will not, and I stress not, be used to reduce MTS’s costs or share of contributions to the new pension plan.[AD 446 p.15802] (Emphasis added)  

491. Praznik and Findlay had met with Fraser earlier in the day (the 12:30 meeting at the Legislature) prior to the Minister’s announcement. [AD 446 p. 15816]  Praznik testified that as a result of this meeting with Fraser he understood the November 6, 1996 memo to mean that MTS was promising not to use the initial surplus to MTS’s benefit.
    1            THE   WITNESS:    I understood  this  to  mean,   I

    2  understand  this to mean  and had had  the -- personally  the

    3  impression  others  did as  well, that  the, the  (inaudible)

    4  was  Manitoba Telephone System,  the new co  would in no  way

    5  use  those dollars  that were  the surplus  coming over from

    6  civil service fund in any way to their benefit. [V5 p. 48]
492. It is critical to appreciate that MTS’ representation was not some gratuitous gift to employees. MTS was not giving up anything that it owned or had a right to. As a crown employer MTS never had any right to use the  employee surpluses that arose in the CSSF. None of those surpluses ever went to MTS’ benefit to pay for its existing pension obligations (i.e. to fund its pay as you go costs of existing benefits). By agreement, employees allowed their surplus to be used to pay for the employer’s share of a new benefit, but that is completely different from the surplus being used to pay MTS’ regular pension costs. 

493. The initial surplus, to which the MTS representation attached, was no different than any of the earlier surpluses in the CSSA. MTS had no right to touch it unless the employees agreed and it was spent on a new benefit, which of course, was the intent of the November 7 Agreement.  The Plaintiffs have established in this case that the initial surplus did not lead to a single cent of benefit improvement. It did however get used by MTS to take contribution holidays and otherwise reduce its funding to the plan for benefits that were already existing obligations when the plan was established.   
494. In a transparently revisionist interpretation of its commitments, MTS now states that the reference to “surplus employee contributions to the CSSF” in the November 6 memo was intended only to convey MTS’ intention to contribute the full value its  pension reserve to the new MTS plan.  MTS now states that since the full MTS pension reserve was transferred to the new pension plan trust fund, the undertaking that surplus and employee contributions would not be used to reduce the MTS cost or share of contributions to the MTS plan was not breached.

495. It is flummoxing to try and understand why the employees would need that assurance when MTS is transferring into the plan less than the employees’ contribution. [V33 p. 62 – Court’s comment] The employees transferred into the plan $49M more than their 50% share of the liabilities. It is that surplus
 that they wanted assurances about. 

496. The evidence of Fraser and Solman make it clear, however, that the representation was meant to mean much more than this. Fraser testified that there were actually two promises that were being made. 

   20        Q   I   just  want  to  make  sure  I understand  you.

   21  You're saying that this last sentence:

   22  

   23                  "... this surplus will not be used

   24                  to reduce the  employer's cost  of,

   25                  and share of contributions to,  the

   26                  new pension plan."

   27  

   28            One  aspect  of  what you  were  communicating  was

   29  that  the pension reserve  would be transferred  in in  full;

   30  that's what you're saying?

   31        A   Yes.

   32        Q   And what was the other aspect?

   33        A   Well,   just  what  it  says, that  there   was no

   34  intention  of  reducing  the  employer's cost  by  using  the
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    1  surplus.

    2        Q   And  the surplus that you're  referring to in that

    3  last   answer  is  what   we  called  the  initial  surplus;

    4  correct?

    5        A   The  surplus  on  the  employees'  portion  of th e

    6  contributions, yes. [V34 p. 32-33]
497. Fraser confirmed that the ERPC asked MTS (1) will the employee surplus be used to reduce MTS’ costs?; and, (2) will MTS match the employee surplus? [AD 299 Q5(c) 5(e)] MTS’ answer to the first question was that it would not use the surplus to reduce its “cost of, and share of contributions to” the New Plan. In answer to the second question MTS said it would transfer in the full pension reserve and would be responsible for any deficit, in other words it would not match the surplus. [AD 313] [V34 pp. 37-40] Employees had never really experienced deficits in the CSSF
 so they did not view this benefit to them or a burden to MTS.   

498. Therefore, MTS would not match the employee surplus, but promised not to use it to reduce its share of contributions. Fraser confirmed that this was indeed the intention of MTS. [V34 pp. 37-40] 

499. After this exchange the ERPC sought further clarification from MTS that it would not scoop the employee surplus to finance its 50% share of accrued obligations. [AD 348]. Once again, MTS was unequivocal:   

You have expressed a concern that any surplus   accumulated   as   a result of employees'  contributions to  the   CSSF  may   be  used  to 'finance  MTS'  50% share   of  the benefits already  accrued'.   As  I stated  in  my   August  27,  1996 letter, the  surplus  will  not be used to reduce  MTS'  cost of,  and share of contributions to, the  new pension plan. [AD 383] 
500. The questions asked were straightforward. The answers given were clear and do not support MTS’ revisionist interpretation. The only reasonable interpretation of MTS’ representation is the plain and obvious one: MTS meant what it said at the time: it would not reduce its contributions by applying the employees’ surplus. 

501. Praznik was never told that the promise in the November 6, 1996 memo (AD 434) was only meant to indicate that MTS would transfer in its full pension reserve. [V5 p. 51]   

         Q   Did,  did  Mr.  Fraser  or  anyone  else,  to your

   27  recollection,  indicate that what was meant by that sentence

   28  was  that  MTS  was making  a representation  that  the full

   29  pension reserve would be put into the new plan?

   30        A   No.   The  understanding was what  was required to

   31  fully  fund the employer's share would, and that the  surplus

   32  moving  over  belonged, in  essence,  to the  pensioners  and

   33  would  be used only to their  benefit and not the benefit  of

   34  MTS.  And there was no disagreement on that point.
502. Trach also testified that MTS never communicated to him or the ERPC that all they meant by the representation was that they would put in their full reserve. [V4 pp. 50-51] 
503. Solman is not aware of any MTS documents that explain the representation in the terms that MTS now says it should be understood. 

        THE  COURT:    Well,   I think   the  question   was  quite

   11  clear.    Are  you  aware   of any  document    originating   from  MTS

   12  which   equates   the  words   won't   use  the  initial   surplus    to

   13  reduce   our  cost,   et  cetera,   to  mean   we  will  transfer   the

   14  entire   as   opposed   to   a  portion   or   none   of  the   pension

   15  reserve.     Are  you  aware   of  such  a  document   which  provides

   16  that interpretation?

   17              THE   WITNESS:      I  can   only   answer    no   to  that

   18  question. [V42 p. 69] 
Paragraph 3 of the November 7 Agreement

504. There are four sentences in paragraph 3 that must be parsed to understand the overall intent of the Agreement. [AD 440] 

1.
“MTS will provide a minimum cost of living adjustment of ⅔ of CPI with a maximum CPI of 4%;”

The Guarantee

505. Under the Old Plan the COLA account functioned such that it consistently produced COLA awards of 2/3 of inflation. The account was not fully pre-funded for 2/3 COLA awards.  However, recurring infusions of surplus ensured that it was always able to meet its obligation. MTS was and remains of the view that the guarantee of 2/3 COLA up to 4% inflation was an established obligation under the Old Plan that had to be duplicated in the new plan. [V42 pp. 89-90] [Exhibit 61 - Plaintiff’s Read-Ins Tab 6]   The guarantee represents the status quo in terms of COLA between the two plans. MTS and its actuary concluded that the new plan had to duplicate the COLA benefits delivered through the CSSA. As a result the guarantee was introduced. There were no negotiations, there were no trade offs. 

2.
If the cost of living adjustment account in any particular year is able to fund a higher increase, then a higher increase would be given for that year;
506. In his November 4, 1996 letter to Fraser, Restall suggests that the guarantee is not an enhancement to the plan. Ellement had calculated that it would not even kick in for 20 years.  Restall wanted the COLA account to operate such that awards of higher than 2/3 of 4% could be made based on available funds in the account in addition to the guarantee. He suggested that the actuaries for each side should cooperate in putting together a joint recommendation. [AD 427] 

507. The second sentence in paragraph 3 appears to capture the essence of Restall’s recommendation to incorporate the possibility of COLA awards above the cap on the guarantee. Fox interpreted it that way. [V18 p. 32] However, MTS interprets this sentence to be restricted by a 20 year pre-funding test, notwithstanding that there was no such discussion on November 7. [V34 pp. 90-91] 
3.
Any initial surplus for the CSSF would be allocated to the new MTS pension plan trust fund to fund future cost of living adjustments 

508. The guarantee was not compensation for the initial surplus, and MTS has never said otherwise. The guarantee has nothing to do with the initial surplus.

509. Employees contributed $49M more than their one half share of the liabilities in the new plan. Therefore the employees 50% share of the cost of the guarantee was fully funded on the implementation date for all accrued benefits.   

510. The initial surplus was above and beyond the guarantee and should have been available only to top up COLA awards or pay for other benefit improvements.  

4.
In subsequent years the financial position of the COLA account will be reviewed by the plans actuary, if sufficient additional assets exist in the account beyond those required for the stated COLA increase for a particular year then pension benefits may be increased provided that the liability for the pension plan in total does not increase due to the change in benefits.
511. MTS says that this paragraph was also restricted by operation of a 20 year pre-funding test.
Does the 20 Year Pre-funding Test Apply to the Initial Surplus?

512. In his direct testimony Fraser was quite diffident about whether there was a discussion about the 20 year pre-funding test applying to the initial surplus. 

   22        A   That  was   the understanding.    I   can't recall

   23  specifically,  I mean, anything sort of further around  that.

   24  But  there's (inaudible) question that  in the discussion it

   25  was  made clear that, you know, the guarantee was two-thirds

   26  of  CPI to  a maximum of  four percent and  that there was  a

   27  requirement for 20-year pre-funding. [V33 p. 77]
513. In cross examination, however, Fraser admitted that the subject of 20 year funding was not discussed on November 7. [V34 pp 95-96] & [Exhibit 61 Plaintiffs’ Read-Ins] He says he just assumed that everyone would have assumed that it was in place.  Fraser says the requirement of 20 year pre-funding was obvious and everybody should have known that it would apply. Fraser mistakenly indicated that the 20 year pre-funding restriction on COLA awards above 2/3 of 4% was a Pension Benefit Standards Act provision. It is not. It is a provision of the CSSA that was introduced in 1989/1990. Restall, Trach and Praznik did not assume that it would apply to the initial surplus. 

514. Praznik testified:
    2        Q   Was  there any discussion either  on the -- during

    3  the  course of that day or  during the course of  negotiating

    4  this  deal  that the  use of  the  initial surplus  would be

    5  bound  or  restricted  by  20-year  pre-funding restrictions

    6  that were --

    7        A   No,  that was not part  of the discussion, was not

    8  raised  by Mr.  Fraser or  any other  people as  an issue as

    9  part of this. [V5 p. 79]
515. Restall also confirmed that there was no discussion about the 20 year prefunding test. [Restall RV4 p.33]  
516. All witness agreed there was no discussion of the COLA account being a notional account; no discussion of how the account would work in practice; no discussion of what interest rate would be applied; no discussion about lump sum transfers out of the account; and no discussion of what assets would go into the COLA account other than the initial surplus.  [V34 pp. 96-97]
517. Regarding the final part of the fourth sentence that “pension benefits may be increased provided that the liability for the pension plan in total does not increase due to the change in benefits”; the evidence is that the restriction is nonsensical if it means that the plans’ liabilities cannot increase through the use of the initial surplus.  Any benefit improvement will increase liabilities; unless it is an improvement without a cost to the plan, i.e. an employee buy-back where the employee pays the entire cost. But that, of course, it has nothing to do with spending the “sufficient additional assets” recognized by the plan’s actuary.

518. Fox testified as to his interpretation of the restriction as follows:  
         THE  WITNESS:     Yes,  that  sentence.     If  you  -- the

   25  last part of the sentence there it says:  "... the liability

   26  for  the  pension   plan  in  total  does   not  increase   due  to the

   27  change in benefits."   That's an odd wording.

   28  

   29  BY MR. SAXBERG   :

   30       Q      And  did  you,  through   the  course  of  your  retainer,

   31  develop a view as to what it means?

   32       A      Well,   I,  I thought   that   they  were   trying  to  say

   33  that   the,    the   increase    could    not   create   an   unfunded

   34  liability but I think that's what I took it to mean.
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    1              THE  COURT:     You  thought   they  were   trying  to  say

    2  that?

    3              THE  WITNESS:    The  extra   increase   could  not  create

    4  an unfunded liability in the plan.

    5              Obviously,    if you   give  an  increase   to  pensioners

    6  that increases the liability so it doesn't really make a lot

    7  of sense. [V18 pp. 28-29]
519. A few minutes later, Fox further elaborated: 

           THE  COURT:    --  so  you  believe   that  sentence,   and

   16  I'm   --   apologize,    I'm   paraphrasing     and   I   may   not   be

   17  paraphrasing    accurately    but   I  want   to  make   sure   that   I

   18  understand    what   you're    saying.      You   believe   that   last

   19  sentence   was  an  attempt   to  separate   the  basic  and  the  COLA

   20  accounts so as not to create any additional liability in the

   21  basic account by a COLA improvement?

         22              THE WITNESS:  Right. [V18 p. 31]
520. Fraser’s interpretation was similar. He said the phrase meant that there could not be a benefit improvement from assets out of the COLA account if the improvement would result in a greater deficit for MTS. [V34 p. 98-99]
521. How could “pension benefits be increased” without the “liability for the pension plan in total increasing.”? Fox offered an alternative explanation; if there was already a liability in the plan associated with the improvement, i.e. COLA above 2/3 of 4%. [V18 p. 30] A liability offsetting the initial surplus would have accomplished that. Fox testified that it would have helped matters if there was  such a liability in the new plan. [V19 p. 81] 

522. The other reasonable interpretation is that the benefit improvement could not automatically increase MTS’ costs or create a deficit in the plan as a whole. In other words, that the surplus may have to pay for the full cost of any benefit improvement (unless MTS agrees otherwise), as had happened on occasion in the Old Plan. This was Restall’s view. 
3.1.2
Has MTS Breached the November 7 Agreement?

523. The Plaintiffs say that MTS has breached the November 7, 1996 Agreement (AD 440) by virtue of the way it set up and administered the COLA account. The Plaintiffs say that the COLA account was set up in such a manner that it was “terminal from day one”. 

524. The PBAA did not decline to its present $17M deficit because of poor investment experience or inaccurate actuarial assumptions. It failed because, the way it was set up, it was doomed to fail. MTS had all the necessary information available to it to know this from the very start. It was not reasonable for MTS to assume otherwise. The Plaintiffs on the other hand did not have full information on the account until years into the operation of the account. 
525. The Plaintiffs and MTS adduced evidence at trial about the complex nature of the COLA account and the confusing way it has been administered.  Due to this complexity, and due to MTS’ obfuscation, disclosure of all the features and functioning of this account came out to the Plaintiffs piece meal. As a result, it was years after the establishment of the account that the Plaintiffs fully understood the nature and extent of the problems. 

526. Ellement raised “red flags” about the operation of the COLA account immediately after receiving the plan text in November 1996. In his December 9, 1996 memo to the ERPC Ellement warned that MTS appeared to be arranging the COLA account in a manner “to avoid the 20 year pre-funding in the Account being met.” [AD 560 p. 07978]
527. Williams confirmed that in December 1996 he and Ellement did not have a “meeting of the minds” about how the COLA account should be funded and organized. 

          A     I  guess   I'm   --  you're   asking    me,  I  think,    to

   34  speculate about what was going on in Mr. Ellement's mind but
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    1  again  our,  our  conversation    was  about  how  would   the --  this

    2  operate.     Mr.  Ellement   had  previously    raised   the  issue   of

    3  what  the  amounts   would  be  allocated   in  -- to  the  adjustment

    4  account   and  I  was  explaining   that  the  MTS  would   be  funding

    5  in the main plan towards two-thirds of inflation so it would

    6  be  pre-funding    in  the  main  plan.    And  that   the  adjustment

    7  account   would   have   the  opportunity    to  increase    it  beyond

    8  two-thirds if the funding (inaudible) was met.

    9        Q     So, you didn't -- you weren't -- you didn't have a

   10  meeting   of  minds  then.    He,  he  had  one  perception,   you  had

   11  another?

   12        A     I believe we did not have a meeting of minds, yes.

   13              THE COURT:  Sorry.  Does that, does that mean that

   14  Mr. Ellement was thinking there should be a different way of

   15  accounting    for  the  funding   in  the   adjustment   account   than

   16  the  way  you  were   -- than,   than  the,   than  the  one  you  were

   17  presenting?

   18              THE WITNESS:  I, I believe so, My Lord, yes.

   19              THE COURT:  Okay. [V38 pp. 11-12] 
528. During the period when ERPC was making recommendations for plan changes, Ellement was not advised by MTS or its actuary that MTS planed to credit the COLA account with a CANSIM rate rather than the plan rate of return. Williams offered the following explanation for his omission.
         Q     And  I take   it at  this  time  you  wouldn't   have  been

   23  talking   about  interest    on the  adjustment    account,   terms   of

   24  what it was going to be?

   25        A     No.

   26        Q     And  you  wouldn't   have  talked   about  issues  such   as

   27  lump sum payments out of the account?

   28        A     No.

   29        Q     And  do  you  know  why  you --  that  that  --  from  your

   30  perspective you wouldn't have raised that?

   31        A     Well,   it  was,   you  know,   Mr.  Ellement    asking   me

   32  questions    about   the  operation    of  the  account.      I  wasn't

   33  withholding anything but Mr. Ellement and I just didn't have

   34  that discussion --
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    1        Q     I see.

    2        A     -- at the time.

    3        Q     If  you  didn't   --  if  he  didn't   ask  you  the  right

    4  question, you weren't going to volunteer these --

    5        A     No, I, I don't agree, I don't agree with that.  We

    6  --  again,   we  had  a,  a pretty   open  discussion    about  it  but

    7  we,  we  just   didn't   discuss   what   the,  the  interest    credit

    8  was, was going to be. [V38 pp. 12-13]
529. Ellement only discovered the crediting of interest at CANSIM upon receiving the second actuarial valuation report on the COLA adjustment account in 1998.  In a memo to the ERPC analyzing the COLA account valuation, Ellement raises his concern that the interest being credited to the account is far below the fund rate of return and if that continues it would have a serious decreasing impact on the funds in the account. [AD 953] [V12 p. 35]
530. It was not until he received the next full report on the actuarial valuation of the COLA account for January 1, 2000 that Ellement discovered the problem of lump sum transfers being debited from the COLA account. [AD 1059] Ellement raises his concern about this issue in his memo at AD 1054 where he notes that this type of charge never occurred in the Old Plan. There is no credit or funding made to the account to pay for these transfers (although they are funded outside the account in the main fund). They have a significant decreasing impact on the assets available for COLA and further diminish the initial surplus which was credited to the COLA account at the outset.     

531. Williams confirmed that he did not disclose to Ellement that there would be lump sum transfer debits from the account during their discussion about the plan text in December of 1996.
         Q     Well,  he's  asking   you,  as  I understand    it,  how  it

    6  was  going   to  be  funded,   what,  what   the  pluses  and   minuses

    7  were  going   to  be,  and   my  simple  question    is:    You  didn't

    8  tell  him  that,   that  one  of  the  minuses  was  going   to  be the

    9  taking    out   the,    the   lump   sums    for   people    who   have

   10  terminated?

   11        A     No, not at that time. [V38 p. 14]
532. Ellement was not satisfied with the funding structure of the COLA account in December of 1996 and he never told Williams otherwise.  

   Q     And Mr. Ellement never communicated to you that he
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    1  was  satisfied   with  the  funding   arrangement   at  any  time,  did

    2  he?

    3        A     Well,  I,  I  believe  this  was  the  --  you  know,  sort

    4  of the final written correspondence but I guess -- you know,

    5  I  guess  maybe   it's  a  mistake   but,  you  know,   silence   gives

    6  consent   and  I,  I didn't   hear  from  him.    Assumed   that,  that

    7  this was their position.

    8        Q     Yeah,   you're,   you're   making   an  assumption.     You

    9  didn't -- you weren't told by him that he was satisfied with

   10  the funding arrangement?

   11        A     That's right, it's an assumption on my part, yes. [V38 pp19-20]
533. Restall first raised the issue of the CANSIM rate being applied to the COLA account at the October 27 Pension Committee meeting in 1999. [AD 1012] He also raised questions related to the 10.2% employee contributions to the account. This Pension Committee meeting was the first time, according to McInnes, that the employees were advised that the account was a “notional account”. The phrase “notional account” is not in the plan text. [V32 p. 61]

534. Ellement made a presentation to the MTS Pension Committee on June 28, 2000. [AD 1046] He also presented to the committee a written report costing out benefit improvement recommendations.[AD 1040]  The main recommendation was an improvement to the pension formula that had already been approved for the CSSA. Regarding the COLA account, Ellement recommended changes to the accounting of the plan to separate the COLA assets from the assets dedicated to basic benefits. Ellement testified that he was attempting to establish a better debiting and crediting to the COLA account based on the November 7 Agreement.[V12 p. 46] 

         Q   Mr.   Ellement, essentially,  in  relationship  to

   34  the,  the initial surplus  that's coming  over, what are  you
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    1  attempting to replicate?

    2        A   We're  attempting to  replicate that  the employee

    3  surplus  in  the account,  which  is put  there as  an  asset

    4  amount,  was  a  credit,  there  should  be  a corresponding

    5  liability entry to make sure it's preserved for top-up. [V12 pp. 46-47]
535. From June of 2000 to the present the Plaintiffs have been consistent in terms of their critique of the COLA account and its impact on the initial surplus.
536. At the October 30, 2000 Pension Committee meeting Restall raised the issue of why is MTS not granting greater than 2/3 of inflation awards given the amount available for future COLA awards in the account.[AD 1071] [V32 p. 64]

537. At the Pension Committee meeting on March 22, 2002 Restall reiterated his disagreement with the COLA process.  (para 4(b)) In item 4(c) Trach expressed a concern about the dwindling amount of money in the COLA adjustment account. [AD 1129] 
The MTS COLA account does not duplicate the CSSA

538. In July of 2002, Ellement wrote to Trach outlining his concerns about the COLA account. [AD 1147] In the letter he attributes many of his concerns to the differences between the functioning of the MTS COLA account and the CSSA COLA adjustment account.

    2              Do  you  want  to  take  His  Lordship   through  the,  the

    3  differences as you see it?

    4        A     As I, as I see it, there's a number of differences

    5  between   the  operation   of the  CSSF   COLA  account.    It's  often

    6  referred   to  the  superannuation    adjustment    account.     If you

    7  look  under   comment,   I say   more  specifically    the  key  issues

    8  are   for    CSSF    COLA   account    reflects     all   assets    and

    9  liabilities with respect to COLA.

   10              With   respect   to  the   MTS   COLA  account    does  not

   11  reflect   all   assets   and  liabilities    with   respect   to  COLA.

   12  The second point --

   13              THE COURT:  Could you slow down?  Yes.  Go ahead.

   14              THE  WITNESS:    The  second   point,  CSSF  COLA   account

   15  reflects an interest credit very close to the rate of return

   16  of  the  fund,   that   being  CSSF.     Correspondingly,     MTS  COLA

   17  account   reflects    a  much   lower   interest   rate,   that   being

   18  CANSIM.    CSSF  COLA  account,   and  this  is,  and  the  third  item

   19  now,  CSSF   COLA  account   is  not  charged   with  any   portion   of

   20  lump  sum  transfers    out  of  the  CSSF.    Correspondingly,    the,

   21  the  MTS  COLA  account   is  charged   with  a  portion  of  lump  sum

   22  transfers out of the MTS pension plan.

   23  

   24  BY MR. MERONEK   :

   25        Q     What were the implications to the MTS COLA account

   26  by these differences?

   27        A     The  implications     are  that   the,  effectively,    the

   28  COLA    account    is   totally    decimated,     wiped    out.       It

   29  approaches,    or  is  approaching    a  point   where   it  will  have

   30  served   no   purpose   to  the   employees.      The,   the  surplus,

   31  initial surplus will not have received, never mind receiving

   32  interest credits, the principal will now be gone. [V13 pp. 14-15]
539. At the November 26, 2004 Pension Committee meeting there was further discussion with respect to the COLA account. [AD 1218]  At this meeting, McInnes noted her overriding concerns with the indexing provisions of the pension plan, stating they are overly complicated.  

540. Restall presented a report and made a motion at the December 5, 2005 Pension Committee meeting with respect to the COLA account. [AD 1251] The report is attached to the minutes. The motion was ruled inappropriate because of the ongoing lawsuit. 
541. The report outlines the Plaintiffs issues regarding the financial reporting and funding of the COLA account.  In simple terms, the Plaintiffs’ complaint is that the Indexing Account, and how it is structured, does not reflect the actual funding of COLA in the MTS pension plan.  If the COLA account reflected the true state of funding of COLA since the inception of the plan, then the $43.34M of initial surplus that was credited to the account would have grown and been used for improvements, rather than been used up through the operation of the account.  

542. There are three major problems with the COLA account.

(a)
The initial assets allocated to the account do not include all of the assets that were transferred to the new pension plan in respect of the ⅔ of 4 percent COLA guarantee.  That liability for the guarantee was estimated by Williams to be $158M.
  Since employees put in assets greater than 50% of the liabilities on day one of the plan ($424M versus $375M) employee contributions fully funded their share of the guarantee with $49M left over for COLA or other benefit improvements. 

(b)
The annual contribution allocations to the account are less than what is actually included in the actuary’s calculation of normal costs.  Normal costs are the amount of additional contributions to the plan (employer and employee) required to fund another year’s accrual of benefits.  MTS, in calculating the normal costs for this plan, includes the cost of providing future COLA awards at 2/3rds of the current estimate of inflation (MTS refers to this as funding the guarantee). However, this amount of contributions is not credited to the COLA account; rather, MTS contributes 10.2% of employee contributions plus a matching amount to the account.  This level of funding was far less than what is needed to fund the anticipated COLA benefits on new accruals.  The balance of COLA component of the normal costs is credited to the main account. The correct funding amount is the full annual normal cost component related to anticipated COLA benefits on new accruals, not the 10.2% x 2.  

(c)
The rate of interest credited to the assets in the COLA account is based on a CANSIM rate, which is significantly less than the actual plan rate of return, which is credited to the main account.

543. The Plaintiffs actuaries confirmed that had the COLA account financial reporting been done on a basis consistent with what is actually happening in the plan, then the $43M initial surplus would have grown at the plan rate of return to the point where it would have been close to $100M in 2007. [Exhibit 51]

544. Williams agreed that it was an expectation of MTS and its employees that the initial surplus would provide for COLA increases above the guaranteed level of 2/3 of 4 percent of inflation. Achieving this expectation; however, was dependent on the way the COLA account was set up and how it functioned. Williams testified:  

    Q     -- from MTS's perspective it was saying, Look, you

   22  have a potential here to get more than the guarantee because

   23  of this 43 million dollars you're putting into the account.

   24        A     I agree with that, yes.

   25        Q     Right, okay.

   26        A     Yeah.

   27        Q     And that's what everybody was expecting, right?

   28        A     Well,  I,  I  don't  know  if  they  were  expecting   that

   29  it would automatically happen.  They said that they --

   30        Q     I didn't say that.

   31        A     Yeah, they --

   32        Q     It was an expectation that --

   33        A     Yeah. 

    Q     -- greater than two-third -- greater -- that, that
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    1  the  43  million   dollars   would   be  able  to  achieve   something

    2  more than what the guarantee would provide.

    3        A     Yes, correct, I agree with that.

    4        Q     But that would depend upon how the account was set

    5  up and how it functioned, correct?

    6        A     Yes, it would. [V38 pp. 28-29]
     Q     And,  so,  it  would  have  been  in  the  best  interests

   11  of  the  plan  members  to  set  up  an account   which  would   give  a

   12  realistic   ability   for  that  account   to  be  able  to  provide   a

   13  COLA   increase   above   the  guarantee.     Would   you  agree   with

   14  that?

   15        A     Yes, I do.

   16        Q     Okay.      And   certainly     there's    no   --  was    no

   17  expectation    that  the   --  on  the  part  of  either   MTS  or  the

   18  employees,    retirees   that  that   43  million   dollars   would   go

   19  into   that   account    and   eventually    shrink   and   disappear,

   20  correct?

   21        A     Correct, yes.

   22        Q     But ultimately that's what happened, correct?

   23        A     Well, through the operation and most recently the,

   24  the adjustment account as -- has been depleted, yes. [V38 p. 29]

545. Regarding the COLA account, Solman testified that the design of the COLA account was important to ensure that the objective of the November 7 Agreement came to fruition.  
         Q     And so would you agree that generally speaking the

   11  broad -- or your understanding of the broad objective of the

   12  November   7  agreement   was   to  provide   a benefit   to  employee

   13  retirees   in  the  form  of  getting   them  closer   to  higher  COLA

   14  increases?

   15        A     That'd be correct, yes, that was my understanding.

   16        Q     And  the  only  proviso   is that   you  were  saying  it's

   17  subject to the 20-year pre-funding test?

   18        A     That's correct.

   19        Q     Now  in  terms  of  whether   the  objective   that  you've

   20  just   indicated   would   be  achieved,   the   design   of  the  COLA

   21  account would be a factor, do you agree?

   22        A     Design   of the  COLA,   yeah,  I would   agree  with  that

   23  statement, yes.

   24        Q     And   you   were   involved    in   designing    the   COLA

   25  account   through   your  involvement    in  the  preparation    of the

   26  new MTS plan text?

   27        A     Yes.

   28        Q     And  you   wouldn't   have   expected    or  you  wouldn't

   29  have wanted to design the account to fail, correct?

   30        A     Well,  the  account   was  designed   in  the  same  manner

   31  and  fashion   that  the  account  worked   under  the  Civil   Service

   32  Superannuation Act, under the government plan.

   33        Q     But  the  question   was  you  wouldn't    have  wanted   to

   34  design a COLA account that you knew was going to fail.
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    1        A     No.
546. Solman was not aware that the account did not replicate the SAA in terms of surplus injections; having all the assets and liabilities in one account; and the crediting of interest. [V42 p. 84] She conceded that it has failed to deliver on the objective of the November 7 Agreement. 

   33        Q     And   therefore     you'd   agree    with   me   that   the

   34  objective   at  least,  as  indicated   earlier   in  your  answers   of
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    1  the November 7 agreement, didn't come to fruition?

    2        A     That would be a true statement, yes. [V42  pp. 83-84]

547. The Plaintiffs’ expert, Tom Levy (“Levy”), put it this way: 

        In  the November  7th agreement,  they agreed  that

    8  some  amount, which  eventually became 43  million, would be

    9  put  into the COLA account and  from what I have seen in  the

   10  documents,  their expectation was that that 43 million  would

   11  eventually,  in some  fashion or another, find  its way into

   12  employee  and retiree pockets in  the way of better pensions

   13  worth about $43 million.

   14            And  it would have been  possible to design a COLA

   15  account  where that  would have  been true,  but that wasn't

   16  the  way this COLA account was designed.  It was designed in

   17  a   way where   any competent   actuary doing   a reasonable

   18  projection  of  what  was expected  to  happen would,  in my

   19  opinion,  conclude that the $43 million that was  transferred

   20  in  would never, in fact, get the plan to where it could  pay

   21  additional  benefits  worth anything  like  43 million.   In

   22  fact,   using the   actuary's assumptions,  it  would   never

   23  produce a penny. [V21. P. 39]

548. Williams testified that crediting the COLA account with interest at the plan rate of return would have strengthened the account. [V38 pp. 40-41]  He also agrees that it would have helped to credit the entire COLA related normal costs to the account.  [V38 pp. 40-41]  
549. Williams also admits that crediting the COLA account with all of the assets related to the guarantee that are currently housed in the main fund, would have lead to a higher balance in the COLA account. [V38 p. 42]  

550. Williams testified that there was nothing in principle to prevent these kind of credits being made to the account. 

         Q     My  question    was:     In  principle    there   would   be

    4  nothing   to  have  prevented    these  kinds   of  additions   to  the

    5  account from taking place?

    6        A     There,   there  was  nothing   in,  in principle    prevent

    7  them   other   than,    you  know,    there's,    there's   costs   and

    8  negotiations that -- to -- so, they're not prohibited by, by

    9  legislation, if that's what you're asking me.

   10        Q     Or by the plan.

   11        A     They're   --  you  know  --  they're   not  prohibited    by

   12  the plan, no. [V38 p. 43]

551. On this point Solman added: 

        Q     Right.  And you can make the pluses and minuses in

   31  that account anything because it is only notional.

   32        A     Well,   you  don't   --  it's  notional   but   you  follow

   33  the  formula   that  exists  in  the  plan  document,   so  I wouldn't

   34  use the word anything, but having said that, you do the math
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    1  as required by the, by the plan document.

    2        Q     Right.    For  instance,   if  you  wanted  to,  you  could

    3  change    the   interest    rate    and   you   could    even    do   it

    4  retroactive     in    this    notional    account     and    it   would

    5  just    change   the    way   the    numbers    present    themselves,

    6  correct?

    7        A     That would be a correct statement, yes. [V42 pp. 85-86]

552. The latest valuation of the COLA account discloses that the account has a deficit of $17M available for COLA adjustments. [Exhibit 32 ]  Ellement testified:  
   10        Q     Given the treatment of the account, is it expected

   11  to ever get out of the negative?

   12        A     No, eventually the assets will be zero.

   13        Q     On the basis of the treatment of the COLA account,

   14  is  there  an  ability  of  the  account   to  provide  more  than  the

   15  minimum guarantee?

   16        A     The  account   can't   provide   even  that.    It  has   to

   17  come from the promise on, in the text.

   18        Q     Okay.

   19              THE  COURT:    When  you  say  that,  do  you  mean  it has

   20  to be topped up by the employer?

   21              THE  WITNESS:     It  would   have  to  come  from   assets

   22  outside   of  the  account,   so  whatever   assets  are  in  the  fund

   23  would have to be used.

   24              THE  COURT:    So it  would   to come,   come  from  assets

   25  outside the adjustment account.

   26              THE WITNESS:  Yes.

   27              THE COURT:  But within the fund.

   28              THE WITNESS:  Yes.

   29              THE COURT:  Okay.

   31  BY MR. MERONEK   :

   32        Q     At  this   point  in   time,  are   those  assets   in  the

   33  fund?

   34        A     Yes.
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    1        Q     And  are  they  being  used   to provide   the  two-thirds

    2  of 4 percent?

    3        A     Yes.

    4        Q     Or  at  least   the  two-thirds   of  inflation    up  to  4

    5  percent.

    6        A     Yes.
553. Ellement says the answer to fixing the COLA account is simple: have all of the COLA related assets and all of the COLA related liabilities in the same account. Under the current structure only some of the assets are in the account, but all of the liabilities are there.  

554. Levy concurred with Ellement:
        Q   By  putting the $43 million  into the COLA  account

    8  as  per  the  memorandum  of understanding,  the  November  7

    9  agreement,  why  do you  say that  that doesn't  represent  a

   10  benefit?

   11        A   Well,  it could have represented a benefit if,  for

   12  example,  everything in the  actuarial analysis that related

   13  to  COLA was all  in this notional COLA account.   So if  the

   14  part  of the normal cost that's for COLA were going into the

   15  account,  that would  have helped.  If  the starting  balance

   16  on  the asset and liability side had been everything  related

   17  to  the past COLAs, that  would have been a  huge help.   But

   18  none  of those  things are,  in fact, there.   So  as I said

   19  before,  it  is possible  to construct  a COLA  account that

   20  involves  all the actuarial numbers  and all the assets that

   21  are  related  to  COLAs where  there  would be  a reasonable

   22  possibility  of getting value.   That just doesn't happen to

   23  be what MTS and its actuary chose to do. [V21 p. 41]

555. The Plaintiffs say that to achieve equivalency the following adjustments must be made to the COLA account, all retro-active to January 1, 1997:   

1. 
The fund rate of return be credited to the account.

2.
The COLA portion of the normal cost be credited to the account.

3.
An amount equal to the value of the 2/3 guarantee in respect of pensions accrued up to January 1, 1997 be allocated to the account on January 1, 1997.

556. MTS has acknowledged the terminal state of the COLA account. In 2007 the company engaged its actuaries at Watson Wyatt to review the operation of the account and make recommendations. 

557. In a letter to OSFI MTS proposed changes to the COLA account, prefacing the proposal by stating: “The adjustment account is not currently sufficient to provide more than the guaranteed minimum increase, nor has it ever been since inception of the Plan." [AD 1288] This is a powerful admission from MTS’ own actuary that MTS designed the COLA account to fail, in breach of the November 7 Agreement, and they ought to have known this at the time the account was established.  

558. MTS’ COLA proposal is very similar to the COLA account structure that the Plaintiffs’ have been advocating. It would include all of the assets in one account and would be funded with the full COLA normal costs with interest credits at the plan rate of the return. One major difference, however, is that MTS proposes to be released from the guarantee so that COLA awards could on occasion be lower than they would be with the guarantee in place. The concept though is that the awards would likely be larger than the guarantee in the majority of years, with the end result being a benefit to plan members.  

559. McInnes described the proposal as follows: 

         A   Yeah,  we're basically taking  the old account and

   24  moving  it to the side and saying what's a better way to  set

   25  up  an account and  to set up a  funding arrangement for  the

   26  account  on a notional basis, just  to be clear, not  funding

   27  any  other  way, but  notionally allocating,  that you  could

   28  give  any amount of CPI?  So it's not going to be two-thirds

   29  or  a  hundred percent.   It  can be  two-thirds, it  can  be

   30  four-fifths,  it can be seven-eighths of it, anywhere up  to.

   31  But  also at the same time, because of the way it's going to

   32  be,  it was going to be structured in this example, it could

   33  go  below.  But the  goal was to try to  fund it so it  would

   34  be  at least two-thirds of CPI and a far greater  opportunity
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    1  of something more.

    2        Q   Right.    And the,  it  also contemplated,  in  the

    3  second  last paragraph, that  if there was actuarial  surplus

    4  in  the main fund,  it could be  transferred to the indexing

    5  account  to  maintain adequate  funding?    That that  was  a

    6  source?

    7        A   Yes. [V32 pp. 72-73]
560. The Plaintiffs do not support the removal of the guarantee. However, the reality is that the guarantee would be redundant if the COLA account were properly constituted based on Ellement’s analysis in Exhibit 33. 

Exhibit 33

561. Ellement testified that the COLA account would have been in a state of 20 year pre-funding after 1998, such that COLA awards could exceed ⅔ of 4% in every year, and/or pension benefits could be improved, had MTS administered the COLA account properly.   

562. The first schedule is the historical operation of the CSSF adjustment account from 1997 to 2007. The average interest credit in the CSSF adjustment account between 1997 and 2007 was 8.98%. The CSSF rate of return over that period was 8.96%. There were no lump sum transfers out of the account. 

563. The 2007 amount available for future cost of living increases in the CSSA adjustment account is $81.4M. The point to remember is that the amount available for COLA adjustments doubled over the 10 years. Parenthetically, the $81M does not include a fresh surplus injection into the account of $145M which has been agreed to by the liaison committee and the advisory committee and approved by the government. [AD 1259]  

564. The next schedule deals with the operation of the MTS COLA account from 1997 to 2007. Interest credited at the CANSIM rate averaged 3.92%. The plan rate of return was 7.23%.  Lump sum transfer debits over the 10 years total $64.7M. The amount available for future COLA adjustments for 2008 is minus $17M.  

565. The COLA adjustments awarded between these two accounts has been identical and yet the MTS account was depleted while the CSSA account doubled.  

566. Table 2 is the same as Table 1 except for two differences: (1) interest at the fund rate of return (2) lump sum charges are taken out. 

567. Assets go from $64M to $152M. The amount available for future COLA goes from negative $17M to a positive $70.5M.  

568. Table  3  is  the operation of the account if it had been properly constituted from day one with all of the assets and liabilities together . 

569. If the actual COLA assets had been credited from day one of the plan they would have been comprised of three items: all of the past COLAs that have been granted ($42.7M); the guarantee for future COLAs ($158M); and the initial surplus ($43.4M) for a total of $244.1M. 

570. If the account is started off with all of the actual COLA assets and liabilities together,  the account grows from $244M to $441M at the end of 2007. Ellement has credited the actual normal costs relating to COLA to the account in each year and he has credited interest at the plan rate of return. (He allows lump sum charges now because the COLA normal costs fund these debits as part of the calculation of normal costs) 

571. The amount of assets available for future cost of living increases (column 11) is: $359M. Ellement testified that this was enough to provide for 100% COLA adjustments in every year after 1998. 

         Q     And  under  column   11  with  these  adjustments,    would

   33  the 20 year prefunding requirements be met?

   34        A     Not in the first year, but it is met in the second
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    1  year, every, every year except for the first year.

    2        Q     Meaning what?

    3        A     Meaning   that  100  percent   inflation   indexing   would

    4  be provided.
572. Ellement noted that the starting assets of $244M were all in the plan on day one and that employees had paid for more than 50% of those assets from the 424M in assets transferred from the CSSF. [V13 pp. 77-78]
3.2
Interaction between the November 7 Agreement and Equivalency

573. The November 7 Agreement and sec. 15(2) of the Act are bound up together as allies to accomplish the singular purpose and objective of ensuring employees and pensioners are held harmless from the pension effects of privatization. The Plaintiffs say that if the November Agreement is improperly interpreted or applied, then the requirement that the Plans shall be equivalent will not be achieved. 
574. As argued in the previous section, the Plaintiffs’ interpretation of  paragraph 3 of the November 7 Agreement is that the initial surplus of $43.4M (plus interest) cannot be touched by MTS to meet its existing pension obligations, but must only be used for the tangible benefit of employees (i.e. COLA or other benefit improvements).  MTS believes that it can use the initial surplus to calculate its funding obligations for existing benefits.

575. If the Plaintiffs’ interpretation is wrong, then the result is that the Plaintiffs end up paying $49M
 more than their 50% of the pension liabilities on day one of the pension plan. (Plaintiffs contributed $424M - $375M which is ½ of liabilities [AD 827] = $49M) Thus the Plaintiffs have paid $49M more to get the same benefits they had under the CSSA. Paying more for the same benefits cannot be equivalent. FitzGerald testified that if the same benefits cost more that is the same as a benefit reduction. 

         Q     I  want  to  talk  for  a  moment  about   a,  a statement

   12  you  made  yesterday.     I think  you  indicated    -- and  we  talked

   13  about  it  a  bit  --  that  if  you increase   --  and  I  think  this

   14  was in terms of the government.  If the government increased

   15  contributions, that, that's tantamount to reducing benefits?

   16        A     If they make the --

   17        Q     Yeah.

   18        A     --  if,   if  they  make   the  benefit    more  expensive

   19  to --

   20        Q     Right.

   21        A     -- the member, yes.

   22        Q     Okay.    Now,  we  know  that   49 million   dollars   more

   23  came  over   from  the   Civil  Service   Superannuation     Fund  than

   24  was   required    to   pay   for   one-half    of   the   liabilities,

   25  correct?

   26        A     Yes. [V45 p. 26]

576. The other way to look at it is that MTS employees lost their share of the surplus that existed in the CSSA on December 31, 1996.  AD 909 indicates that the surplus in the Civil Service Superannuation Fund on December 31, 1996 was $179M.  
577. What happened to the MTS employees’ portion of that surplus? If the November 7 Agreement is interpreted as MTS suggests, then the money was used to defray or reduce MTS’ cost or share of contributions to the new plan. Employees and pensioners received absolutely no benefit from the money. 

578. To make matters worse (for pensioners of MTS), the $179M surplus on December 31, 1996 in the CSSA was transformed into a major benefit improvement, effective September 1, 2000, for all CSSA members and pensioners. Harry Restall retired in 1989, 8 years before privatization. Had MTS not privatized, Restall would have remained a member of the CSSA. He and other pensioners of MTS on January 1, 1997 would have received increased pensions of between 6% and 14% for the rest of their lives beginning September 1, 2000, without having to contribute one extra cent to the pension plan.
  

579. The Plaintiffs view is that the difference in funding levels on the implementation date is essential to the question of whether equivalency has been achieved.  Fox maintains to this day that the benefits provided by the plans are not equivalent if funding contributions on day one of the plan are not equal, as is the case in the CSSA. Fox relies on the November 7, 1996 Agreement (AD 440) to find that the Plans indeed do have equal funding on Day 1, because he says the initial surplus is to be used to achieve a benefit for employees. [V19 p. 81 and 83]  

580. If the November 7, 1996 Agreement is interpreted in favour of the Plaintiffs the significance of unequal funding of the plans at inception is virtually removed as an issue in determining equivalency.
 If MTS’ interpretation is favoured then the significance of unequal funding of the plans on day one must be addressed by this court in order to achieve equivalency. 
581. It is important to appreciate that the November 7, 1996 Agreement was a last minute negotiated settlement to settle certain issues relating to the achievement of equivalency.  When it was concluded, The Findlay announced that the November 7, 1996 Agreement was a step toward achieving equivalency; a move forward in a positive direction. [AD 453 p. 15846] 
582. Thus, the November Agreement is one piece of the equivalency puzzle.  The size and nature of that piece will determine what is left to accomplish in order to achieve equivalency between the plans.
3.3
Is the Independent Actuary’s Opinion Final and Conclusive?
583. The Plaintiffs assert that the Court should quash the decision of Fox, which declares that the benefits provided by the New plan on the implementation date to be equivalent to the benefits provided through the CSSA.  

584. The Plaintiffs’ position is that the decision of Fox was a quasi-judicial determination involving sacrosanct pension rights and as such Fox owed a duty to be fair. The Plaintiffs argue that the level of fairness, although perhaps modest, i.e. not requiring a full hearing and cross examination, was nevertheless breached by virtue of the one-sided process followed by Fox.  

585. The Plaintiffs also argue that Fox was legislatively required to be “independent” but that he was not and thus he breached his statutory duty with the result being that his equivalency decision is invalid and void.      

586. Separate and apart from the Plaintiffs procedural rights to a fair hearing is the question of whether Fox’s decision can be appealed or made the subject of a form of judicial review. It is submitted that the Court of Appeal answered this question in the affirmative but left the question of what is the appropriate standard of review to the trial judge.
3.3.1
Did Fox owe a duty of Fairness?

587. MTS brought a summary judgment motion in this action to dismiss the Plaintiffs’ claim, in part; on the basis that Fox did not owe a duty to be fair to the Plaintiffs.  Justice Kennedy strongly disagreed with MTS.  At paragraphs 40 and 117 of his decision he concluded that Fox owed a duty:

40. A duty was owed, in my view, to the employees and employer.  A duty to the employees and MTS to be correct was imposed upon Fox.  The government expected independence from the actuary, not incompetence, inexperience or outside influence.  The government’s expectation in legislating as it did was entitled to correctness and it is this factor which is called into the question in the handling of the surplus, the deficit and the governance of the plan.
117. “[F]airness and correctness are essential components to the review of the actions taken by Fox.”  
154. In summary I find that in this case that Fox’s conduct and his report are subject to a duty of fairness and can be reviewed on that basis. The duty entails a duty to be fair – applying natural justice principles and allows individuals to present their case fully and fairly in an open process. Fairness allows the parties the opportunity to respond to presentations made. I conclude that there were instances where credibility issues arose and fairness may not have been applied giving rise to genuine issues for trial. [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 1]
588. The Court of Appeal referenced all of these passages in its decision dismissing MTS’ appeal of Justice Kennedy’s decision, signaling its concurrence with the learned judge’s view. [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 2]
589. MTS argued before the Court of Appeal that the determination of whether a duty of fairness was owed was an exercise in statutory interpretation. MTS “strongly argued that Fox was not subject to the rules of procedural fairness” as Fox was not a public authority. (para 111).   

590. Scott, C.J. writing for a unanimous court concluded: 

In my opinion, the motions court judge got it right when he declined to grant summary judgment in favour of MTS. MTS has not discharged is fundamental obligation to demonstrate a prima facie case that a valid claim in law with respect to equivalency has not been advanced by the employees. [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 2]
591. The Court of Appeal indicated that it would have interfered with the lower court decision if it was wrong in principle or the judge made a palpable and overriding error (at para 109). [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 2]  
592. The point is that the question of whether a duty was owned has essentially been decided. What was left to be decided was the level of procedural fairness and whether it was breached based on the facts as decided after a full vetting in open court. 

593. Notwithstanding the above, this court may benefit from a brief review of the law and the facts that give rise to Fox’s duty to be fair.  
When does a Duty of Procedural Fairness Arise?

594. In the case of Cardinal v. Kent Institution [1985] 2 S.C.R. 643 (SCC), 1985 CarswellBC 402, [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 3 p. 5 para. 14] LeDain, J. states:

This court has affirmed that there is, as a general common law principal, a duty of procedural fairness lying on every public authority making an administrative decision which is not of a legislative nature and which affects the rights, privileges or interests of an individual.  (Underlining added)

595. The Plaintiffs expect that MTS will argue that Fox did not owe a duty of fairness, since he was not a public authority; his decision was legislative in nature; and, it did not involve important individual rights.
Was Fox a Public Authority?
596. There is no question that Fox and Singleton were acting on behalf of the Government in a public authority capacity.  

597. The Public Officers Act C.C.S.M. c. P230 [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 4] defines a “Public Officer” as follows: 

“Public Officer” includes any person in the public service of the government:

(a)
on whom a duty is imposed under an Act or Regulation, or

(b)
who is authorized under an Act or Regulation to do or enforce the doing of any act or thing or exercise the power;
598. The terms “public authority” and “public officer” are synonymous.  The issue of whether a municipality was a “public officer” as defined by The Public Officers Act arose in the case of Bellemare v. Caisse populaire de Saint-Boniface Ltee [2001] 154 Man.R. (2d) 103, 2001 MBQB 25 [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 5].  In that case, McCawley, J. adopted a two stage test (@ para. 15-17).  The first stage of the test is to decide whether the defendant is a “person”.  The second stage is to decide whether the actions of the defendant are done pursuant to the execution of any statutory or other public duty or authority.  The Bellemare case is directly on point as that Court found that a private person (lawyer) may still be performing a public duty (@ para. 19).  Fox may have been a private actuary, but he was performing a public function because he was appointed pursuant to legislation.  

599. On this point, Kennedy J, stated: 

¶ 116      I am therefore of the view that Fox who clearly is a public officer in as much as he is appointed by legislation, nevertheless is designated to perform the function of determining equivalency in the pension plans in the interest of a discreet group of persons.  He is not establishing policy for the broad public interest and he is to direct his attention at fairly determining equivalency in order that the employees are provided with a fair deal over the long run. [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 2]
600. MTS also argues that the Provincial Auditor never owes a duty of fairness in carrying out his functions and since he appointed Fox, a fortiori, Fox must not owe a duty of fairness.  The premise that the Provincial Auditor does not ever owe a public duty is a flawed proposition. The question of who appoints the independent actuary (Cabinet or The President of a University) does not impact on whether a duty of fairness arises.

Was Fox’s Function Legislative in Nature?
601. Although Fox was appointed by virtue of legislation, his decision was to be his own, not a decision of the legislature. In any event, the decision on equivalency was not of a “legislative nature”. Fox was not tasked with making a broad policy choice affecting a disparate group of people with competing interests. His decision involved a one time event and was squarely aimed at a discrete group of people: the approximate 7000 MTS employees and retirees whose pension plan was being privatized.  

602. Fox’s decision cannot be said to have been a general decision of broad application.  It was expressly focused on “employees of the corporation” as defined in sec. 15(1) and s. 15(2) of the Act; nor did it involve broad public policy concerns; an ineluctable truth.  The Plaintiffs concur in the following comments of Kennedy, J.:

¶ 117  Fox was not in the position, as was the administrator in Aasland v. B.C. [1999] B.C.J. No. 1104 (BCSC) (the "Grizzly Bear Case") decision where the administrator did not have to act fairly.  He was entitled to make a decision in the general public interest to preserve the level of the grizzly bear population for the betterment of the population at large.  There is a vast difference between an administrator not consulting and not acting fairly by not consulting everyone affected, because he was given the broad mandate to preserve the grizzly bear population.  In this case there is far more at stake for the employees if the equivalency findings were not correct.  Hence fairness and correctness are essential components to the review of the actions taken by Fox.  The group here consisted of an identifiable number of employees and former employees (approximately 7000) all having a distinct interest in the issue of equivalency of the two plans.

Fox’s Opinion affects important and substantial Rights and Interests

603. Fox’s decision obviously affected the “rights, privileges and interest of individuals”.  Pension funds are a significant asset for employers and an invaluable “nest egg” for employees.  Legislative schemes (i.e. the PBSA) establish minimum standards in recognition of the importance of pension benefits to employees.  Pension benefits are earned over the course of an entire work history and represent one aspect of an individual’s total compensation.

604. The Motions Judge was correct in his assessment, set out below, that important rights of a defined and narrow group were at stake here. 

¶ 67      …the employees are a large but identifiable group, all of whom stand to loose (sic) financially if the result reached was in error.

¶ 94      In this case the Legislature assigned an independent actuary to carry out the task.  His constituency was a discrete group of people not affecting the lives or the work places of the general population and may be taken as affecting only a particular group.  The group may be affected at differing levels of financial seriousness but it is the mistreatment, if any, of the fund itself which must be handled correctly. 

¶ 112      The financial impact of non equivalence on the "employees" is substantial over the course of their receiving pension benefits.  Reliance on retirement income for a standard of living has a high degree of importance to each member to insure the right amount is calculated.  This achievement requires correctness.
605. On the importance of Fox’s decision our Court of Appeal had this to say: 

There are a legion of authorities dealing with the statutory or contractual interpretation of pensions which have emphasized the overriding importance of protecting employees’ pension benefits. As an example, see Sneddon v. British Columbia (Hydro and Power Authority), [2004] B.C.J. No. 1046 (QL). [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 2]
606. The appeal court then described pensions as sacrosanct in nature. On thing is certain, MTS would have a difficult time convincing the retirees that showed up in court for 13 weeks of sometime dry and even grueling evidence that their pensions were not matters of significant importance. 
607. This case is akin to an expropriation of property case.  The following passage from Sullivan and Driedger on the Construction of Statutes [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 6 p. 402 ] is therefore important regarding whether a duty of fairness is owed: 

In Toronto Area Transit Operating Authority v. Dell Holdings Ltd., Cory J. wrote: 

The expropriation of property is one of the ultimate exercises of governmental authority.  To take all or part of a person’s property constitutes a severe loss and a very significant interference with a citizen’s private property rights.  It follows that the power of an expropriating authority should be strictly construed in favour of those whose rights have been affected.

In light of these concerns, it is presumed that the legislature does not intend to expropriate or otherwise take away the property of a subject without compensation and without due process of law. (Emphasis added)

608. The property at issue in this case (pension assets) is also the subject of a trust.  The Government and MTS are fiduciaries with respect to the surplus pension funds at issue.  The Province was benefiting financially from the privatization. The due process necessary to determine that plan members are not harmed in this circumstance ought to be higher than the ordinary expropriation case.  
What level of procedural fairness was owed and was it breached?

609. Baker v. Canada [1999] 2 S.C.R. 817 [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 7] established the test to determine what level of procedural fairness arises in any particular circumstance.  This case held that the content of the duty of fairness in a public body varies according to five factors.  These factors are applied in the instant case as follows:

Nature of the decision being made and the process followed making it and the nature of the statutory scheme and the terms of the statute pursuant to which the body operates [@ para. 23-24]

610. There was a dispute between MTS and its employees over pension issues related to the privatization of MTS. After he was retained, Fox became aware that MTS and its employees/pensioners were at odds over pension issues. He saw his role as being similar, to some extent, to that of an arbitrator. [V18 p. 5]  The Re-Organization Act was amended to have an independent actuary resolve concerns that had been raised by employees when the privatization bill was at committee.  

611. There was a contest between MTS and its employees over what equivalency entailed. MTS had a narrow interpretation, the employees had a broad interpretation. Fox was charged with resolving the dispute. The Act is silent with respect to the procedure Fox was to follow to complete his task. However, Findlay, in announcing the independent actuary provision amendments commented at committee that the object of the exercise was to create a process that will be fair and reasonable to all concerned. 

Mr. Findlay:
If the member looks to the legislation, we get up onto 15(2), we talk about equivalent, equivalent in the broadest sense.  I think the problem probably comes in as to how you determine that equivalent really happens, and so we have had discussions around an amendment that would give everybody some comfort that equivalent will be fair and reasonable for all concerned, whether it was MTS or the retirees or the future retirees.[Emphasis added]  

I do not think we are on any different page here.  We want to be sure we have equivalency, pure and simple, that is determined by an independent analysis process…  [AD 446 p. 15817 ]
612. Since there is no appeal procedure specified in the Act, a higher content of fairness is mandated.  As stated in Baker, supra, at para. 24:
Greater procedural protections, for example, will be required when no appeal procedure is provided within the statute, or when the decision is determinative of the issue and further requests cannot be submitted.
613. The Act provides another indication regarding the level of fairness required.  MTS is mandated by s. 15(4) to take any steps necessary to resolve any concerns raised by the independent actuary in a report prepared for the purposes of s. 15(3).  The fact that section refers to a “report” prepared for the purposes of s. 15(3) contemplates the independent actuary issuing something akin to written reasons for a judgment or at least an articulation of the basis upon which he reached his conclusion.  All these factors tend to militate in favour of a higher degree of procedural fairness.

What is the extent of the importance of the decision to the individuals affected?  [@ para. 25]
614. In this regard, Justice L’Heureux-Dubé in Baker, supra stated at para. 25:

The more important the decision is to the lives of those affected and the greater its impact on that person or those persons, the more stringent the procedural protections that will be mandated.  […]
615. The importance of a decision to the individuals affected constitutes a significant factor affecting the content of the duty of procedural fairness.

616. A person’s pension fund, which he/she has spent much of his/her working life contributing to so that there may be financial security in old age, resonates as an extremely important interest.  
617. The outcome of this case will determine the fate of the initial surplus of $43.4M, which if it had not been spent by MTS would have grown to approximately $100M at the actual plan rate of return. The employees argue that this is their money and that MTS has been unjustly enriched by virtue of its one sided accounting of the COLA account where the initial surplus was placed for safekeeping. This case is also about comparing what the pensioners are receiving now versus their entitlement under the CSSA. It would be simply absurd to suggest that these issues of surplus, initial funding and governance of the pension plan are not important. 

618. The employees rights and pension assets were transferred to MTS at privatization. The employees were deemed to consent to this transfer by legislation. However a precondition to that consent is the assurance of equivalent benefits in the broadest sense.   

619. On November 7, 1996, Findlay was speaking about Bill 67 and issues that had been raised and had to be resolved at the committee stage of the Bills enactment. He said “[p]robably the most important issue certainly relates to the new pension plan for MTS employees and retirees.” [AD 446 p. 15801]
620. At the heart of the question concerning equivalency was ensuring that equivalency has been achieved. This was a critical issue for 7000 people who would all be affected by the decision.  The government and MTS employees and retirees were counting on Fox getting it right. He had a duty to be correct; otherwise, he would defeat the objective of the Act, which was to protect employees’ pensions in the wake of privatization by ensuring the benefits were truly equivalent in the broadest sense.  

621. Fox’s assignment was extremely important and there was no room for error. This connotes that a high level of procedural fairness, diligence and professionalism was required of Fox.  

What were/are the legitimate expectations of the parties challenging the decision?  [@ para. 26]
622. As L’Heureux-Dubé J. stated at para. 26:

As applied in Canada, if a legitimate expectation is found to exist, this will affect the content of the duty of fairness owed to the individual or individuals affected by the decision.  If the claimant has a legitimate expectation that a certain procedure will be followed, this procedure will be required by the duty of fairness [. . .] Similarly, if a claimant has a legitimate expectation that a result will be reached in his or her case, fairness may require more extensive procedural rights than would otherwise be accorded [. . .]
623. This factor is entirely applicable to this case, because Fox and Singleton issued a process memo that outlined the “steps that will be followed prior to providing our opinion”.  The Plaintiffs had the legitimate expectation that this procedure would be followed and that if there were additional steps (i.e. providing key draft documents to MTS only, receiving MTS’ input regarding the documents, and holding telephone conferences and meetings to discuss the drafts) they would be alerted and given the same opportunity.  More importantly, the Plaintiffs had a legitimate expectation that the plans would be found not to be equivalent due to surplus, funding and governance imbalances.  The Plaintiffs asked for, but never received, copies of all communications between Fox/Singleton and MTS.  
624. MTS asserts that Restall was satisfied with the process and the level of access he had to Fox and Singleton.  Restall did not express any concerns about the process at the time that it was underway because he was not aware that Fox had dramatically deviated from the steps set out in the process memo.  He was satisfied because he assumed that he was being given the same opportunities as MTS to present his side of the dispute.

625. Restall did not know that the definition of equivalency was altered by Singleton without Fox’s consent or approbation. Restall did not know that Fox did not agree with or endorse Singleton’s definition of equivalency. He did not know that Fox had drafted an opinion in the Plaintiffs’ favour, which was given to MTS; that MTS made their objections known, and that Fox completely reversed his position.

626. The Plaintiffs expected Fox to be a truly “independent actuary” in all senses, impartial, neutral and fair.  The process contemplated that all parties could avail themselves of the opportunity to provide their definition of equivalency in value to Fox.  It did not countenance Fox and Singleton allowing MTS the opportunity of reviewing and participating in the final determination of the definition on equivalency in value or to review Fox’s draft opinion with a view to persuading him to change his mind; and it certainly did not contemplate such a process to the exclusion of the one group, who had as much, if not more, of a vested interest in the outcome of Fox’s determination.

What is the nature and extent of the procedural discretion accorded to the body?  [@ para. 27]
627. On this final aspect of the analysis L’Heureux-Dubé J. stated as follows:

Fifth, the analysis of what procedures the duty of fairness requires should also take into account and respect the choices of procedure made by the agency itself, particularly when the statute leaves to the decision-maker the ability to choose its own procedures, or when the agency has an expertise in determining what procedures are appropriate in the circumstances …

628. The Act is silent regarding the precise procedure to follow. Fox created a procedure and process that was his idea. [V.18 p. 58]   However, the ultimate process that he followed was imposed on him by Singleton.  Singleton unilaterally chose to provide MTS with draft documents and to solicit and incorporate their input into Fox’s work (i.e. the definition letter and the deletion of the funding paragraph).

629. Fox testified that he did not want the funding paragraph to be deleted and he did not want to meet with MTS to discuss his draft opinion. 

630. As stated by L’Heureux-Dubé J. on this point @ para. 28:

[t]he values underlying the duty of procedural fairness relate to the principle that the individual or individuals affected should have the opportunity to present their case fully and fairly, and have decisions affecting their rights, interests or privileges made using a fair, impartial and open process, appropriate to the statutory, institutional and social context of the decision.
631. The Plaintiffs’ case before Fox was not handled fairly and openly and their rights were severely affected in a manner that was inappropriate and palpably partial to MTS.  As a result of this foregoing analysis, Fox owed the Plaintiffs a higher standard of fairness than was afforded.  Finally, it is submitted that the duty to be fair in this case required Fox to issue written reasons explaining his decision.

Did Fox Breach His Duty to be Fair?

632. At the outset of this analysis, it is crucial to appreciate that the standard of review with respect to breaches of procedural fairness is always correctness.  There is no room for curial deference to a public authority's assessment of the requirements of natural justice and procedural fairness.  Denial of a fair hearing will always render the decision invalid (see:  Cardinal v. Kent Institution, supra [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 3 @ para. 23]).  
633. MTS will assert that Fox was only drafting a professional actuarial opinion, no different than a legal opinion with no commensurate requirement of procedural fairness to parties affected. The first observation to this analogy is that when a lawyer gives an opinion it is only for one client (or, if there are multiple clients, they must have the same interests). Unless it is an arbitration, where procedural fairness obviously applies. 

634. Professional opinions, in this sense, do not affect two or more parties with competing interests. So the analogy fails miserably. 

635. In any event, consider the following: This case is about the imposed transfer or expropriation of pension assets and pension rights from a secure government pension plan to a private plan where the terrain, from the plan member’s perspective, is uncharted waters. It is a forced relocation. Rights and property are at stake. It is an elementary principle of law that a man shall not suffer in person or in property unless he has had an opportunity of being heard. It is presumed that the Legislature does not intend to expropriate or otherwise take away the property of a subject without compensation and without due process of law.
636. The most minimal amount of fairness in a case involving the determination of important rights and interests requires being told the case against you and being given an opportunity to respond to it. The Plaintiffs say that even this absolute minimal level of fairness was breached as a result of the process that Singleton imposed on Fox and the interested parties.  

637. The process that Fox followed to reach his opinion on equivalency was heavily biased in MTS’ favour. The Plaintiffs were given two half-hour interviews with Fox. MTS was given the following opportunities and information: 

· MTS met with the Provincial Auditor’s Office to discuss the Independent Actuary’s review prior to the Independent Actuary being retained;  

· MTS met with Fox on December 2, 1996 to discuss equivalency prior to the process for consultation being established on December 17; 

· MTS’ actuary met with Fox separately on December 11, 1996;

· MTS received a draft version of the definition of equivalency

· MTS spoke to Singleton about the draft definition and made suggestions for deletions that were later incorporated by Singleton into the final definition of equivalency; 

· MTS received the February 18, 1997 draft opinion of Fox;

· MTS met with Singleton and Fox on February 19, 1997 to discuss the draft opinion;

· MTS raised new arguments (February 19 briefing note AD 813) and brought new information to the table on February 19, 1997 (the initial actuarial valuation) that the Plaintiffs were unaware of and could not respond to.

638. This bias toward MTS occurred in the face of two specific requests by the Plaintiffs that they be kept abreast of all communications between Fox/Provincial Auditor and MTS. Corp testified that the reason he wanted this information was so that he could respond to errors or contentious issues raised by MTS or the Provincial Auditor. [V8 p. 70-71]   
The Process Established by Fox in His "Process Memo" Was Not Followed
639. Fox testified that since he was assuming an arbiter-like role it would have been fair to give all of the interested parties the same opportunities.  Fox testified that “equivalent in value” was not a common actuarial term; it could mean a lot of things. As a result, he determined that it was necessary to obtain the input of the parties that would be affected by his decision.  The above speaks to a balanced quasi-judicial process in the sense that he was giving each side and equal and fair opportunity to express its views on what equivalency meant. 

640. Fox testified that he did not intend or think it fair to give one party special opportunities and advantages to make their case over the other. He would not be impartial if he did that. 

641. On this point Fox testified:    
        Q      I  believe  you  just  indicated    that  you  agreed  that

   14  it  wouldn't   be independent    to  favour  one  party  over   another

   15  -- over the other party in this determination?

   16       A      Correct.

   17       Q      And  I  then   follow   that   by  saying   therefore,    it

   18  wouldn't     be   appropriate     to    give    one    party    greater

   19  opportunities     than  the   other   party,   to  make   their   views

   20  known to you?

   21       A      We,  we  schedule    --  try  to  schedule   everybody    at

   22  the same time so I would have to agree with that. [V18 p. 12]

642. The reality is that Singleton is the one that changed the fair and balanced process established by Fox: Singleton interfered. 

643. Singleton’s actions are explained by his belief that neither he nor Fox had an obligation to be fair to interested parties in carrying out the assignment under Section 15(3) of The Re-Organization Act.  Singleton testified that he did not owe a duty to be fair in carrying out his responsibilities under The Re-Organization Act.
   11        Q   Well,   would  you   agree  that   the,  that   the

   12  employees  should have been provided  with a copy of, of  the

   13  drafts,  either the equivalence in value draft, or the  draft

   14  opinion,  in order for  the process to  have been a balanced

   15  one?

   16        A   No.

   17        Q   And, and is that the --

   18            THE COURT:  Just, well, just --

   19            MR. SAXBERG:  Sorry.

   20            THE COURT:  Yes, go ahead.

   21  

   22  BY MR. SAXBERG:

   23        Q   Did  you not  see it  as being  important that  the

   24  plan  members  and  retirees received  the  same  information

   25  that  MTS was  receiving in terms  of the work  that Mr.  Fox

   26  was doing?

   27        A   My  view was  that it  was important  that Mr.  Fox

   28  conduct  a  process,  interview those  people  he  needed to

   29  interview,  obtain  sufficient  and appropriate  evidence to

   30  support  his opinion.  And as long as that was  accomplished,

   31  that was the end of my concern.

   32            THE   COURT:     That's  not   responsive  to   the

   33  question.

   34            THE  WITNESS:    So --  okay,  you're  right, Your
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    1  Honour.  Please repeat the question.

    2  

    3  BY MR. SAXBERG:

    4        Q   Well,  did you  not see  it as  important that  the

    5  plan  members and  retirees receive the  same information as

    6  MTS, in terms of the work that Mr. Fox was doing?

    7        A   No, I did not.

    8        Q   And are you saying --

    9            THE COURT:  Just, just let ...  Yes.

   10  

   11  BY MR. SAXBERG:

   12        Q   Are  you saying  that fairness  and balance  didn't

   13  enter  into the  equation here  in terms of  how the  process

   14  unraveled?

   15        A   I'm not sure what you mean by "unraveled".

   16        Q   Unfolded.

   17        A   Well, yes, that's what I'm saying.

   18            THE   COURT:    You say   there was   fairness  and

   19  balance?

   20            THE  WITNESS:   No, I'm saying  that that was not,

   21  not of primary importance.

   22  

   23  BY MR. SAXBERG:

   24        Q   You  didn't  view  fairness and  balance  as  being

   25  something that needed to be part of the process?

   26        A   That's correct.

   27        Q   In  other words, that it wouldn't be  inappropriate

   28  for  one  side to get  certain  advantages procedurally over

   29  the other side?

   30        A   As  long  as the  correct opinion was  arrived  at,

   31  that was all that I was concerned about.

   32        Q   How  would  you determine  if the  correct  opinion

   33  was arrived at if the process wasn't fair?

   34        A   Well,   as  I've  already indicated   a couple  of
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    1  times,  I, I did that by  conversations with Mr. Fox, trying

    2  to  assess  the   extent  to  which he  was   exercising  due

    3  diligence  in  arriving at  his  conclusion.   By  having my

    4  staff  assist  him  and  gather  sufficient  and appropriate

    5  documentation  and arranging those  meetings that he thought

    6  he  needed to have  to arrive at  his conclusion.   And so  I

    7  satisfied  myself that  he, it  appeared  to me that  he  was

    8  doing  his work with  due diligence and  therefore, I should

    9 be satisfied with the opinion he arrived at. [V40  pp. 34-36]

644. The insouciance of Singleton is further evidenced by his approach to fairness in the context of providing MTS with a copy of Fox’s draft definition of equivalency (as re-worked by the Provincial Auditor) when he concedes that it was not necessary or essential for him to send MTS the Fox definition letter. 

   32        Q   Would  you agree that it  wasn't necessary for  you

   33  to  send  this draft  definition of  equivalence to  MTS  and

   34  solicit their views?
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    1        A   Yes, it wasn't necessary [V40 pp. 9-10]
645. The process was unfair because the Plaintiffs were not aware of the case they had to meet and MTS had a greater opportunity to make out its case.  The process was not balanced or fair. The Plaintiffs were treated like second class participants in the process to determine equivalency, which is truly ironic because s. 15(2) speaks of benefits being equivalent on the implementation date, not the liabilities of MTS.  S.15(9) in the Act speaks to MTS’ obligation to fund any unfunded liability. It does not say that MTS’ obligations have to be commensurate with its past obligation under the CSSA.  Section 15(9) does not say that if liabilities are higher, that factor can be taken into account to reflect some balance, i.e. that benefits must be lowered to account for a liability increase. 

646. Even more dubious is the fact that after Fox rendered his decision, he was asked by the Plaintiffs to provide reasons for his opinion.  That request was flatly denied by Singleton.  In his presentation to TEAM Fox said there was no additional information or documentation on how he arrived at his decision available. 

647. What Fox did was analogous to a judge sharing draft reasons for judgment with one party to the exclusion of the other party, receiving submissions from that party, and then changing his/her decision to the benefit of the party that received the draft.  These actions strike at the very root of natural justice principles. 

648. The seminal case of Kane v. University of British Columbia [1980] (SCC) [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 8] is instructive in terms of whether Fox breached his duty to be fair.  The case stands for the following propositions:

The tribunal must listen fairly to both sides, giving the parties to the controversy a fair opportunity for correcting or contradicting any relevant statement prejudicial to their views; (paragraph 32)

It is a cardinal principle of law that, unless expressly or by necessary implication empowered to act ex parte, an appellant authority must not hold private interviews with witnesses or hear evidence in the absence of a party whose conduct is impugned and under scrutiny.  Such a party must “know the case which is made against him.  He must know what evidence has been given and what statements have been made affecting him: and he must be given a fair opportunity to correct or contradict them…  whoever is to adjudicate must not hear evidence or receive representations from one side behind the back of the other”.  A quasi judicial officer must exercise powers in accordance with the rules of nature justice and must not hear one side in the absence of the other.  (paragraph 33)  [Emphasis Added]
649. The Court enunciated the following principles:

… if … he takes into consideration evidence which might have been, but was not, given at the public enquiry, but was given ex parte afterwards without the owners having any opportunity whatsoever to deal with that evidence, then it seems to me that the confirming order was not within the powers of the Act.  (paragraph 33)

▪
Each party to a hearing is entitled to be informed of, and to be make representations, with respect to evidence which affected the disposition of the case (paragraph 36).

▪
The Court will not enquire whether the evidence did work to the prejudice of one of the parties; it is sufficient that it might have done so.  “We are not here concerned with proof of actual prejudice, but rather with the possibility where the likelihood of prejudice in the eyes of reasonable persons.”  (paragraph 37)
650. The case of Peace Hills General Insurance Co. v. Doolaege [2005] (Alta Q.B.)  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 9] pertains to a situation where an insured and an insurer disputed the value of insurable items after a fire loss had occurred. 

651. Pursuant to the applicable legislation, each party hired an appraiser to give representations to an umpire who would determine the matter.  In this case the following three things occurred during the umpire’s process in reaching his decision:

· The umpire received correspondence from one appraisal without the other’s knowledge (paragraph 63);

 

· One appraiser wrote a letter to the Superintendent of Insurance which was copied to the umpire but not to the other appraiser alleging that the other appraiser had lied to the umpire prior to a hearing of this matter; and (paragraphs 63 and 70)

 

· Following the hearing, the umpire received and considered additional submissions from one of the appraisers without the knowledge of, or any response from, the other appraiser and it appears that the umpire changed his decision to reflect those submissions (paragraph 63).

652. In result, the Court quashed the umpire’s final decision.  The Court specifically stated in its reasons that the further submissions of the appraiser without the benefit of a response from the other appraiser “compromised the process” and that even though it did not appear that there was actual prejudice, the Court applied the Supreme Court of Canada decision in Kane for the proposition that actual prejudice does not have to be proven.

653. In this case, MTS provided further information to, and was communicating with, Fox and Singleton without the knowledge of the Plaintiffs.  The Plaintiffs never had an opportunity to respond to this new information.  This new information materially affected Fox. The Plaintiffs should have been given the opportunity to respond to the information. Had they been given the opportunity they would have provided Fox with detailed submissions on the treatment of surplus in the Old Plan and responded to Barker’s assertion that they had a misconception about control over surplus in the CSSA; their concerns about the operation and funding of the COLA account along the lines of the comments made by Ellement in his memo at AD 560 where he states that it appears that MTS is setting up the account so that it will never achieve 20 year prefunding; they would have discussed the errors in the February 19 briefing note; and they would have critiqued the $63M write down in assets for all the reasons enunciated by Levy, among other things.   

Fox was not Independent

654. Section 15(3) requires Fox to be an “independent” actuary.  The use of the word “independent” was specifically chosen by the Legislature; ergo, it must have some purpose and meaning.  So what does “independent” mean in the context of the Act? 

655. Blacks Law Dictionary (8th ed.) speaks of independent advice as being “Counsel that is impartial” [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 10 ].  Acting impartially means to be fair and not favour one side over another, particularly where parties have conflicting interests, as is the case here with MTS and its employees; Webster’s Universal College Dictionary (1997 ed.) defines ‘independent’ as “not influenced or controlled by others; thinking or acting for oneself.”  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 11]  It defines ‘impartial’ as “not partial or biased; fair; just: an impartial judge.” 

656. Lack of independence is a ground of judicial review which sometimes is subsumed under the rubric of bias, but is now generally treated as a separate basis for intervention, standing in contrast to impartiality: Canadian Encyclopaedic Digest @ 235 [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 12].  
657. Therefore, independence connotes due process – a duty to be fair – natural justice.  Thus the starting presumption in this case must be that procedural fairness was required.

658. It is incontrovertible that Singleton interfered with Fox’s assignment by providing MTS with special advantages over its employees to make their case to Fox. It is also readily apparent that he interfered with and impacted Fox’s independence by changing Fox’s definition of equivalency and challenging Fox’s February 18 draft opinion, and in so doing imposed his own views on Fox. 

Provincial Auditor’s Office Interference

659. Praznik says that it may have been his idea to have the Provincial Auditor be the office to appoint an “independent actuary”. He said that his idea was that the Provincial Auditor would simply appoint the independent actuary. The task was singular, there was no other function. Praznik says they could have designated the President of the University of Manitoba to perform this function.[V5 p.64]  Singleton was engaged for his perceived independence from the government with the restricted role to appoint an independent arbitrator to resolve the outstanding issues involving equivalency. 

660. It is difficult to see how Singleton could have proceeded in the way that he did without actual knowledge that he was functioning well beyond his authority and power. Subsections 15(3) & (4) of the Act are clear:

Independent Actuary to review plan

15(3) 
As soon as possible after this Act receives royal consent, the Provincial Auditor shall appoint an independent actuary to review the plan proposed by the corporation for the purposes of clause (2)(a) to determine whether the benefits under the proposed plan are equivalent in value as required by that clause.

Concerns of Independent Actuary to be addressed

15(4)
The corporation shall take any steps necessary to resolve any concerns raised by the independent actuary in a report prepared for the purposes of subsection (3).  [Exhibit 4]

661. The meaning and effect of the above provisions is obvious.  The Provincial Auditor's function was limited to selecting the adjudicator of equivalence, full stop. Even Singleton admitted the words of the legislation say no more: 
   34        Q     Now, Section fifteen three indicates that you were
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    1  to   appoint   an   independent    actuary.      Is  there,    to  your

    2  knowledge,   any  other   reference   in the  act  to  the  provincial

    3  auditor's function in this matter?

    4        A     I  don't  recall   any  other  section   that   relates   to

    5  the provincial auditor.

    6        Q     Is   there    any   reference     in   the   act   to   the

    7  provincial    auditor  doing   anything   more   than  appointing   the

    8  independent actuary?

                9        A     Not to the best of my recollection. [Singleton V38 pp.68-69]

662. Fox was not ‘independent’ of Singleton since it cannot be said that he was “not influenced or controlled” by Singleton. He let Singleton change his fair process into a biased process grossly in favour of MTS.  All of the documents produced by Fox were changed by the Provincial Auditor's Office.  None were finalized until Singleton had his input and imprimatur.  

          Q     So  we'll   move  to   another   topic.    Mr.,   Mr.  Fox,

   23  would   you  agree   with   respect   to  the  provincial    auditor's

   24  office   and  their  involvement    in  your  assignment    that  there

   25  wasn't   a single   document   that  you  produced   and  sent   to the

   26  provincial    auditor   that   wasn't   revised   by   the  provincial

   27  auditor?

   28        A     Correct.

   29        Q     Do you agree with that statement?

   30        A     I agree with that statement, yes.

   31        Q     And  do  you   agree   that  many   of  the  changes   were

   32  made without your input or knowledge?

   33        A     I would have to agree, yes. [V19 p. 115] 
Fox Allowed Singleton and His Staff to Impose Their Views on Him and the Plaintiffs Were Not Given the Opportunity to Respond to Those Positions
663. Paterson spent 177 hours working on the equivalency opinion of Fox.  The total hours expended by Fox were roughly half that amount (after taking into account Fox’s admission that he double-billed the Provincial Auditor) [V24 p. 55] 
664. Indeed, the Provincial Auditor’s Office wrote several versions of its own opinion on the question of equivalence and transmitted those opinions to Fox.  The Plaintiffs were never given an opportunity to respond to the Provincial Auditor’s views. MTS was, Fraser talked to Singleton twice. 
665. The Provincial Auditor’s Office clearly believed that it was entitled to participate in the decision made by Fox.  Every document produced in connection with the equivalency assignment contains language indicating that the Provincial Auditor’s Office believed it had a role in determining equivalence.  For instance, the invitation letter states that Fox will be acting as Singleton’s “agent”.  The process memo, on the Provincial Auditor’s letterhead, references “our opinion” several times, and expressly indicates that the Provincial Auditor’s Office would be making its own recommendations regarding equivalency.  

666. Paterson testified that the references to “our opinion” and “we reviewed” in the process letter, invitation letter, definition of equivalency and Fox’s opinion were intended to mean the Provincial Auditor’s Office including Clifford Fox. [V24 p. 8 and p. 12]      
Singleton’s Interference with Fox’s Definition of Equivalency

667. The evidence is that Singleton created the final definition of equivalence that was circulated to interested parties. He admits that was not his role. 

         Q     To fulfill your function did you have a view as to

   22  whether   or   not  you  had   to  come   up  with   a  definition    of

   23  equivalency?

   24        A     It  was  my view  that   it would   be up  to  the  actuary

   25  to ultimately decide what the appropriate definition of that

   26  was.   To  the  extent   that  we could   assist  and  facilitate   him

   27  in arriving at that definition, we were prepared to do so.
668. Singleton sent the definition of equivalency letter to Fraser, solicited his comments, and spoke to Fraser without even involving Fox. He then made a material and substantive change to the definition of equivalency letter without even consulting with Fox. [V19 p. 39] The “secondary objective” that Singleton deleted from the definition was about the funding of benefits on day one, which Fox considered to be a primary consideration. Taking out the funding paragraph obviously narrowed the definition of equivalency. 
669. Johnson testified that Singleton’s view from the very beginning of the assignment was that the review was restricted to consideration of financial benefits and not the funding of those benefits or the use and control of surplus. [V23 pp. 3-4]  That narrow definition of equivalence completely aligned with MTS’ position.  

670. Fox was surprised that the draft definition of equivalency was sent to Fraser because everyone had been consulted already. It appeared to Fox that MTS was getting “an extra kick at the cat”. [V19 p. 39]  Fox testified that he did not authorize or support the changes that Singleton made to the definition of equivalency. 

          Q     Did   you   authorize    the  funding    paragraph    being

   11    dropped?

   12        A     No.

   13        Q     Okay.     We  were  looking    at  agreed   document   800,

   14  which  is  the  final  version.    Did  you  even  see  this  document

   15  before it was sent to interested parties?

   16        A     I  don't   believe   I  did,   the  final   I  didn't.     I

   17  don't think I saw it before it was faxed to me on the 5th or

   18  4th or ...

   19        Q     Did  you   have  any  discussions    with   Mr.  Singleton

   20  about that funding paragraph?

   21        A     No.

   22        Q     At any time?

   23        A     I don't, I don't recall, no.

   24        Q     And   you   didn't   have   any   discussions    with   Mr.

   25  Fraser about that final paragraph, did you?

   26        A     No.  I've never talked to Bill Fraser in my life.

   27        Q     So  looking   at,   at  agreed   document   800,   is  this

   28  your definition of equivalency --

   29        A     No.

   30        Q     -- that you used?

   31        A     No.

   32        Q     Fair  to  say  this  is  Jon  Singleton's   definition    of

   33  equivalency?

   34        A     That's someone's definition, it's not mine. [V19 p. 41]
671. The definition letter sent out to interested parties was not Fox's definition of the meaning of equivalent in value.  Fox testified that his definition of equivalency on the date that Singleton sent his definition out to the Plaintiffs included funding of benefits on the implementation date, surplus on implementation, governance, reciprocity and to some degree emerging surplus utilization. [V19 pp. 42-42] 
672. The definition of equivalency is essential to determine equivalency; which is trite. How can Fox’s opinion stand if the parties to his Opinion were misinformed as to the definition he would use to reach his conclusion? Had Fox’s actual definition of equivalency been circulated to the interested parties, Fox would have at least had to explain the basis upon which he ultimately concluded that surplus, funding and governance were equivalent.  
Singleton’s Interference with Fox’s February 18 Opinion

673. Fox’s February 18, 1997 opinion (AD 806) determined that the benefits provided by the New Plan were not equivalent in value to the CSSA because of the initial funding levels and because of the control MTS was exerting over all future surplus. 

674. Fox also said that governance was a major concern that should be worked out by the parties for the plan to operate satisfactorily. 


675. The evidence is that Singleton challenged Fox on his opinion at the morning meeting on February 19, 1997. Singleton did not see the linkage between the funding of benefits, surplus control and governance to equivalency. In other words, he was advocating his narrow definition of equivalency.   Johnson is the only witness who remembers this discussion. His evidence is not contested. He testified in a forthright manner and there is no reason to critique his memory or his objectiveness and impartiality. 

676. The obvious inference is that Fox may have narrowed the definition of equivalency by excluding funding, surplus and governance as a result of Singleton’s critique. 

677. Johnson’s recitation of his telephone discussion with Fox fully supports this inference. Recall Johnson’s testimony: 

   32        Q   What happened next in terms of, of Mr. Fox?

   33        A   Several  days after that meeting, Cliff Fox  phoned

   34  me  and he said he was  having trouble with his report.   And
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    1  I  said, like why are you phoning  me, I can't help you with

    2  your  report, it's your -- this is  -- it's your report.  He

    3  says,  yeah, no, I know, I  understand that.  And he says,  I

    4  just  wanted to confirm my  understanding of what took  place

    5  at  that meeting.   And so  we sort of  rehashed the  meeting

    6  and  Jon Singleton's concern about  what is the linkage.  So

    7  we  discussed  that,  and  then,  and  then  I  was  kind of

    8  surprised,  Cliff  said, what  if there  is  no linkage?    I

    9  said,  oh, well, then  does that mean  the benefits would be

   10  equal  or like what is, what is  the impact of that?  And he

   11  says,  he agreed that they  would be, he said, well,  they're

   12  probably  better under the new plan than under the old  plan,

   13  and  that's  a,  that's  a  positive  thing  and  the report

   14  probably should reflect that, then. [V23 pp. 32-33]
678. Paterson’s testimony is directly supportive of the contention that Fox narrowed his definition after meeting with Singleton and later Barker of MTS. Paterson testified:

Q     Agreed document 859.

    4        A     Okay.

    5        Q     It's   an  audit   completion   report.     Is   that  your

    6  handwriting?

    7        A     Yes, it is.

    8        Q     The  second   dash  --  or,   sorry  --  under   item  (b),

    9  noteworthy     issues,    it   says,   The   review    requested   was

   10  unusual from the actuary's perspective.

   11              Was that your own opinion or were you told that?

   12        A     I  think   from   discussion    with  Cliff   Fox,   that' s

   13  basically what I understood.

   14        Q     And  the  next   dash  is,  The  definition    of benefits

   15  was  narrowed    to  exclude   fundin g  and  surplus.      They  were

   16  ultimately    considered    to  be  als o  equivalent    between   CSSF

   17  and MTS but not benefits.

   18              Do you see that?

   19        A     Yeah.

   20        Q     Was that your understanding of what happened?

   21        A     I would say yes. [V24 p. 55]
679. In response to Restall’s letter asking for the reasons behind Fox’s final opinion, Paterson drafted a response. [AD 871] He was asked about the contents of the draft and whether they were an accurate reflection of what happened and why Fox changed his opinion. He testified: 


    Q     In the third paragraph the draft reads:

   26  

   27                    "Your    committee's     position    that

   28                    the   benefits    of  the   Plan   should

   29                    include:

   30                    - sharing of future surpluses, and

   31                    -  the   division    of  responsibility

   32                    and   authority    between   the   System

   33                    and  the  employee   groups,   was  given

   34                    consideration.         However,     these
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    1                    issues     were    considered     to    be

    2                    'funding'    and  'governance'     rather

    3                    than    a   benefit    or    entitlement

    4                    accruing to participants."

    5  

    6              Do you see that?

    7        A     Yes.

    8        Q     Was that your understanding of what happened?

    9        A     That's   what  I  was  led  to  believe   was   the  reason

   10  for the change, yes.

   11        Q     Who was it that led you to believe that?

   12        A     Discussion with, with Warren and Jon.

   13              THE COURT:  Sorry?

   14              THE WITNESS:  Warren and Jon Singleton.

   15              THE COURT:  Warren and Jon?

   16              THE WITNESS:  Warren Johnson and Jon Singleton. [V24 - 56-57]

680. Even Singleton conceded (after  impeachment) that he had a general recollection of being told that the definition of equivalency had been changed to eliminate funding and governance (i.e. narrowed by anyone’s standard). [V40 pp. 24-29]

Singleton’s Credibility

681. To the extent that Singleton denies interfering with Fox, the Plaintiffs say his statement is not to be believed.  
682. Singleton is not believable when he says that he acted in good faith.  He knows in hindsight that he should not have done as he did, and that is why he has no recollection of doing many of the things that implicate him in wrongful behavior, for instance:

· No recollection as to many of the revisions he made to the definition letter 

· No recollection of sending the draft definition letter to Fraser 

· No recollection of sending the draft opinion to Barker 

· No recollection as to why he would send it to Barker 

· No recollection of talking to Barker on the telephone and requiring her presence at a meeting with Fox to discuss his opinion

· No recollection as to why he set up the meeting 

· No recollection of being at the meeting 

· No specific recollection of the morning meeting on February 19, 1997 with Fox or other meetings with Fox

· No recollection of raising concerns about Fox’s February 18, 1997 opinion at the meeting  

· No recollection of the February 20, 1997 telephone call with Fraser where he said he formed the view that the benefits are equivalent. 

683. Mercifully, for the Plaintiffs, others, i.e. Barker and Fraser, have been more forthcoming in providing testimony about these matters.  MTS has also produced some of the documents related thereto, such as the February 4 fax from Singleton to Fraser attaching the draft definition of equivalency. 

684. Mysteriously, there are no documents relating to these matters that were produced by the Provincial Auditor’s Office.  Singleton’s copy of the fax transmission to MTS of the definition letter and the fax transmission of the February 18, 1997 opinion were never produced by Singleton. [See also the testimony of Restall which demonstrates that Singleton “stonewalled” the Plaintiffs in their attempts to see the very documents that Singleton chose to give to MTS.]
685. The fact that Singleton does not remember important meetings and comments that implicate him, stonewalled the Plaintiffs, and did not produce any of the key documents, speaks to his present belief as to the appropriateness of what he did. 

686. From a credibility perspective, it is simply not believable that Singleton remembers details about relatively minor matters, but cannot remember the meeting that he organized with Barker or these other significant events.  It is also strange that the Provincial Auditor produced hundreds of pages of documents but not the ones which incriminate him in these events.    

687. The facts are that Singleton, in effect, “neutered” Fox’s ability to be  “independent” (as required by the Act) after he “hijacked” Fox’s process and gave special advantage to MTS. He also made material and substantive changes to the definition of equivalency, and the Plaintiffs say imposed that definition on Fox, which resulted in Fox changing his opinion in favor of MTS. 

Fox’s Credibility

688. Why does Fox deny that he narrowed the definition? 

689. MTS relies on Fox’s testimony that Singleton’s interference did not affect his ultimate opinion. The credibility issue that emerges relates to Fox’s testimony that Singleton’s interference did not affect his opinion, which, it is submitted, is a self-serving post facto rationalization. It is dramatically contradicted by the testimony and documentation received by this Court. 

690. It is no stretch to say that Fox is capable of lying about the basis of his equivalency decision. This Court has before it Fox’s testimony wherein he admits to intentionally lying to the Plaintiffs about which definition of equivalency he used and the basis of his opinion, among other things.  

691. Fox testified as follows:

         Q     04182.     You   indicate   that:     The   definition    of

    5  equivalency    that  was   used  was   in  our  discussion    with  the

    6  parties   to  the  new  plan   and  upon  careful   consideration     of

    7  the  facts   we decided   that   the  benefits   of  equivalent   value

    8  referred     to   benefits     payable    on   death,     termination,

    9  disability and retirement.  Do you see that?

   10        A     That's what it says, yes.

   11        Q     And that answer is, is not correct?

   12        A     It is not correct.

   13        Q     And,  in   fact,  you  --  your   definition,    as  you've

   14  already   testified,   included    in the  broad   sense   the  concept

   15  of equal funding on day one?

   16        A     Yes.

   17        Q     It  included   governance   and  future   surplus  to  some

   18  extent?

   19        A     Some.

   20        Q     And,  and  this   is a  very  narrow   definition,    and  I

   21  believe   you've   indicated   that,   that  you   had  determined    in

   22  preparing   this  answer   that  you  wouldn't   be  truthful  to  TEAM

   23  on this occasion?

   24        A     I was not prepared to open discussions with them.

   25        Q     And   you   say   you    were   not   prepared    to   open

   26  discussions?

   27        A     Yes,  I,  I  didn't   want  to  get  into   a debate   with

   28  them.

   29        Q     And   so   in  order   to   avoid   a   debate   you   were

   30  providing to them incorrect information --

   31        A     Narrowed definitions, yes.

   32        Q     Sorry?

   33        A     Narrowed definition.

   34        Q     You were providing to them an incorrect --
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    1        A     Yes.

    2        Q     -- statement of what you considered in determining

    3  whether the plans were equivalent value?

    4        A     That's correct.

    5        Q     It's   correct   that   you  were   being   untruthful    to

    6  TEAM?

    7        A     I  was   not   being   forthright    in  that   particular

 instance because they were not forthright with me. [V19 pp. 110-111]

692. To be blunt, Fox has admitted to lying about the very basis of his opinion to the Plaintiffs in the past.   Fox’s credibility is squarely in issue. 

693. Another shocking revelation made by Fox during his cross-examination is that he double-billed the Provincial Auditor for the services he rendered.  Fox testified that his hourly rate in 1996 was $250.00 per hour.  There was an agreement between the Provincial Auditor’s Office and Aon Consulting, Fox’s employer, which retainer provided that Fox would bill out at a rate of $125.00 per hour.  Fox’s initial time recording was at $250.00 per hour. To comply with the retainer agreement, Fox adjusted his hourly rate to $125.00 per hour.  However, to compensate for the reduced fees, Fox doubled the amount of hours he actually spent on this assignment in determining the amount charged to the Provincial Auditor’s Office, which he submitted through invoices to the Provincial Auditor’s Office, which were paid by MTS through the Provincial Auditor’s Office.  

694. It will be important for the Court to assess the credibility of Fox in order to determine whether Fox is believable when he says he rendered his own decision independent of the involvement of the Provincial Auditor’s Office.  In this regard it is important to appreciate the demeanour and character of Fox in relationship to that of Singleton.  Singleton is the Provincial Auditor.  The Provincial Auditor is the “watch dog” of government.  He said his position came with a certain cache that often led to his agents taking his words too literally. 
         Q   In  your  role  as  provincial  auditor,  you were

   24  frequently  called  upon to  give authoritative  opinions on

   25  various issues; is that fair?

   26        A   Yes, that's fair.

   27        Q   And  do  you agree  that  there's a  certain  cache

   28  that is attached to the title of provincial auditor?

   29        A   Yes.

   30        Q   And  that cache  caused some  people  that you  met

   31  with,  from your experience, to take your words further than

   32  you  had  intended them to  be  taken; would  you agree with

   33  that?

   34        A   Well,  it caused  me to  cautious about  how I  had
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    1  conversations  with  people, to  try to  avoid that  kind of

    2  thing happening. [V40 pp. 1-2]

695. There are no checks on the Provincial Auditor. He reports only to the Legislature as a whole. The Office is one that is imbued with power, authority and trust.  Singleton appeared to be a very confident and self-assured individual who is not used to delegating control to others. 

696. Fox on the other hand appeared palpably less assured and confident.  Fox and Singleton are at opposite ends of the confidence spectrum.  Fox is the “go along to get along” type.  Fox’s opinions are not strongly held. He is easily led, easily convinced to change his position. Singleton’s hubris is apparent. 
697. The fact that Fox did not complain to Singleton that he did not agree with the definition of equivalency that went out to interested parties speaks volumes about his character and whether he is the type of person that could be easily influenced. 

3.3.2
This Court should Declare Fox’s Opinion Invalid and Void

698. The bottom line is that if the preponderance of evidence suggests the possibility of Fox’s independent opinion being tainted in this fashion, this court has no choice but to invalidate Fox’s opinion. The stakes are too high. The interests are too substantial. The government expected and the Plaintiffs deserve a fair hearing and a truly independent opinion. There are numerous indicia to suggest on a balance of probabilities that Fox’s opinion is not his own and that he was improperly interfered with. Fox’s opinion that the benefits are equivalent, and his testimony that he acted independently, do not deserve the cold comfort of a sideways glance. He should be afforded no deference. This Court must reconsider this matter afresh based on the testimony and expert evidence presented over 13 weeks of trial, none of which Fox had the benefit of when he changed his opinion.  

Can Fox’s Decision be Appealed or Reviewed?

699. The Plaintiffs submit that this question was answered by the Court of Appeal when it dismissed MTS’ summary judgment motion. 
700. MTS had argued sec. 15(10) of the Act is a complete bar to the employees challenge to Fox’s decision. Scott, C.J. reviewed general principles of statutory interpretation and applied them to sec. 15 of the Act, concluding: 

91. Section 15(2) mandates that benefits “shall” be equivalent in value. Interpretations therefore that are consistent with or promote this legislative purpose should be adopted; those which might defeat or potentially undermine these legislative purposes should be avoided. 

92. Here, there can be no doubt that privatization was the primary objective of the Act. But it is also clear that another foundational consideration, or objective of the government, was to provide for equivalent pensions for the 7,000 or so present and past employees of MTS; in other words, to protect and benefit the employees. The legislative history of sec. 15, and the proceedings before The Standing Committee on Public Utilities and Natural Resources, is entirely supportive of this view. 

93. This beneficial reason for sec. 15 cannot be disregarded…  

95. Given that pensions were to be fully protected and equivalency was a legislative imperative, a strong argument can be made that the deemed consent in sec. 15(10) only relates to the assignment and transfer of equivalent assets; if the assets are not in fact equivalent, then the deemed consent should not apply.   

99. Having regard to the principles and authorities just reviewed, it is my opinion that sec. 15(10) does not preclude the employees from challenging the decision of the independent actuary.  (Emphasis added)

What is the Appropriate Standard of Review?

701. The question as to the appropriate standard of review remains to be determined.

702. Dunsmuir v. New Brunswick, 2008 SCC 9 (Dunsmuir) is a landmark case released by the The Supreme Court of Canada in March of 2008 that changes the administrative law jurisprudence on the issue of the standard for review of administrative decisions. [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 13] 

703. The Manitoba Court of Appeal has already considered Dunsmuir in five cases. Hamilton J.A.'s analysis and summary in Rebel Holdings Ltd. et al. v. Division Scolaire Franco-Manitobaine, 2008 MBCA 65 provides an excellent overview of the principles that must be considered in this case to determine the standard of review in view of the change in the common law. [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 14]
130              The Supreme Court altered its approach to judicial review of administrative decisions in Dunsmuir.  This decision directs courts to continue showing deference to administrative decisions.  There are three key aspects of the decision:  1) the label “pragmatic and functional” approach has been discarded in favour of the “standard of review analysis” (at para. 63); 2) there are now only two standards of review – correctness and reasonableness, the standard of patent unreasonableness having been eliminated (at para. 34); and 3) even questions of law may be subject to the reasonableness standard (at para. 56).  

131              The “standard of review” analysis can involve a consideration of the same four criteria as the pragmatic and functional test.  As stated by Freedman J.A. in Coffey v. College of Licensed Practical Nurses (Man.), 2008 MBCA 33 (CanLII), 2008 MBCA 33, “Dunsmuir … reaffirms the [four] factors that are to be taken into account on judicial review” (at para. 34).  Bastarache and LeBel JJ. writing for the majority in Dunsmuir, stated (at para. 64):

 

The analysis must be contextual. As mentioned above, it is dependent on the application of a number of relevant factors, including: (1) the presence or absence of a privative clause; (2) the purpose of the tribunal as determined by interpretation of enabling legislation; (3) the nature of the question at issue, and; (4) the expertise of the tribunal. In many cases, it will not be necessary to consider all of the factors, as some of them may be determinative in the application of the reasonableness standard in a specific case.

 

132              In Dunsmuir, the majority explained the standard of reasonableness and the concept of deference in that context (at paras. 47, 49):

 

Reasonableness is a deferential standard animated by the principle that underlies the development of the two previous standards of reasonableness: certain questions that come before administrative tribunals do not lend themselves to one specific, particular result. Instead, they may give rise to a number of possible, reasonable conclusions. Tribunals have a margin of appreciation within the range of acceptable and rational solutions.  A court conducting a review for reasonableness inquires into the qualities that make a decision reasonable, referring both to the process of articulating the reasons and to outcomes. In judicial review, reasonableness is concerned mostly with the existence of justification, transparency and intelligibility within the decision-making process. But it is also concerned with whether the decision falls within a range of possible, acceptable outcomes which are defensible in respect of the facts and law.

 

… [D]eference requires respect for the legislative choices to leave some matters in the hands of administrative decision makers, for the processes and determinations that draw on particular expertise and experiences, and for the different roles of the courts and administrative bodies within the Canadian constitutional system.

 

133              As to the standard of correctness, which allows the court to substitute its view for the decision of the tribunal, the majority wrote (at para. 50):

 

As important as it is that courts have a proper understanding of reasonableness review as a deferential standard, it is also without question that the standard of correctness must be maintained in respect of jurisdictional and some other questions of law. This promotes just decisions and avoids inconsistent and unauthorized application of law. When applying the correctness standard, a reviewing court will not show deference to the decision maker’s reasoning process; it will rather undertake its own analysis of the question. The analysis will bring the court to decide whether it agrees with the determination of the decision maker; if not, the court will substitute its own view and provide the correct answer. From the outset, the court must ask whether the tribunal’s decision was correct.  [emphasis added]
 

134              Importantly, the majority stated that a question of law may be the subject of the reasonableness standard, particularly when the tribunal is interpreting its own statute (at paras. 54-55): 

 

… Deference will usually result where a tribunal is interpreting its own statute or statutes closely connected to its function, with which it will have particular expertise. … Deference may also be warranted where an administrative tribunal has developed particular expertise in the application of a general common law or civil law rule in relation to a specific statutory context: …
 

A consideration of the following factors will lead to the conclusion that the decision maker should be given deference and a reasonableness test applied:

 

-  A privative clause: this is a statutory direction from Parliament or a      legislature indicating the need for deference.

 

-  A discrete and special administrative regime in which the decision maker has special expertise (labour relations for instance).

 

-  The nature of the question of law. A question of law that is of “central importance to the legal system ... and outside the ... specialized area of expertise” of the administrative decision maker will always attract a correctness standard (Toronto (City) v. C.U.P.E. 2003 SCC 63 (CanLII), [2003 SCC 63, 2003 SCC 63 (CanLII), [2003] 3 S.C.R. 77], at para. 62). On the other hand, a question of law that does not rise to this level may be compatible with a reasonableness standard where the two above factors so indicate.  [emphasis added]

135              While Dunsmuir alters the law regarding judicial review of administrative decisions, and in some ways significantly, I am of the view that its impact here is limited for two reasons.  First, Dunsmuir does not change the importance of the nature of the question, nor the categorization process (Dunsmuir, at para. 55).  Second, and perhaps decisively, s. 44(2) of the Act contains an express and broad appeal provision, not a protective privative clause.  

136              In Dell Holdings, the Supreme Court concluded that the standard of review was correctness in light of the broad appeal provision in the Ontario Act that is virtually identical to s. 44(2) (at para. 48):

 

There is no effective privative clause applicable to the decisions of the Board. Rather s. 33(2) of the Expropriations Act … provides that there is an appeal as of right to the Divisional Court “on questions of law or fact or both and the Divisional Court (a) may refer any matter back to the Board; or (b) may make any decision or order that the Board has power to make”. Thus, not only is there no privative clause but a very wide power of appeal is granted.  Nor is there any aspect of particular expertise involved in this decision.  I would agree with the conclusion of the Court of Appeal that no particular deference should be accorded to a decision of the Board.  That is to say the decision of the Board must be correct.  ….  [emphasis added]
Standard of Review Analysis

Absence of Privative Clause
704. There is no privative clause in the Act. There is no provision in the Act that indicates that Fox’s decision is “final and binding”. Thus, the Court’s inherent jurisdiction to review this inferior tribunal remains unfettered.  The presumption is that the Legislature did not intend to restrict the Court's jurisdiction.  If the Legislature chooses to restrict or limit the Court’s jurisdiction, it must do so expressly.  Rock Resources Inc. v. British Columbia, 2003 CarswellBC 1328, 2003 BCCA 324 [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 15 at p. 24 para. 105]

705. On this point, the Court of Appeal stated: 

98. There is also much to be said for the point emphasized in the employees’ argument that had the Legislature wished to irrevocably prevent a legal challenge to the decision of the “independent actuary” it could have easily said so in express and plain language. [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 2]

706. This is not a case wherein the Legislature is taking a particular matter out of the Court’s hands on an on-going basis and reposing exclusive jurisdiction to a permanent administrative tribunal which will develop historical expertise.  It was a one time only opinion involving significant pension dollars.  
707. These factors and observations suggest a low level of deference, which is indicative of the standard of review of correctness. 
Expertise of the Commission and the Purpose of the Act
708. Regarding the object and purpose of the Act, as we have seen the Court of Appeal considered the matter and determined that a foundational purpose was to benefit employees by ensuring equivalency.    

709. Regarding his relative expertise Fox testified: 

   23       Q      Now,  I  want  to talk   with  you  about  your  level  of,

   24  of  expertise    with   respect   to  this   particular    assignment.

   25  You  would  agree,   first  of  all,  that  the  assignment   involved

   26  comparing a government plan to a private pension plan?

   27       A      Correct.

   28       Q      Had you ever done that before?

   29       A      No.

   30       Q      Would   you  agree  that   that's   a unique   --  or  that

   31  that   would   be  a  unique   or   a  special   assignment    for  any

   32  actuary?

   33       A      Correct. [V18 p. 12]
710. Fox testified that he had limited experience with government pension plans. He had no direct experience with the CSSA. [V18 p. 13]  

711. He said that “equivalent in value could mean a lot of things”.  He wrestled with how surplus rights related to the definition of equivalency, testifying:  


        THE  COURT:    I  want  to  make  sure,  Mr.  Fox,   that  I

   17  have  your  answer.     You're  saying   --  or  is your   answer  that

   18  at the outset you weren't confident that you had the ability

   19  to deal with issues of ownership of surplus?

   20              THE  WITNESS:    The  rights   to  ownership   of surplus,

   21  Your Honour.

   22              THE  COURT:    Issue   of the  right   of  ownership   --  a

   23  right to ownership of surplus?

            THE WITNESS:  Correct. [V18 pp. 16-17]
712. No deference should be accorded to Fox based on “expertise”.  This Court is at least  equal to Fox to answer this question, particularly since Fox abrogated his responsibility in this regard by allowing Singleton to interfere with his definition of equivalency.  Accordingly, this factor indicates a standard of correctness. 

Nature of the Question – Law, Fact or Both
713. The Plaintiffs submit that determining what the Legislature intended by section 15(2)(a) and its proper application resonate as questions of law.  Issues Fox grappled with included: 

1.
Should the initial funding of the New Plan be equivalent to the 50/50 cost split in the Old Plan?  (Funding)

2.
Is control over surplus in the New Plan a benefit that must be equivalent in value on implementation date?  (Surplus)
3.
Should governance of the New Plan be equivalent to the Old plan?  (Governance)

714. Therefore, the equivalency question involves a two step process: (1) defining the meaning of equivalency; specifically whether funding, surplus and governance are included; and, if so, how and to what extent; and (2) correctly applying that definition to a comparison of the two Plans.

715. The first step involves statutory interpretation and other legal principles centering on rights to and ownership of surplus, initial funding and governance (the right to a say in the administration of the Plan).  

716. Based on the history of the Old Plan, the Plaintiffs had a “reasonable expectation” that the surplus accumulated under the Old Plan and attributable solely to employees’ contributions would be safeguarded.  They also had a reasonable expectation as to whether future surplus generated by their contributions would continue to be used to their benefit through benefit improvements, including higher COLA awards. Fox had to consider and apply the legal principle of “existing obligations” and “reasonable expectations” (rights that have accrued through consistent past practice) to determine equivalency of benefits. To do this required an extensive review of the history of the Old Plan, which Fox did not undertake.  

717. The questions concerning right to surplus and the right to have effective governance over the plan are legal questions. Fox himself viewed ownership of surplus as a legal question that would likely have to be resolved by the courts in this case. [AD 862  p. 04180]   Another important legal question in this case involved interpreting the November 7, 1996 Agreement (AD 440).
Application of the Standard of Review
718. The standard of review in this case is thus correctness, which parenthetically is the standard established by the Supreme Court of Canada in Monsanto Canada Inc. v. Ontario (Superintendent of Financial Services), [2004] 3 S.C.R. 152, 2004 SCC 54 @ paragraphs 6-16; in its review of the actions of the Ontario Superintendent of Financial Services.  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities Tab 16]  

719. The legislature intended that Fox be correct.  It would not countenance error on a matter as important as this. The Plaintiffs rely on the evidence of Levy and the argument herein with respect to equivalency to support the contention that Fox was not correct.   

720. In the alternative, it is submitted that Fox’s decision is unreasonable for the same reasons; and because his decision was based on his 11 expectations and assumptions about the New Plan, set out earlier herein (Part 1), which expectations all turned out to be illusory, and were unreasonable to make given the facts available to him when he rendered his final opinion.  
3.4
Meaning of Equivalence - s. 15 of The Manitoba Telephone System Re-Organization and Consequential Amendments Act, S.M. 1996, c. 79 (the “Re-Organization Act”)?

3.4.1
Statutory Interpretation
Fair, Large and Liberal Interpretation
721. The starting point for interpreting legislation is section 6 of The Interpretation Act, C.C.S.M. c. I80 (Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 35):

Rule of liberal interpretation 

6           Every Act and regulation must be interpreted as being remedial and must be given the fair, large and liberal interpretation that best ensures the attainment of its objects.
The modern principle

722. This rule complements the modern principle of statutory interpretation:

Today there is only one principle or approach, namely, the words of an Act are to be read in their entire context, in their grammatical and ordinary sense harmoniously with the scheme of the Act, the object of the Act, and the intention of Parliament.
(Elmer A. Driedger, The Construction of Statutes
(Toronto:  Butterworths, 1974) at p. 67

723. The modern principle has been quoted with approval hundreds of times by courts across Canada, and is the preferred approach of the Supreme Court of Canada.

724. In Rizzo & Rizzo Shoes Ltd. (Re), [1998] 1 S.C.R. 27 (Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 34) (“Rizzo”), Iacobucci J. for the court, wrote that the modern principle “best encapsulates the approach upon which I prefer to rely.  He (Driedger) recognizes that statutory interpretation cannot be founded on the wording of the legislation alone” (at para. 21).

725. Later in Rizzo, Iacobucci J. notes (@ para. 27):

… It is a well-established principle of statutory interpretation that the legislature does not intend to produce absurd consequences.  According to Cote [The Interpretation of Legislation in Canada, 2nd ed. (Cowansville, Que.:  Yvon Blais, 1991)] an interpretation can be considered absurd if it leads to ridiculous or frivolous consequences, if it is extremely unreasonable or inequitable, if it is illogical or incoherent, or if it is incompatible with other provisions or with the object of the legislative enactment …  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 34]
726. The preceding two passages were quoted with approval in Telecommunication Employees Association of Manitoba Inc.,et al. v. Manitoba Telecom Services Inc. et al., 2007 MBCA 85, at para. 88-89.  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 2]
727. See also Bell ExpressVu Limited Partnership v. Rex, [2002] 2 S.C.R. 559, 2002 SCC 42 and the cases cited at para. 26.
… except in the rarest of cases where the language admits of absolutely no doubt or ambiguity, the object and purpose of legislation plays a fundamental role in any statutory interpretation, …  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 8]
and Gendis Inc. v. Canada (Attorney General), [2006] M.J. No. 242, 2006 MBCA 58, at para. 85 as quoted in TEAM, supra, at para. 90.  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 19]
Purposive analysis

728. The modern principle emphasizes the importance of purposive analysis in statutory interpretation.

A purposive analysis of legislative texts is based on the following propositions:

(1)
All legislation is presumed to have a purpose.  It is possible for courts to discover or adequately reconstruct this purpose through interpretation.

(2)
Legislative purpose should be taken into account in every case and at every stage of interpretation, including the determination of a text’s meaning.

(3)
In so far as the language of the text permits, interpretations that are consistent with or promote legislative purpose should be adopted, while interpretations that defeat or undermine legislative purpose should be avoided.
(Sullivan and Driedger, Construction of Statutes , 4th ed.
(Toronto:  Butterworths, 2002) at 195 (“Driedger”)

Appropriate interpretation

At the end of the day, after taking into account all relevant and admissible considerations, the court must adopt an interpretation that is appropriate.  An appropriate interpretation is one that can be justified in terms of 

(a)
its plausibility, that is, its compliance with the legislative text; 

(b)
its efficacy, that is, its promotion of legislative intent; and 

(c)
its acceptability, that is, the outcome complies with legal norms; it is reasonable and just.
Driedger, supra, at 3.
How purpose is established

There are two broadly distinguishable ways in which legislative purpose can be established.  The first is direct in that it relies on express descriptions of purpose found in the legislation itself, in legislative history or in academic sources.  Legislative descriptions of purpose have the advantage of being authoritative, but they are often vague or at odds with one another and they are inevitably incomplete.  The descriptions of purpose found in sources like commission reports and academic texts tend to be more detailed and therefore more helpful; however, they are less authoritative.  And all descriptions of purpose, whether vague or precise, are themselves subject to interpretation.

The second way of establishing purpose is indirect in that it relies on inferences drawn by interpreters based on reading the legislation in context.  Interpreters who wish to approximate the historical intentions of the enacting legislature base their inferences on the beliefs and values prevalent at the time of enactment.  Interpreters who wish to establish intentions that are appropriate for local and current conditions base their inferences on currently shared beliefs and assumptions.

The advantage of establishing purpose through inference is that it is more likely to reveal the complex mix of policies, principles and material outcomes that legislatures typically wish to accomplish.  In drawing inferences, interpreters rely on a range of assumptions and values which they implicitly attribute to the legislature and which they hope are shared by their audience.  In a fully reasoned analysis, these underlying values and assumptions are exposed and, when necessary, they are justified.  This way of establishing purpose can be highly persuasive, particularly if the analysis is tied to features of the legislative scheme.  The disadvantage is that a fully developed analysis is hard to do and may prove inconclusive in the end.

Ideally, any analysis of purpose will rely on both direct and indirect approaches and draw on as many sources and techniques as possible. (Emphasis added.)
Driedger, supra, at 209

R. v. Chartrand, [1994] 2 S.C.R. 864, especially at 875ff [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 20]
Object and purpose of pensions in general


“Sacrosanct nature”

The sacrosanct nature of pensions has often been discussed in terms of “public policy legislation”.  The decision in GenCorp Canada Inc. v. Ontario (Superintendent, Pensions) [1998] O.J. No. 961 (ONCA), illustrates this point, describing the Ontario Pension Benefits Act as legislation “intended to benefit and protect the interests of members and former members of pension plans” (at p. 503).  (Emphasis added.)  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 21]

“Central importance of pension arrangements to all employees”

… Trust law, in this modern context, must accommodate and be responsive to key differences between the traditional settling of a trust and the ongoing administration of a pension plan in a changing economic environment. But employers, trade unions and trustees must also appreciate the central importance of pension arrangements to all employees and be vigilant of the dependent interests engrained in these plans.  (Emphasis added)

Bathgate v. National Hockey League Pension Society [1992] O.J. No. 2168 (OntGD), at para. 156, aff’d [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 22]

“Designed to protect and enhance quality of life”

… The interest of the public, in general, and of participating employees, in particular, in the fair, equitable and consistent administration of pension plans is high …
… Underlying this legislation is a significant and important principle of public policy designed to protect and enhance the quality of life to which the subject employees would be entitled in their retirement years after achieving the threshold requirements of continuous employment in the workplace …  (Emphasis added)

Hawker Siddeley Canada Inc. v. Superintendent of Pensions (N.S.C.A.) [1994] N.S.J. No. 102 (NSCA) [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 23], as quoted in Imperial Oil Limited v. Nova Scotia (Superintendent of Pensions) 1995 CarswellNS 72 (NSCA), (leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada denied March 21,1996) [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 24]
3.4.2
Object and Purpose
729. In TEAM, supra, the Manitoba Court of Appeal provided significant guidance as to the proper interpretation of The Re-Organization Act.

… The objective was to achieve equivalence “in the broadest sense” of the expression … (@ para. 82)

... Another foundational consideration, or object of the government, was to provide for equivalent pensions for the 7,000 or so present and past employees of MTS; in other words, to protect and benefit the employees.  The legislative history of section 15, and the proceedings before the Standing Committee on Public Utilities and Natural Resources, is entirely supportive of this view.

This beneficial reason for sec. 15 cannot be disregarded.  There are a legion of authorities dealing with the statutory or contractual interpretation of pensions which have emphasized the overriding importance of protecting employees’ pension benefits.  (@ para. 92-93)

Given that pensions were to be fully protected and equivalency was a legislative imperative, a strong argument can be made that the deemed consent in sec. 15(10) only relates to the assignment and transfer of equivalent assets; if the assets are not in fact equivalent, then the deemed consent should not apply.  (Emphasis added)  (@ para. 95)

Social welfare legislation

730. The Court of Appeal also implied The Re-Organization Act deemed the Act to be “social welfare legislation”, where “[t]he courts’ primary concern is ensuring the intended benefits are received.”

(@ para. 96, quoting Driedger, supra, at 404.)


“Favour the claimant” principle

Social welfare legislation is to be liberally construed so as to advance the benevolent purpose of the legislation.  If reasonable doubts or ambiguities arise, they are to be resolved in favour of the claimant …
Driedger, supra, at 404.
Abrahams v. Canada (Attorney General) [1983] 1 S.C.R. 2 at 10, 1983 CarswellNat 528 (SCC) [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 25]
TEAM, supra, at para. 96 [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 2]
731. The relevant subsections of Section 15 for the interpretation of equivalency are set out below.

New plans established

15(2) On or prior to the implementation date, the Corporation shall establish:

(a) 
the new plan which shall provide for benefits which on the implementation date are equivalent in value to the pension benefits to which the employees have or may have become entitled under The Civil Service Superannuation Act or to which any other person has or would have become entitled under The Civil Service Superannuation Act by virtue of the death of an employee; and

(b)
a funding arrangement which shall provide for group insurance benefits for employees which on the implementation date are equivalent in value to the insurance benefits provided in the plan of insurance under The Public Servants Insurance Act.

Independent actuary to review plan

15(3)  As soon as possible after this Act receives royal assent, the provincial auditor shall appoint an independent actuary to review plan proposed by the Corporation for the purposes of (2) (a) to determine whether the benefits under the proposed plan are equivalent in value as required by that clause.

Concerns of independent actuary to be addressed

15(4)
The Corporation shall take any steps necessary to resolve any concerns raised by the independent actuary in a report prepared for the purposes of (3).

Deemed consent

15(10)

The persons described in subsection (2) are deemed to consent 

(a)
to termination of their participation in the fund;
(b)
to the assignment and transfer of assets, liabilities and agreements from the fund to the new plan;  

(c)
to the determination of all rights under the new plan without reference to The Civil Service Superannuation Act, the fund, or any trust or trust agreement relating to them; and 

(d)
to termination of their participation in the group insurance plan established under The Public Servants Insurance Act and to the assignment and transfer of monies and investments, liabilities and agreements related to such group insurance plan. 

Effect of agreement
15(11) Nothing in this section is to be interpreted as nullifying the effect of an agreement executed on November 7, 1996 by representatives of the Manitoba Telephone System, the Government of Manitoba and employees on the subject of pension issues.  [Emphasis added]

732. The Re-Organization Act is a sui generis statute; created for a specific purpose (i.e. the privatization of MTS).  Section 15 of the Act is confiscatory in nature.  The purpose of that section is to effect the transfer of pension assets and pension rights from the Old Plan to the New Plan.  Essentially, the government, which is a trustee and fiduciary of the plan members with respect to the Old Plan, reached into the CSSF (a Trust Fund) made up exclusively of employee funds, and physically transferred these pension monies (and rights related thereto) to a private company (MTS).

733. In essence, the government confiscated trust funds and transferred them to the New Plan without the approval of plan members.  What is important to note, is that it was doing so without having first reviewed or approved of the New Plan.  As a trustee and fiduciary of the Old Plan, the government had the duty to ensure beneficiaries were not harmed by this manoeuvre, particularly since the government was taking action to make money for itself by selling off a Crown corporation.  Therefore, the legislature required that the New Plan be equivalent in value to the Old Plan. 

Expropriation

734. As stated previously, this case is similar to an expropriation of property case.  A basic principle of the law of eminent domain, in all civilized countries, is that matters of value belonging to citizens cannot be expropriated without compensation.  The presumption at law is that the legislature does not intend to take away or deal with rights and property without providing full compensation, unless an Act expressly and clearly so declares. 

735. This principle was recognized and applied by the Supreme Court of Canada in Manitoba Fisheries Ltd. v. R.  1978 Carswell Nat 146 (SCC).  That case also dealt with confiscatory legislation.  At paragraph 16, Ritchie J. quoted the House of Lords case of Belfast Corporation v. O. D. Cars Ltd. [1960] as follows:

On the one hand, there would be the general principle, accepted by the legislature and scrupulously defended by the courts, that the title to property or the enjoyment of its possession was not to be compulsorily acquired from the subject unless full compensation was afforded in its place.  Acquisition of title or possession was ‘taking.’  Aspects of this principle are founded in rules of statutory interpretation devised by the courts, which required the presence of the most explicit words before an acquisition could be held to be sanctioned by an act of Parliament without full compensation being provided, or imported an intention to give compensation and machinery for assessing it into any Act of Parliament that did not positively exclude it.  This vigilance to see that the subject’s rights to property were protected, so far as was consistent with the requirements of expropriation of what was previously enjoyed in specie, was regarded as an important guarantee of individual liberty.  It would be a mistake to look on it as representing any conflict between the legislature and the courts.  The principle was, generally speaking, common to both.  [Emphasis added]  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 26]
736. It is a presumption of law that the legislature does not intend to abolish, limit or otherwise interfere with the rights of its citizens.  A clear legislative intention is required in order to vary or abrogate existing statutory rights:  See Sullivan and Dreidger on the Construction of Statutes (see generally pages 399-401).  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 6]
737. Statutes which encroach upon a citizen’s rights should be construed strictly against the party attempting to diminish or take away such rights:  Attorney General for Canada v. Hallett and Carey Ltd. [1952] A.C. 427 at paragraph 18 (P.C.).  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 27]
738. The Re-Organization Act does not afford any discretion.  It is specific and imperative when it requires that the New Plan “shall” be equivalent.
739. In this case, the Act requires, rather than expressly denying, full compensation for the deemed transfer of rights and property.  Compensation for the deemed consent transfer of assets and rights is the statutory requirement on MTS to establish a New Plan that is equivalent in every regard to the Old Plan.
740. It appears clear that the legislature’s intention and objective was to achieve equivalency, pure and simple.  What equivalency meant and how it was to be achieved were issues the legislature was grappling with as a result of the intervention of the plan members.  The November 7, 1996, Agreement (AD 440) was one method to achieve equivalency (s. 15(11)).  The Independent Actuary provisions were a further insurance to the fulfillment of the object of the Act (s. 15(3) and s. 15(4)).  They were inserted to placate the plan members.
Deemed Consent

741. Deeming consent to remove an individual’s rights and property is a rather extraordinary provision for a legislature to enact in a democratic and pluralistic society.  Inherent in this process is the taking away of any input and the removal of power, influence and the ability to challenge of an interested party.  All regular due process is removed on a go-forward basis.  Manifestly, the rarity of such a provision, and the fact that it is contrary in spirit to the normal rights and processes afforded to individuals in our society, means the deeming provisions should be construed narrowly where there is any doubt as to meaning.
742. On this point, Sullivan and Driedger state that:

It is presumed that the Legislature does not intend to abolish, limit or otherwise interfere with the rights of subjects.  Legislation designed to curtail the rights that may be enjoyed by citizens or residents is strictly construed.  This presumption was explained by Estey J. in Morguard Properties Ltd. v. City of Winnipeg:

…the Courts require that, in order to adversely affect a citizen’s right, whether as a taxpayer or otherwise, the Legislature must do so expressly…the resources at hand and the preparation and enactment of Legislation are such that a Court must be slow to presume oversight or inarticulate intentions when the rights of the citizen are involved.

The presumption of interfering with rights applies to both common law and statutory rights.  (page 399) [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 6]
743. The SCC in ATCO Gas and Pipelines Ltd. v. Alberta (Energy & Utilities Board) 2006 SCC 4, 2006 CarswellAlta 139 (Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 28), is authority for the proposition that:

79.
It is well established that potentially confiscatory legislative provision ought to be construed cautiously so as not to strip interested parties of their rights without the clear intention of the legislation (see Sullivan, at pp. 400-403; Cote, at pp. 482-86; Pacific National Investments Ltd. v. Victoria (City), [2000] 2 S.C.R. 919, 2000 SCC 64, at para. 26; Leiriao v. Val-Belair (Town), [1991] 3 S.C.R. 349, at p. 357; Hongkong Bank of Canada v. Weeler Holdings Ltd., [1993] 1 S.C.R. 167, at p. 197).  Not only is the authority to attach a condition to allocate the proceeds of a sale to a particular party unnecessary for the Board to accomplish its role, but deciding otherwise would lead to the conclusion that a broadly drawn power can be interpreted so as to encroach on the economic freedom of the utility, depriving it of its rights.  This would go against the above principles of interpretation.
744. As quoted by Tim Sale (“Sale”) on November 8, 1996, in Hansard in dealing with the imposition of “deemed consent” he stated the following (AD 453) (15859):

Mr. Sale:  The other amendment is to the Deemed consent section, Section 15(8).  It would be hard to overstate how offensive this section was to employees until yesterday.  It is less offensive today than it was yesterday, but it was profoundly offensive.  If you read Section 15(8), what it says is that everybody has been deemed to consent to terminating their participation in the superannuation plan, moving their assets to the new plan which they have never seen, had no voice in and had no say over in any significant degree until the MOU, then to the termination of participation in group benefits and to rights in The Civil Service Superannaution Act.

So, Mr. Chairperson, it would be really hard to overstate just how profoundly alienated the employees were, the retirees were, by the assertion that they were deemed to have consented to a process in which they had been at that point even unable to get a hold of the plan to which they were deemed to have consented to.

745. The Plaintiffs assert that they had certain rights with respect to funding, surplus and governance under the Old Plan.  These rights of the fund were transferred to the New Plan trust fund by operation of s. 15(7), which is consistent with the government’s intentions as expressed in Hansard not to adversely affect employees' pensions.  The deeming provisions cannot be read to take away rights (i.e. rights to surplus) transferred from the old trust fund to the new trust fund.
746. A person’s pension fund, which he/she has spent much of his/her working life (if not an entire working life) contributing to so that there may be financial security in retirement, resonates as an extremely important interest.  (See the Supreme Court of Canada decision in Monsanto Canada Inc. v. Ontario (Superintendent of Financial Services) [2004] 3 S.C.R. 152, 2004 SCC 54 (“Monsanto”) [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 16].  [TEAM, supra, Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 2]
3.4.3
Definition - Funding, Surplus and Governance

Equivalency in Value Amendments to Section 15 of The Re-Organization Act
747. The catalyst for changes to Bill 67 gathered momentum and galvanized on October 31, 1996, when the ERPC representation was made to the Standing Committee on Public Utilities and Natural Resources (AD 410).

748. At that time it was made clear that the issues of concern to the employees/ retirees were not that only the financial benefits would be equivalent (a commitment that had been made by MTS as early as July 26, 1996 (AD 294 & AD 295)).  All that had to be done was a comparison of the plan text to the CSSA to make sure that occurred).  That was a technical perfunctory analysis.  (RV10, p. 31, l. 33-34; p. 32, l. 1-21)
749. Rather, the major concerns articulated at the time were that:

(a)
the initial surplus coming over from the Fund had to be protected and would not disappear by virtue of MTS’ own actuarial calculations (it did disappear);

(b)
then the initial surplus component would still be available for the tangible benefit of the plan members.  (RV10, p. 37)
750. It was made clear to the legislature on October 31, 1996, that surplus had historically been used to enhance benefits.  As stated in Hansard,
Having arisen out of the employees, retirees contributions to the fund, neither the province nor MTS has any right to the transfer amount. That is a given, but what is equally obvious is that this surplus has historically been utilized for purposes of enhancing benefits. I have supplied a list of situations where the surplus from the fund has been dedicated to employee-retiree improvements, and in those items where there is an asterisk, those were matched by employer contributions.  (AD 410) (01584)
751. Again, the ERPC asserted that it was not up to MTS to determine the best use of the monies without the approbation of the ERPC (01584).

752. The issue of governance was also raised in that what the ERPC was requiring was equal representation in the governing body.  The ERPC stated:

. . . The employees and retirees of MTS have protested on several occasions in correspondence and in meetings with representatives of MTS that since at least 50 percent of the total benefits payable to employees and retirees comes through the fund and is their money that they therefore should have equal representation in how it is to be administered. 

To date, this eminently reasonable request has gone unanswered. Instead, MTS keeps harkening back to the fact that under the PBSA, retirees are entitled to one representative, and the employees are entitled to one representative on the pension committee. To deny equal representation, or representation, the very least of which is consistent with what we now have, would be taking away vested rights and inconsistent not only with the present legislation but inconsistent with the enunciated and articulated philosophy of mirror image between the old plan and the new plan. 

The third concern is the regulations and the plan text. The plan and the transfer amount of the fund will be governed by regulation. The regulations will govern many serious aspects of any transfer. The employees for whose benefit these monies are set aside in trust and who have made at least a 50 percent contribution have no knowledge, let alone any indication, as to what the regulations will say. The plan has been drafted, and as long as it complies with the minimum requirements of the Act, it is subject to perfunctory acceptance by the Superintendent of Financial Institutions under the PBSA. My constituents have not had an input into the contents of the plan, let alone disclosure as to what the plan says.  (01585) [Emphasis added]
753. It was clear that the ERPC was talking about governance, not some advisory neutered committee that had some limited role.
754. Again, with respect to disclosure, the ERPC legitimately articulated the concerns that they had been left in the dark.

Presently the employees and retirees know their rights. They know their obligations and the liability of MTS and they know their limitations. As it presently stands under Bill 67, the essence of the pension plan is unknown to the employees, and any particulars in that regard are not being disclosed. Such an unsatisfactory state of affairs cannot and must not continue to exist. Either amendments to Section 15 must be put into place to make sure that that inequity cannot happen or the promulgation of Section 15 must be postponed until such time as the requisite plan input is allowed. 

Accordingly, it is absolutely imperative that the wishes of the employees and retirees be taken into account in drafting the pension plan. It must be done prior to the plan’s presentation for registration under the act. We not only want a consultative process, we need to have concurrence before the plan is presented. Therefore, Section 15(1) of Bill 67 should change the definition of new plan from “a registrable pension plan established by the corporation” to “a registrable pension plan established by the corporation and its employees/retirees.”  (01586) [Emphasis added]
755. Praznik, speaking as a Cabinet Minister, articulated his understanding as follows:

. . . They have been with respect to concerns regarding how the pension was carried out, and we as a government recognized that we have to have another look at this. That is why I understand those discussions are now going on with MTS. 

I believe that the minister, although I cannot commit him today to amendment or what form, I know that he is very much aware, as all of us are as cabinet ministers, that there are some issues here that have to be resolved very quickly to meet the timing of this bill. 

So I cannot give the member a firm commitment, but I know that the minister is entertaining that, entertaining amendment right now. 

This is an excellent presentation that Mr. Meronek has made. These are the issues that have been flagged with us, and it is not our intention in doing this that we in any way take away from the pension of the employees. If there is some uncertainty here that has to be dealt with, as there may appear to be, we have to address that and that work is currently underway in the discussions Mr. Meronek has outlined and internally to see how best we can accommodate some of these particular concerns. So I wanted to be on the record that we are very much aware of them and the minister is aware of them and we are trying to find out how we are going to be able to resolve them if we can.  (01587) [Emphasis added]
756. It was clear that it was a defining moment because the opposition through Sale threatened to delay the passage of Bill 67 if there were not certain amendments made to satisfy the ERPC’s concerns.

Mr. Sale: I have two questions. One, I am wondering whether the minister acting for the Minister responsible for MTS or another cabinet minister first could indicate to the committee whether at minimum Mr. Meronek’s concern that promulgation be delayed, whether or not amendments are being presented, whether promulgation will be delayed until such time as the minimum requirements that he has identified will be met or whether there are actually amendments under consideration.  (01587)
757. Hansard transcripts of the Standing Committee on Public Utilities and Natural Resources of the Manitoba legislature, which reviewed Bill 67 on a clause by clause basis, confirm that the legislature’s intention was to ensure that the New Plan was equivalent in the broadest sense.  Findlay, stated:  (AD 446)
Mr. Findlay:
If the member looks to the legislation, we get up on to 15(2), we talk about equivalent, equivalent in the broadest sense.
. . .  We want to be sure we have equivalency, pure and simple, that is determined by an independent analysis process.  . . .  I think, down within the legislation, we see whether there would be concern that, how do you really determine, and in the fairest possible way, what equivalency is?  If it is not equivalent, what do you do to bump it up?  [Emphasis added] (15817)
758. The intention was more than the narrow interpretation urged by MTS.  The intent and expectation was that plan members should by and large have the same plan as previously.  If the New Plan included the same governance, the same surplus and rules around it and the same money, one should end up with more or less very closely exactly the same as civil servants would be getting out of the fund some years later.  (V6, p. 11, l. 17-34; p. 12, l. 1-4)
759. As stated by Praznik:
    5       Q      Can   you  help   me,  though,    Mr.  Praznik,    did  you

    6  mean,   by   neutral,    that   neither    one  side,    that   is  the

    7  employees   or  retirees,   or  MTS  on the  other   side,  would  gain

    8  any advantage out of this bill?

    9       A      Neutral   was,   quite  frankly,    with  respect   to  the

   10  employees   and   the  reason,   the  reason   that  was  the  case   is

   11  because   pensions    are  very   important   to  the   people   paying

   12  into  them,  it's   their  livelihood,   and  we  knew  we  had  enough

   13  political   issues   on  the  MTS  bill,  my  impression    of what   we

   14  knew,  sir,  was  that  we  had  enough   political   issues  with  the

   15  whole   issue   of  privatization     and  we   did  not   want  to   do

   16  privatization    to  the,  to  the  disadvantage    of  the  employees

   17  or  retirees   of  MTS.    So  the  concern   around   neutrality   was

   18  with respect, quite frankly, to those employees.  (V6, p. 12, l. 5-18)
760. The plan members ought not be disadvantaged beyond the implementation date because the intent of the transfer was as stated by Praznik:

   18       Q      Not as of implementation date?

   19       A      No,  not  --  beyond  as  well,  because   the  intent  was

   20  to  transfer    the  government's    model,   the   surplus   that  was

   21  their  money   that  they  had  contributed,    the  --  all  the,  the

   22  dollars   of  the   plan,   which  MTS   was  supposed    to  match   in

   23  terms  of  the  employer's   share,   and  if you  transfer   the  same

   24  money,   the   same   surplus,    the  same   governance    model   and

   25  you've    got   the   same   unions,    with   the   same   investment

   26  strategy   as  part   of  that  governance,    10  or  20   years  out,

   27  five,   10   years   out,   that   plan  should    produce   something

   28  pretty similar to the Civil Service plan and, quite frankly,

   29  that  was  my  expectation   and  my  understanding    of  what  was  to

   30  happen.  So it was more than on the day of transfer.

   31       Q      Well, but the bill said as of implementation date,

   32  Mr. Praznik.

   33       A      But,   Mr.   Olson,   as   I  have    indicated,    if  you

   34  transfer the same governance model, if you transfer the same
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    1  tools,   the same   surplus,  the,   the  same  dollars  and  you  have

    2  the   same   people   with   the   same   investment,     conservative

    3  investment strategy, more or less you should end up with the

    4  same result.  (V6, p. 13, l. 18-34; p. 14, l. 1-4)
761. According to Praznik as a member of the Cabinet, the full package of what the plan members had under the CSSF should be the same, so that there would be no effect.  They would not notice a difference in its operation or its effect.  Although there was deemed consent, the understanding was that there be really no change in the Fund, how it operated, benefits, and the like.  It was to be status quo as much as possible under the new legislation, but status quo from the CSSF to MTS, so that there should not really be any issue of concern.  By status quo Praznik meant that there may be some few consequential changes or minor changes, but everything should be the same effectively, including the effective means of governance, the benefits and the surplus so that retirees would not really notice a difference whether they were in MTS or part of the CSSF.  (V5, p. 35-37, l. 1-9)
   16        Q   From,   from  your   perspective,   what  was   the

   17  significance of that --

   18        A   Well --

   19        Q   -- particular section?

   20        A   Yes.    Two  things.    One, to  allow  the  -- my

   21  understanding  was to allow  the Act  to move forward within

   22  the  timeframes and the practicality of, of doing this.   We,

   23  we  did not want  to have a process  that any one individual

   24  or  group could have held it up, so we were deeming consent.

   25  On  the  other side  of it,  it  was our  understanding that

   26  there  really  was  to be  no  change  in the  fund,  how  it

   27  operated,  benefits, et  cetera, so it  was a  status quo as

   28  much  as possible  under the  new legislation,  but a  status

   29  quo  move from civil service fund  over to MTS so that  there

   30  wasn't  really, you know, issues that should give anyone  any

   31  concern.

   32        Q   Now,  from  your understanding  -- well,  what did

   33  you mean by -- what do you mean by "status quo"?

   34        A   That  would be the  whole package, that members of
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    1  the  fund, members, employees of MTS, and pensioners, should

    2  have  noticed no difference in  the operation of the  pension

    3  under   MTS  --  or   no,  no  anything   but  maybe  a   few

    4  consequential  changes or minor changes, but, quite  frankly,

    5  should  essentially  be  the same,  including  the  effective

    6  means  of governance, the  benefits, the  use of the  surplus

    7  that  was there, et cetera,  so that those pensioners,  quite

    8  frankly,  wouldn't really have  noticed a difference whether

    9  they be under MTS or part of the civil service fund.  (V5, p. 36, l. 16-34; p 37, l. 1-9)
Formula Benefits - Narrow Interpretation
762. Given the above, the narrow interpretation placed on the definition of equivalency in value by MTS, as merely the monthly pensions awarded to retirees (citing the definition of pension benefits under the various pension statutes as well as under the plan text), is not sustainable and clearly not was intended  Consider the following:

(a)
the monthly benefit provisions were never an issue, subject of course to the ERPC receiving the plan text and being able to verify the duplication of the various provisions;

(b)
from the beginning the ERPC was always consistent that funding, surplus and governance were the main concerns;

(c)
those concerns were brought to the legislature;

(d)
these concerns were legitimized by government spokespeople;

(e)
representations were made by the government through MTS (AD 434);

(f)
as a result of these concerns, amendments were made to the Act in the form of section 15(2) (the Independent Actuary) and section 15(11) (enshrinement of the November 7 agreement); all with a view to accomplishing equivalency;

(g)
the only government official called to testify, and the government official most involved in the lead up to the November 7, 1996, Agreement (AD 440), identified equivalency in value to mean equivalency of the plan in areas of funding, surplus and governance.

763. Even Fox stated that changes to the CSSP resulting from the PBSA and the ITA were not in issue (AD 866) (21670).  These changes all involved minimum funding requirements imposed on MTS; they did not affect benefits.  Increased funding obligations under the PBSA or the ITA (if that is indeed the case), could not be used to justify a decrease in benefits.
764. Although the definition of equivalency is a legal interpretation, FitzGerald came up with three definitions, all of which were legitimate from his perspective.  The first definition was formula benefits and he was aware that there never had been any dispute about the formula benefits were equivalent, and he admitted that it was just a factor in one of the three definitions.  (V44, p. 65, l. 1-34; p. 66, l. 1-10)
Benefits Versus Liabilities

765. The Act does not speak to whether liabilities shall be “equivalent in value”.  In other words, if it cost MTS more in terms of liabilities or contingent liabilities, that factor is not important or relevant.
766. As discussed previously, the nature of the decision was to ensure that the plan members were not harmed or adversely affected, at all, by the termination of their rights in the Old Plan.  Subsection 15(2) is all about looking at the New Plan from the employee’s perspective (benefits), not from MTS’ perspective (costs).  Subsection 15(2) provides:

15(2) On or prior to the implementation date, the Corporation shall establish:

(a) 
the new plan which shall provide for benefits which on the implementation date are equivalent in value to the pension benefits to which the employees have or may have become entitled under The Civil Service Superannuation Act or to which any other person has or would have become entitled under The Civil Service Superannuation Act by virtue of the death of an employee;  [Emphasis Added]

Appropriate Definition of Equivalency in Value

767. In its broader sense, the definition of equivalency in value means:

(a)
formula (financial or monthly) benefits are equivalent in the sense that the PBSA requirement must be reflected;

(b)
funding in the sense that, on January 1, 1997, 50% of the liabilities are placed into the New Plan by the plan members and by MTS;

(c)
surplus after paying for all accrued benefits, all past COLAs, all future COLAs, all salary increases projected to occur with respect to past accruals that the employees still pay in an additional $49 million.  The $43.4 million incorporated into the November 7 Agreement is included in the $49 million.  (V22, p. 66, l. 29-34; p. 67, l. 1-29)

(d)
governance in the sense that there is consensus before surplus contributed solely by the employees is utilized (and only for their benefit improvements); and that other changes to the plan having an impact on plan members are not made without consensus through the auspices of the Pension Committee.
3.4.4
Formula Benefits

768. The monthly benefits are equivalent.  MTS has suggested that plan members are better off because MTS made some tinkering adjustments.  However, these adjustments are required by the PBSA and do not provide any perceptible benefit increase.  The issue is not equivalence over the monthly payments (Ex. 40, par. 36).  (V21, p. 48, l. 21-34; p. 49, l. 1-14)
769. The changes were made for completeness only.

(i)
In terms of the pre-1984 interest credit, no analysis as to the extent to which it was an improvement or how many people would enjoy that improvement was made.  (V44, p. 73, l. 14-22)
(ii)
The same occurred with respect to the ability of an employee to retire at age 55 with 2 years service.  It is a de minimus improvement and utterly limited in application.
3.4.5
Guaranteed COLA Not a Benefit Improvement

770. The assertion is that the COLA guarantee is better under the New Plan than under the CSSP.  The basis for the assertion is that a guarantee is better than no guarantee.  However, the following must be kept in mind:

(a)
The minimum guarantee includes a ceiling or a capped amount.  There is no possibility of retirees getting greater than 2.67% CPI ever (unless MTS was to transfer funds into the COLA account, which it is not prepared to do);

(b)
In the SAA, under the Old Plan there is no cap.  If CPI was greater than 5% and the SAA was able to achieve 2/3 of 5%, it would be paid.  (V3, p. 31, l. 15-34; p. 32, l. 1-26)
(c)
As a minimum, the CSSF has historically granted an amount equal to or greater than the 2.67%.  When one speaks of an MTS guarantee measured against the CSSF experience, it is not a greater benefit;

(d)
The employees paid for their 50% share of the cost of the guarantee in any event;

(e)
The minimum guarantee was inserted unilaterally by MTS, because MTS, in doing its analysis, was satisfied that OSFI would require a guarantee clause because it was tantamount to an existing pension obligation.  Therefore, the “proof is in the pudding” that the previous COLA benefits enjoyed were just being continued by MTS;
(f)
MTS’ own actuary, Williams, recognized in his only opinion on equivalency that the guarantee may or may not provide a greater benefit; (AD 401)
(g)
It is not a guarantee in the normal sense of the word; i.e. when Party A is obligated to ensure what Party B promises and defaults upon.  Here, MTS was only guaranteeing to pay a benefit like any other benefit under the New Plan, except that the employees had paid their share.

771. On the other hand, COLA under the New Plan could be less, because it is a cap, which has a negative impact.  (Ex. 40, p. 22, par. 36) (V21, p. 49, l. 15-32)
772. Without the guarantee, the employee surplus would have been approximately $128 million, which would have allowed the employees / retirees other benefits.  Consequently, the main reason for putting the guarantee in was to reduce the surplus so that MTS could get a major benefit in terms of a major tax break.  (V21, p. 50, l. 18-28)
Security of SAA
773. MTS kept suggesting at trial that the SAA was in trouble and that somehow people are better off now under the New Plan.  The fact of the matter is that the issue is not about a comparison between the SAA as it was and how it could be.  The SAA was being managed in a manner that in practice guaranteed over time the award of 2/3 of CPI.  It has been that way since 1977 (some 32 years).  Through the Liaison Committee, in conjunction with the Advisory Committee, the CSSB plan surpluses have been injected into the SAA to maintain the account in a manner that ensures 2/3 of CPI now and into the future.  Any argument being made MTS is hypothetical, theoretical and whimsical.

774. The concerns pertaining to the SAA in the early 1990’s related to the fact that, although the SAA had been producing the desired results, if there was greater future inflation, the SAA would not be able to maintain the desired objective.  Consequently, although the government saw it as concern, it was not a priority because the inflation rates were low.  Praznik recalls discussing that if inflation had been a problem, it would have been addressed but as inflation was not a problem at that time, the government was not prepared to match any surplus of the fund which the employees were desirous of placing into the SAA, with a corresponding obligation for matching by the government.

775. As it turned out, no surplus was required to be placed into the SAA prior to privatization (AD 200).  (V5, p. 31, l. 23-34; p. 32-33, l. 1-4)
Benefit Improvements Post-1997

776. The Liaison Committee and the government have negotiated a pension formula increase from 1.4% to 1.6%, the effect of which is to increase pensions up to 14% for those people making $38,000.00 or less.  For individuals earning greater annual salaries, the combined amounts would mean an overall increase of about 7%.  They would apply to both future and current employees.  It was funded by the surplus.  The cost was included in an increase in the contribution rate from 5.1% of earnings up to the CPP limit (AD 1064).  (V3, p. 28, l. 9-34; p. 29-30, l. 1-21)
777. The same cannot be said for the New Plan where no benefits have been improved since January 1, 1997!
3.4.6
Funding

778. There is no equivalency in value.  The Plaintiffs’ strong assertion is that there are two amounts which could be used to establish that funding on Day 1, i.e. the amount of money coming over on December 31, 1996; either $49 million or $43.34 million.  The $43.34 million represents the difference between the amount that MTS transferred from its pension reserve fund to the New Plan as compared to the amount that the plan members transferred.  The $49 million represents the difference between the assets over 1/2 of the liabilities under the CSSF.
779. The total actuarial liability of the New Plan as at January 1, 1997, was $750 million.  One-half of that amount ($375 million) represented the CSSF portion of liabilities, including basic benefits, all COLA benefits, all indexing already paid to retirees and all expected future indexing, including the guarantee based on the actuary’s assumptions for all benefits that had been earned to date.  The employees contributed $424 million, which left a surplus amount of $49 million ($424 million - $375 million).  (V21, p. 23, l. 21-34; p. 24-25, l. 1-25)
780. Tom Levy’s definition was:

     9            My  definition was that it either had to precisely

   10  replicate  all aspects of CSSF  or there could be tradeoffs,

   11  but  if there were tradeoffs, the  pluses and minuses had to

   12  be offset.  It had to be worth the same amount.
(V21, p. 26, l. 9-12)
781. Even Fox determined that funding was important (AD 806) (21671) wherein he states:

i)
The actual level of finding of the pension benefits accrued to December 31, 1996 is very important.  Under the CSSA the funding arrangement was one that attempted to provided benefits that were 50% funded by the employer and 50% funded by the employee.
782. The importance of funding is that the employees and employer under the CSSF, which is to be the model by which equivalency is judged, had an arrangement that costs were shared 50/50.  By contributing $49 million more essentially on Day 1, the plan members were contributing that much more to the total cost of the New Plan.

783. On the basis of market value as at a point in time, which is what was required under The Re-Organization Act, it is clear that instead of a $7 million unfunded liability, there was a $56 million surplus.  The determination of a market value of the assets at a particular point in time, i.e. January 1, 1997, is the only appropriate value to use is market value, not some other biased proxy.  In actuarial practise, a smoothed value is not an alternative to the market value of the assets.  It is a means to a different end.  Smoothing is used to determine cost contribution requirements into the future.  The true value of the assets was $63 million more than ascribed under the first Buck Report (AD 827).  (V21, p. 33, l. 34; p. 31)
784. By any measure, looking forward on January 1, 1997, with knowledge of the actuarial determinations at that time, the Plans were not equivalent in terms of funding.  (V21, p. 32, l. 1-10)
785. Looking prospectively as at January 1, 1997, even with a projection, that the normal costs of the employer would be approximately 120% of the employee contributions, the interest earned on the difference in the initial funding would cover off the difference in any normal costs.  Therefore, the 50/50 matching in funding as at Day 1 was not met (Ex. 40, p. 6-7, par. 10).  (V21, p. 32, l. 24-34; p. 33, l. 1-27)
786. A prospective analysis done at the time without the advantage of hindsight would have indicated the amount of mismatch between what the employees and MTS put in on Day 1 (Ex. 40(a)).  (V21, p. 35, l. 27-34; p. 36; p. 37, l. 1-13)
787. In looking at the amount of dollars transferred on Day 1, two things are apparent:

(a)
The employees / retirees put in $49 million more than required to meet their obligations, including their half of the COLA guarantee.  They also put in $43.4 million more than MTS;

(b)
The employees / retirees did not get anything for that additional payment.  As a matter of fact, MTS gained because, had either $43.4 million or the $49 million not been put into the New Plan, but rather been held back or put into a separate fund or paid out to the employees on a one-time basis, MTS would have had an unfunded liability equal to those amounts and would have eventually had to put into ($43.4 million) or $49 million more into the New Plan.

788. Levy was able to demonstrate that one could duplicate the plan under the CSSF for the purposes of determining equivalency in value.  It would have been easy to track the total employees’ contributions to surplus versus that of MTS in terms of assets provided (Ex. 40, p. 13-18, par. 20-30).  (V21, p. 43-46)
789. As Levy aptly put it,

   24            My  understanding is  that MTS  is defending  their

   25  elimination  of the  employee surplus, as  I've described it

   26  here,  by saying, Well,  but under the  system we really  set

   27  up,  MTS has to pay for all the bad experience and  therefore

   28  MTS  should get the benefit of all the good experience.  And

   29  that  might be plausible  if we were  starting from zero  and

   30  good  experience and bad experience were equally likely,  and

   31  that's  what I  mean when  I say  this analysis  needs to be

   32  done  on  best  estimate  assumptions,  unbiased  ones, that

   33  better experience and worse experience are equally likely.

   34            In  this case,  however, the plan  didn't start at
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    1  zero.   It started with the employees having contributed  $49

    2  million  more than  their half  of the  liability was worth.

    3  Well,  if you're  not starting  at zero  but you're starting

    4  with  $49 million attributable  to the employees, favourable

    5  and  unfavourable are no  longer equally likely.  Favourable

    6  is  much  more likely than  unfavourable  because you're  not

    7  starting  at zero.   You're  starting with  a big favourable

    8  balance.    So I  would have  concluded that  on an economic

    9  basis,  the -- it wasn't  a fair trade, it wasn't equivalent

   10  in  value, because the  employees didn't receive anything in

   11  return  and would not have been expected to receive anything

   12  in  return for  the $49  million that  they contributed over

   13  and  above  what  it was  expected  to take  to  provide  100

   14  percent of their half of the benefits from the CSSF period.  (V21, p. 46, l. 24-34; p. 47, l. 1-14)
790. The overall articulated major premise is that no matter what MTS puts in subsequently, it cannot take away the $49 million that the employees put in there, unless that $49 million was used to purchase a benefit.  It cannot be said more succinctly than Levy said:

                                                       . . . no  matter  what  the

   34  employer  puts  in, it  can't,  it  can't somehow  take away
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    1  whatever  entitlement the  employees had with  regard to  the

    2  49  million that  they  contributed after fully  funding  all

    3  the   accrued benefits  including   the guarantee   on  COLA.

    4  Timing  differences in actuarial computations are dealt  with

    5  by  interest adjustments, the whole present value concept we

    6  discussed  this morning, and so  what, what the company puts

    7  in  and  when  it puts  it  in  may be  interesting,  but  it

    8  doesn't,   it  doesn't  provide   any  compensation  to  the

    9  employees  in the equivalent value  of benefits test for  the

   10  benefits   that  they  could  reasonably  have  expected  to

   11  receive from their $49 million.  (V21, p. 62, l. 33-34; p. 63, l. 1-11)
791. If the $49 million (or $43.4 million) had not been placed into the New Plan, MTS would be responsible for that amount.  Furthermore, if MTS had not transferred any of its pension reserve fund, it would have had to put a substantial amount more into the New Plan in the future, perhaps as much as 90%.  MTS’ costs would have been substantially more than they were was without the infusion of the surplus on the part of the plan members.  (V21, p. 68, l. 24-34; p. 69, l. 1-17)
792. In the absence of the possibility of the $49 million producing additional benefits to the employees (which it did not), then the only possible effect of the $49 million being in the New Plan is that it allowed MTS to pay less than it otherwise would have.  (V21, p. 72, l. 1-21)
793. As stated by Levy in his evidence in response to a question by the Court:
   22            The  resources  here  are  the  assets  transferred

   23  from  the  CSSF,  the assets  transferred  from  the  pension

   24  reserve,   the  future   contributions  from   employee   pay

   25  deductions,   and the   future  contributions from  MTS   and

   26  subsidiary.  The obligations are the benefits.

   27            This  is  really going  to your comment,  My  Lord,

   28  earlier  today.  The contributions from -- the, the  transfer

   29  from  CSSF is a  fixed amount.   The transfer from  MTS is  a

   30  fixed  amount.  The deductions  from the employee paycheques

   31  are  a fixed amount.   The benefits,  for the moment  setting

   32  aside  the 49 million, are a fixed amount.  If the employees

   33  put  in 43  or 49 million  dollars more than  if they hadn't

   34  put  in  a  surplus,  the  balancing  item  is  the employer
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    1  contribution.   The employees put in  43 or 49 million  more,

    2  the  employer,  on  the  only  variable  item,  the employer

    3  contributions,  is going to put in  that same amount less on

    4  a  present value basis.  And  to my way of thinking, that is

    5  using    the    employee   surplus    to   reduce   employer

    6  contributions,  and my understanding of the language in this

    7  document   that  Mr.   Meronek  read   is  that   it  was   a

    8  representation by MTS's CEO that that would not be done.  (V21, p. 72, l. 22-34; p. 73, l. 1-8)
Market Value Versus Smooth Value

794. FitzGerald asserts that a smoothing technique is better to use.

795. He is being somewhat misleading, because he is relying upon a smoothing methodology, which in actuarial standard practice, is used to determine a employer’s contribution requirements for funding in an actuarial report dedicated for only that purpose.  It has nothing to do with the start-up of the New Plan, wherein the precise purpose is to determine the value of assets at a particular date.

796. The evidence is overwhelming that the appropriate use of valuing the assets is market value.  The  facts are:

(a)
MTS’ consultant, Towers & Perrin, used the market value when it was trying to determine the status of the assets upon privatization; (AD 407) (21840) (AD 344) (17280) (Ex. 55)
(b)
Buck Consultants used market value basis in measuring MTS’ assets under the pension reserve fund; (AD 221) (15626)
(c)
Both Buck Consultants (AD 385) and Mercers recommended the use of market value when determining the appropriate split between assets remaining in the CSSF and assets coming over to the New Plan;

(d)
Buck Consultants’ report (AD 827) was prepared for the purposes of funding on a go-forward basis.  It was not prepared for the purposes of determining the value of assets as at a particular date or equivalence;

(e)
The proposed actuarial standard of practise in Canada (Ex. 60) has codified the existing practise of measuring a pension fund’s assets at market value for purposes other than for funding (to reduce volatility).  It is an unbiased value and is used in the sale of a company and it must be used as one measures the value of an asset at a particular point in time in expropriation cases.  (V21, p. 59, l. 12-34; p. 60, l. 1-19)
(f)
FitzGerald himself agrees:


(i)
that it would not be unreasonable to use market value.  He just would have preferred smoothing;  (V45, p. 10)

(ii)
that what is being measured is the value of assets not involving a successor plan.  (V45, p. 11)

(iii)
with the statement:
Assuming that an efficient market exists, the current market value is the best measure of an asset’s value.  The notion that an alternative asset value may provide a more rationale measurement of the true asset value would not normally be considered appropriate.  (Ex. 60) (V45, p. 12-13, l. 1-11)

(iv)
that one could use a shorter period of time, 2 to 3 months, but he could not opine as to whether that would be a lower or higher figure.  (V45, p. 16, l. 15-34; p. 17, l. 1-7)
(g)
FitzGerald was also aware that:


(i)
Towers Perrin used market value in the actuarial valuation reports of the pension reserve fund (AD 221).  (V45, p. 14, l. 23-34)

(ii)
Towers Perrin prepared an analysis on a withdrawal from the CSSA in relationship to privatization for MTS on the basis that they used the best estimate analysis of the fund as it stood in 1995.  (AD 407) and which was relied upon by MTS in its prospectus.  (V45, p. 15-16, l. 1-8)
797. Although, he was aware as to how the assets in the pension reserve fund were measured, he did not know how the assets were dealt with in the CSSF.  (V45, p. 17, l. 1-8)
798. Therefore, based on the above, it is inconceivable that market value should be not utilized to determine equivalence in funding.

799. Furthermore, it is mischievous that FitzGerald would purport to say that there could well be an unfunded liability using market value by using different assumptions.  The exercise is not to deal with assumptions in hindsight; but to deal with facts and the facts are that certain assumptions were made by Williams which everyone accepted, including MTS.  As at January 1, 1997, those assumptions were his best estimate of the plan going forward.  It is equally mischievous for FitzGerald to argue that if other interest rates had been prescribed there would have been less of a surplus or even perhaps an unfunded liability.  (V21, p. 65-66, l. 1-18)
Solvency Funding - MTS
800. To the extent that MTS has injected more money in the New Plan on a solvency basis, it is a cost of MTS privatizing since it had to develop a plan that met the obligations of the PBSA which includes a solvency funding requirement.  In the CSSP there is no solvency funding required.  The special payments are a cost for privatization and provide protection against the cost of the plan if it were wound up which is not a concern in the Old Plan.  Without privatization, there is no nexus with the PBSA.  There is no solvency test and consequently there are no solvency special payments so that by privatizing MTS, the solvency test has been brought into play.  (RV12, p. 18, l. 18-34; p. 19, l. 1-14)
801. Furthermore, the use of solvency funding in a retrospective way is inappropriate for the following reasons:

(a)
Solvency payments were not anticipated on January 1, 1997.  As a matter of fact, the plan was in a surplus position on a solvency basis in 1997 (AD 827) (11202).  Therefore, hindsight has no business or role to play in the assessment as to whether funding was equivalent.  (V22, p. 1, l. 14-34; p. 2, l. 1-13)
(b)
Solvency funding is used for wind-up purposes, not to measure a company’s health on a going concern basis.  When a company has to fund a plan on a solvency basis, the plan usually does not wind up.  The assets remain in the plan and are available to pay benefits and future costs will be lower;

(c)
The payment of 100% of the accrued benefits, with $49 million left over contributed exclusively by the employees, has nothing to do with solvency funding or how much the employer is required under the PBSA to put in the Plan subsequently.  (V22, p. 2, l. 14-34; p. 3, l. 1-7)
802. The total requirement of The Re-Organization Act is to make sure that the employees are not worse off.

803. There is nothing in the legislation which says that MTS has to be better or worse off.  There is nothing in the legislation that said that the liabilities of MTS cannot be greater.

804. If the funding consequence of privatization made MTS more susceptible to risk, then it is a consequence of the government’s decision to privatize MTS.  It has nothing to do with the equivalency of benefits that the employees / retirees would otherwise enjoy, but for the fact that they were deemed to consent to their rights being transferred by a stroke of the legislative pen.

Tax Benefits

805. MTS argues that funding is not part of equivalency in value; but that, if it was, then the post-January 1, 1997 funding obligations of MTS should be taken into account.  While the Plaintiffs disagree with that assertion for the reasons stated above, in any event, the total funding consequences of the privatization gave MTS greater revenue than the ultimate costs of contribution.

806. To be truly reflective of the funding experience (post-January 1, 1997), the fact that MTS received a $383 million tax break over the first four years must be taken into account.  If that tax break is factored into the overall picture, MTS has come out ahead substantially.  The Plaintiffs are not asking for equivalence due to the tax deduction.  (V21, p. 51-52, l. 1-17)
807. In any event, the post facto calculations by MTS are hindsight and must be ignored by the Court in rendering its assessment.
Representations

November 6 Memo (AD 434)

808. The Plaintiffs relied upon AD 434 and mentioned it on several occasions to MTS.  (RV13, p. 10-11)
809. There was no discussion between Fraser and Restall that the commitment made in the November 6, 1996 Memorandum related merely to not using surplus to reduce the pension reserve fund transfer amount.  (RV13, p. 12)
810. By funding, it was understood that the initial surplus was to be used for new benefits only, not the placement of the surplus in the PBAA as a commitment for funding in and of itself.

    2    Q   And so to that extent, you had some discussion

    3  about funding; isn't that correct?

    4    A   I don't think you and I are on the same page.  In

    5  funding, my, my understanding of funding is, is

    6  contribution to pay for upcoming entitlements for plan

    7  members.  I think in here, if I understand you correctly,

    8  you, you're suggesting that the, that the placement of the

    9  excess or surplus in the indexing account is a -- is --

   10  makes up part of funding.  Our understanding of placing the

   11  excess in the indexing account was that it was surplus

   12  owned by plan members and was to be used for new benefits,

   13  new benefits only.  (RV13, p. 14)
Initial Surplus - Misrepresentation
811. The initial surplus of $49 million which the employees / retirees contributed to the New Plan did not entitle MTS to access.  The fact that MTS may have placed more money in the New Plan on a solvency basis in recent years, does not allow it to take the $49 million that was clearly earmarked for the employees / retirees and use it for its own purposes, which it did.  As Levy stated:

   13        A   If  the employees  are, as I  contend, entitled to

   14  $49  million of  value as of  January 1st,  1997, that  being

   15  the  difference  between what  it took  to  pay for  all  the

   16  benefits  for service before  1997 and what they  transferred

   17  over,  nothing the employer contributes can somehow give the

   18  employer  the right to that money.  The right doesn't derive

   19  from  the difference  between the  two  transfers, the  right

   20  derives  from having paid for all of the benefits you expect

   21  to get and $49 million before -- or beyond that.

   22            And,  in fact, I believe on the last page I have  a

   23  kind  of simplified example.   This is  on page 18, footnote

   24  7.   And that is if I have  $10 in my pocket and you have $5

   25  in  your pocket, that doesn't entitle  you to my $10, and  if

   26  somebody  buys your  tie for  $20 and  you put  the money in

   27  your  pocket, in  effect you've  taken $20  from around your

   28  neck  and put it in your pocket.  That still doesn't entitle

   29  you to claim my $10.

   30            In  addition, on  January 1st, 1997,  there was  no

   31  expectation  that the company  would, in  fact, have to make

   32  those  payments.  We may know it now in 2008, but looking at

   33  it  from the  viewpoint of  1997, the  projections would  not

   34  have  showed that those contributions  were ever going to be
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    1  required.   There was  obviously a risk  that they would  be,

    2  and  that risk came home.   But we're talking about what  you

    3  would  have, what you would have expected January 1st,  1997,

    4  and  you  would not have  expected  any such  payments.   And

    5  like  I said,  in any event,  the company  taking money from

    6  its  operating  resources and  putting  it into  the  pension

    7  plan can't create an entitlement to the employees' money.

    8        Q   When  you say that  they're --  in 1997, you  could

    9  --  you wouldn't forecast that there would be payments, how,

   10  how do you come to that conclusion?

   11        A   At  that time, on a  windup basis, solvency basis,

   12  the  plan was overfunded  by 36 million.   If you played out

   13  the   --  say,  with  an  open  group valuation   using Buck

   14  Consultants'  assumptions, which,  for purposes  of trial,  I

   15  have  accepted as a reasonable best estimate, you would have

   16  not  projected that solvency payments would be needed.  They

   17  are    needed   because   interest   rates   declined   very

   18  drastically,  they  are needed  because there were  some  bad

   19  years  in the market, and the  forecast says at January 1st,

   20  1997  that the  actuary chosen  by the company  was doing --

   21  did  not anticipate that that  would happen.  Obviously,  one

   22  assumes  he would have recognized it might, just as it  might

   23  have gotten much more favourable.  (V21, p. 54, l. 13-34; p. 55, l. 1-23)
812. The government clearly represented, through MTS, that MTS would not use the initial surplus to “reduce MTS’s cost or share of contributions to the new pension plan” (AD 434).

813. MTS has clearly breached that representation given when it was a Crown agency in that it has subsumed the $49 million.  In the net result MTS has reduced its costs by that amount and furthermore has taken contribution holidays, which would not have been allowed had the $49 million not remained part of the main fund for the purposes of assessing whether there was a surplus or an unfunded liability.
3.4.7
Use of Ongoing (“Future” or “Emerging”) Surplus

814. In the case of Lawrie v. Deloro Stellite Division 1993 CarswellOnt 930 (OntCA), the purchaser acquired the assets of a company and received a transfer of assets from the vendor’s pension plan.  Under the terms of the vendor’s plan, the employee members were entitled to surplus.  The purchaser’s plan, however, provided that surplus would belong to the company on plan termination.  Upon completion of the transaction, the purchaser sent a letter to employees which included a statement offering to employ the employees on the same terms and conditions and to provide them with “pension benefits and any other employee benefits no less favorable” than those the employees currently enjoy.  At first instance, the court held that employees and the company were entitled to share surplus on the termination of the purchaser’s plan.

815. The Ontario Court of Appeal held, however, that the letter created a special contractual arrangement between the purchaser and the employees, which entitled employees to the entire surplus.  The court endorsed the view of the trial judge that the reference to “pension benefits” in the employee letter should not be interpreted to mean “pension benefits” as defined in Section 1 of the Pension Benefit Act (which would have limited employee’s interest to the amount of the pensions provided for under the plan), but rather should be granted a more expansive interpretation.
816. The Court of Appeal stated as follows:

In my judgment the letter is clear. The contract was that the company would provide a pension plan as good if not better than the pension plan the employees already had. To finesse a term that the words "pension benefits" should be pension benefits as defined by s. 1(1)(h) of the Pension Benefits Act, R.S.O. 1980, c. 373, and that the rest of the letter should not be taken to give the employees the rights that they previously had to any surplus in their pension plan, is to interpret the letter in a manner that it was never intended to be interpreted.

I hold that Cabot agreed to provide a pension plan wherein, at the very least, any surplus generated by the assets turned over to the new plan from the old plan, and the employees' contributions to the new plan, would be the property of the employees. The fact that not all the members of the class signed the contract is not material to this proceeding at this time.  (@ para. 3)  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 29]
817. By analogy, The Re-Organization Act clearly meant to duplicate what was enjoyed before and there can be no doubt that surplus was enjoyed by the employees / retirees historically.
818. As stated previously on several occasions, the surplus in the Fund was employee money and could only be used to benefit the employees with their agreement.  It was a basic principle that was applied to whatever circumstance arose and there was never any suggestion that the government could use surplus to pay down its accrued obligations.  (V5, p. 16, l. 17-34; p. 17, l. 19-29)
Reasonable Expectation

819. Based on the history of the CSSF Plan, the Plaintiffs had a “reasonable expectation” that the surplus accumulated under the at Plan and attributable solely to employees’ contributions would be safeguarded.  Fox had those same expectations and he deliberated upon them, because it was addressed in his draft Opinion.  

820. The case of Burke
 v. Governor and Co. of Adventurers of England Trading into Hudson's Bay [2005] O.J. No. 5434 (OntSCJ) @ para. 172-173 (“Burke”), involves a factual situation analogous to the instant case.  The Burke case was about the partial sale of a business and whether the employees, who were transferred to the purchaser, were entitled to take with them their pro rata share of the surplus in the vendor’s pension plan.  The court ruled that the question as to whether employees had a right to surplus was to be determined based on their “reasonable expectations”.
821. In Burke, Campbell, J. stated @ 173 and 197:

173.
In the absence of specific contract entitlement, where a plan is not terminated or wound-up or in the absence of legislative directives, it is reasonable to look at the history of conduct of the parties to determine what their expectation in respect of surplus was at any point in time.

197.
The remedy for the breach of trust does not entail in these circumstances a tracing in respect of the entire surplus as if the Plan had been terminated or wound-up, but rather the breach of an equitable trust that will be measured by the reasonable expectation of the transferred employees had the rateable portion of surplus attributable to them been transferred at the time.  [Emphasis added]  [Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 30]
822. MTS argues, primarily through FitzGerald, that as to surplus, he could find no evidence by a mere reading of the CSSA that surplus was a benefit to be replicated in the New Plan.  He was not able to opine as to the consequences if he was wrong in that regard.  The FitzGerald assessment was fallacious in any event and of no assistance to this Court and in complete contradiction to the evidence.

823. All he relied upon was a review of the CSSA, but he conceded that there was nothing in the Act which gave the government unilateral control over employee surplus.  He conceded that, if there is an entitlement to surplus by the plan members and there is no ability by the government to use that surplus for any other purpose than for benefit improvement and benefit improvements are made, that is a benefit in and of itself.  (45, p. 20, l. 6-13)
824. Section 15 of the Act speaks in terms of a definition of a transfer amount meaning,

That part of the assets of the fund, as at the implementation date, determined by multiplying the total assets of the fund including any surplus by a fraction.  [Emphasis added]

825. In that respect, he was aware that there was no dispute that the assets referred to in Section 15 of The Re-Organization Act that the employee surplus portion is not employer’s money.  (V45, p. 21, l. 26-34; p. 22-23; p. 29)
826. He was aware that there is no specific reference to a COLA guarantee under the Act and yet it was introduced into the New Plan, but he could not see the obvious analogy, that on the basis of past experience, surplus use by plan members ought to be introduced as well into the New Plan.  (V45, p. 25)
827. FitzGerald’s inscrutably asserts that because the word “surplus” is not defined in the CSSA, therefore there was no surplus under the CSSP.

828. FitzGerald never investigated the history of the use of surplus under the Old Plan.  He overlooked, failed to acknowledge, or otherwise did not appreciate the undisputed evidence that:

(a)
there has never been any dispute that the employees owned surplus;

(b)
surplus was always used to the benefit of the employees and for other purpose;

(c)
the word “surplus” does appear in the CSSA in terms of specific provisions dealing with surplus coming over to the Superannuation Adjustment account (see Section 33 of the CSSA);

(d)
the CSSP actuaries (Turnbull and Turnbull and Ellement & Ellement), from the inception of the CSSP, up to the present, in every actuarial report describes and identifies actuarial surplus;

(e)
surplus in The Re-Organization Act is mentioned in Section 15(2);

(f)
in all of the correspondence between the Plaintiffs and MTS, never once was there a suggestion that the word “surplus” was not an appropriate word to use under the circumstances.

829. Furthermore, FitzGerald:

(a)
has admitted that it is not an actuarial question, but rather a legal question as to whether there is surplus in terms of interpretation;

(b)
does not profess to be giving a legal opinion and admitted that it was not within his bailiwick.

830. It stretches credulity for that kind of analysis to be made and speaks to the lack of reliance the Court can put on the entire evidence of FitzGerald.

Surplus as a Benefit

831. FitzGerald agrees that $49 million more came over to the New Plan after the plan members paid 50% of the liabilities for all accrued benefits and past COLA awards and if it had not gone into a trust fund, MTS would have had a greater unfunded liability.  Having gone into the New Plan, MTS’ costs were lower.  (V45, p. 26, l. 22-34; p. 27, l. 1-22)
832. He does agree with the statement that was made by Fox in his February 18, 1997 draft opinion (AD 806), when he says:
The actual level of funding of the pension benefits accrued to December 31, 1996, is very important.  Under the CSSA, the funding arrangement was one that attempted to provide benefits that were 50% funded by the employer and 50% funded by the employee.

(V45, p. 33, l. 22-34; p. 34, l. 1-17)
833. FitzGerald’s agreement that it was reasonable for Fox to make that assessment is a matter to keep in mind.  (V45, p. 35)
834. He also has no basis to dispute the statement by Fox that:
Surplus ownership has not been a concern in the past because the surplus in the CSSA belonged to the employees.  (V45, p. 36, l. 1-15)
835. He was not aware that the employees did not want control of the employer’s surplus.  They just wanted a say in how their surplus was used.  (V45, p. 39, l. 32-34; p. 40, l. 1-3)
836. There is no equivalency in use of surplus.
3.4.8
Governance

837. Clearly there is no equivalency in governance.  MTS seems to be arguing that employees / retirees thought that they had full control over their affairs.  The Plaintiffs do not make that claim.  The Plaintiffs have always argued that they should have the same kind of impact and input into the use of surplus and any plan changes that they did under the old regime.  Governance was clearly by way of consensus.  The fact that governance has not been spelled out in detailed prose in the CSSA, does not relieve the Court from looking at the factual underpinnings as to the practise underlying the Liaison Committee / Advisory Committee roles as articulated in the legislation and in Hansard when the committees were legislatively enshrined.

838. The New Plan calls for a very minimal, marginal and weak role for the employee / retiree segment of the Pension Committee.  If MTS had exercised the good faith that Fox said that he hoped and expected from MTS, then perhaps the inadequate wording in the plan text and governance document would have been of less consequence.  However, those words in the plan text and in the governance document were there to give MTS as wide a berth and discretion as possible, such that the total control over the plan resides with MTS and there was nothing that the employee / retiree group could do to influence any decision.

839. If MTS has the greater risk, then it makes sense that it should have some control over surplus.  The Plaintiffs do not argue otherwise.  What the Plaintiffs are asserting is their fair share of say over the surplus that they generate, just as they had under the CSSP and as demanded by The Re-Organization Act.

840. Due to Fox’s lack of professional courage, he capitulated to stronger wills and thereafter justified his decision to exclude governance in part by saying that he trusted MTS would act in good faith.  Time has demonstrated his belief to be completely naïve and erroneous and an abdication of responsibility, as MTS, from the beginning, maintained it was going to using the ongoing surplus at its own discretion.

841. The fact that MTS went through the motions of discussing some kind of compromise with respect to the use of surplus, was only subterfuge.  MTS had no intention of fulfilling its fiduciary and statutory obligations concerning surplus.  While the actuary for MTS actually was able to draft some wording about surplus sharing, at the very same time MTS paid “lip service” to those suggestions by concomitantly telling the Plaintiffs that it would not negotiate any use of surplus sharing (AD 542).  It turns out that the formula which Williams drafted and the Plaintiffs attempted to insert into Section 16 of the plan text in December, matched in principle what Fox said should have been done (AD 806) (21672).  (V21, p. 52, l. 20-34; p. 53, l. 1-30)
MTS Relied Upon the Evidence of FitzGerald to Assert its Position

842. FitzGerald’s only assessment was looking at the provisions of the CSSA.  (V45, p. 2, l. 1-34)
843. It is not really in his realm of expertise.  (V45, p. 3, l. 1-21)
844. FitzGerald conceded his opinion would be incorrect if some kind of control in terms of surplus had been enjoyed by the employees.  (V45, p. 4; l. 1-12)
845. He was not aware that:

(a)
All recommendations under the CSSF relating to the use of surplus were initiated by the Liaison Committee;

(b)
All recommendations with respect to the surplus in the New Plan are initiated by the Administrator; and

(c)
No recommendations have been made by the Pension Committee.  (V45, p. 34)
846. He was aware that under the Old Plan there had to be consensus while under the New Plan there does not have to be.  (V45, p. 5, l. 1-34)
847. He conceded that under the New Plan, the Administrator along with the Pension Committee can make recommendations, while under the Old Plan, only the Liaison Committee and Advisory Committee could and did in the past make recommendations.  The Pension Committee has never made any recommendations, which is a different set of facts.  (V45, p. 6-7, l. 1-2)
848. He was aware that the government agreed to plan improvements based on the use of employee surplus, but he is not aware that MTS has agreed to none.  He would admit that is a different set of facts.  (V45, p. 7)
849. He agreed as well that under the New Plan there is no governance by consensus; whereas, there is under the Old Plan.  (V45, p. 8, l. 1-21)
850. MTS asserts that the government had the final say, which is equivalent to the Board of MTS having a final say and authority over the New Plan.  Actually, the legislature has the final say, because it is a legislative enactment which is quite a bit different than the Board of Directors of a company endorsing the proposals of hired employees.  There is no equivalency between the legislature and the Board of Directors of MTS.

851. The mechanism set up in the governance plan text was never supported by the ERPC.  The duties and responsibilities accorded to the Pension Committee on paper did not reflect the reality of what was expected in the way of input for plan members’ representatives in the administration of the plan.  The reasonable expectation was that, as the member representatives had only the Pension Committee to act as its sole avenue into the operation of the plan, the New Plan would duplicate the input of the plan members in the CSSP, achieved through the Liaison Committee and plan member representation on the CSSB.  (RV12, p. 31, l. 1-25)
852. The recommendations set out in the plan governance document were not sufficient to fulfill the responsibilities of the representatives for the plan members.  The employee / retiree representatives made more than recommendations; they had a level of influence not available in the New Plan.

853. In terms of governance (November 6, 1996 memo) (AD 434), “governing body” meant that the Pension Committee would be responsible for governing and managing the pension plan, setting policy and there would be shared representation.  It was to emulate the actual operational structure as closely as possible to the CSSP; in other words, both having a role with a similar structure to the CSSP.  The memorandum was reviewed line by line and the Pension Committee was discussed as the governing body.  The only issue was the composition of that governing body and the appointment of a Chair; not governance itself.  (V5, p. 52-53)
854. The understanding Praznik had as the only member of the government who gave evidence, is the following:

   18       Q      Did  you  understand   what   the pension   committee   was

   19  at that point, when you heard the presentation?

   20       A      The, the pension committee, the understanding that

   21  I  would  have  had  when  I  heard   that,  would  be  the  governing

   22  body of the pension plan.

   23       Q      But  you   didn't  even   know  what   the  provisions    of

   24  the PBSA were?

   25       A      No.    Sir,  I  would   like  to   just  address   that   in

   26  asking   the   question    because   we   do  know   that   advise    --

   27  committees    can  have   names,  advisory    pension   committee   but

   28  it's   the   operational     effect   that    they   get   within   the

   29  structure   and  it  was  in  (inaudible)    that  was  important   and

   30  the intent was if there was a pension committee, in whatever

   31  form that was allowed under the act --

   32       Q      This is your understanding?

   33       A      Yes.

   34       Q      Yes.
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    1       A      It's my understanding --

    2       Q      All right.

    3       A      --   that    it   would   have    a   similar    level    of

    4  governance   and  participation    as  employees   enjoyed   under  the

    5  civil   service    plan,   which   was   one  of,   in   practise,    of

    6  negotiation    of these   issues,  and  a  fair  degree,   a very  high

    7  degree of involvement.  So that was my understanding, sir.  (V6, p. 30, l. 18-34; p. 31, l. 1-7)
3.4.9
Security

855. While MTS makes a major issue out of how secure the New Plan is compared to the CSSF, the ERPC never really addressed MTS’ assertions initially because it was a foregone conclusion that the government plan was more secure and the plan members were happy with it.  They were unhappy with the suggestion that the New Plan was more secure.  It is a bogus argument.  In any event, in light of the evidence of MTS’ own expert, FitzGerald, the argument is debunked.  He stated he could not come to a empirical conclusion as to whether the plans were equivalent from a security point of view, because he could not determine whether a government plan was more secure than the New Plan.  He therefore opined that the Plans were equivalent in that regard.  (V44, p. 86, l. 8-34)
856. Not much emphasis needs to be placed on the MTS position because it is a “red herring”.  However, the following has to be kept in mind:

(a)
a government sponsored plan is inherently more secure than a private plan, which is why there is an exemption under the PBA from requiring the government to pre-fund its obligations;

(b)
governments will always be around and will always have a tax base upon which to draw to meet their obligations.  Private companies do not.  Consequently, there are stringent rules put in place in the PBSA to make up for that lack of security, by requiring monies to be placed in trust and by requiring stringent solvency rules in the event that private plans wind up.

857. Private plans do and have wound up which has cost employees /retirees dearly as a result.  Not one government plan has ever wound up.  (Ex. 58) (26191) (V44, p. 91, l. 26-34; p. 92; p. 95-96, l. 1-6)
858. More particularly in Manitoba, the government plan has never wound up; has never threatened to wind up; has never been at risk of winding up; and has never been at risk in not providing the employees with the benefits promised.

859. To look at legislation from other jurisdictions for the proposition that a government can unilaterally increase employee contributions, is erroneous for the following reasons:

(a)
other jurisdictions post-1996 history are irrelevant for the purposes of what one could expect concerning security of the CSSP on January 1, 1997, and is hindsight;

(b)
to the extent that there are comparisons with other jurisdictions, none of the other jurisdictions had a plan where there was no funding on the part of the government.  The CSSP is a hybrid plan and unique;

(c)
without knowing the reasons for increased contributions or reduced use of surplus and without knowing whether or not there was agreement, no comparisons can be made.  (Ex. 53) (V44, p. 90, l. 18-34; p. 91, l. 1-22)
860. Clearly, a government can do whatever it wants in terms of changing legislation.  Just as there is nothing to prevent a legislature or parliament from unilaterally changing an Act to increase contributions or to reduce benefits, nor is there any restriction in the government from passing amendments to the PBSA which would likewise increase contributions or reduce benefits to employees / retirees and make their pension funds less attractive.  (V21, p. 58, l. 9-34; p. 59, l. 1-11) (V44, p. 94)
Use of Surplus by Government

Public Servants Insurance Amendment Act (AD 474) (03955)
861. MTS has made the assertion in terms of security, that the government can unilaterally use surplus and there is a reference to the intent by this government to transfer some $8 million of surplus from the employees’ group life insurance fund.  However, MTS is mischaracterizing the facts surrounding that particular matter in the following respects:

(a)
part of the $8 million was government surplus as a result of contributions made by the government into the insurance fund;

(b)
the payment out was by agreement with the MGEU in order to elicit further benefits from the government and as such was not unilateral;

(c)
the CSSB took the position that the government could not unilaterally use that surplus and required the government to indemnify the CSSB; and,
(d)
legislation was passed to reinforce that the government could not take surplus without employee consent even though a portion of the surplus was attributable to government contributions (AD 227 & AD 251) (21804).
Pension Reserve Fund Held in Trust in the New Plan
862. MTS asserts that there is more security under the New Plan because the pension reserve fund was not held in trust; and, therefore there was a risk that it could be used for other purposes; whereas, under the PBSA, the pension reserve fund was subsumed in a trust.  However, the argument is fallacious for the following reasons:

(a)
Whether MTS had a pension reserve fund or not, did not reduce the obligation of MTS to pay for the full 50% of benefits.  The government was backing the plan members in that it had an obligation under the CSSA to provide for its 50% obligation.  On the off chance that MTS went out of business, then the CSSA kicked in to protect the employees;

Definition of "employer"
22(9)       For the purposes of subsection (8), "employer" means the government or an agency of the government or any association, corporation, board, commission or body to the employees of which this Act applies but does not include any such employer who is required to make contributions to the fund under subsection 6(5).  (Ex. 4, Tab 2) (24927)
Payment to fund for defunct agencies 

22(10)      Where an agency of the government, to the employees and former employees of which this Act applies, ceases to exist and 

(a) no other agency of the government assumes or is charged with satisfying that agency's obligations under this Act; and 

(b) payments are required to be made by the board from the fund in respect of any of those former employees, and the agency that has ceased to exist would have been required if it had continued to exist to make payments to the fund in respect of those payments by the board; 

the Lieutenant Governor in Council may designate the source from which those payments of the agency that has ceased to exist shall be made to the fund.  (Ex. 4, Tab 2) (250300)
(b)
The reason pension contributions were placed into trust in the PBSA as well as under provincial legislation, was because of the lack of security in a private company being able to exist indefinitely and to ensure sufficient funds to back up their obligation;

(c)
In any event, it was never an issue with the plan members.  In response to counsel for MTS’ question about security, Restall summed up the rhetoric of MTS in the following terms:

   30       Q      All  right.     And   I  think   my  question    was,  sir,

   31  whether   or  not  there  was  some   discussion   or  you  understood

   32  that   there  was   some  benefit   of   having  it   in  a  trust  and

   33  protected by federal legislation.

   34       A      I  don't  remember   spending   any  time  thinking   about
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    1  it or talking to anybody about that point.  (RV10, p. 22, l. 30-34; p. 23, l. 1)
3.4.10
Expert’s Conclusion

863. The Plaintiffs recite the reasons stated in Levy’s report as to why he believed there is no equivalency between the Plans (Ex. 41, p. 18, par. 41).

41.
Based on the above, I reiterate my conclusion that the MTS Plan was not equivalent in value to CSSA. The first detriment to the participants is the loss of benefit improvements. This element has a value of $49 million as of January 1, 1997, plus investment income that would have been earned on that sum since that date. The second detriment to the participants is the imposition of a cap on indexing. This has no calculated value as of January 1, 1997, because the plan actuary assumed that the cap would never actually apply, but it clearly is of value. The third detriment to the participants is the mathematics of the Adjustment Account, the correction of which would require the redetermination of the account balance retroactive to January 1, 1997. The fourth detriment to the participants is governance. In addition to giving the employees reasonable control over the management of the plan, the Plan must allow the employees both to constrain benefit reductions and to access employee surplus to improve benefits, as in the CSSA.   (V21, p. 77, l. 19-34; p. 78; l. 1-32)
3.5
Fiduciary Relationship

864. Even the government, which included MTS as a Crown agent, occupied a fiduciary role.  Relationships that involve fiduciary obligations extend beyond express trusts:  “Every trustee is a fiduciary but not every fiduciary is a trustee”.

865. Fiduciary relationships are not restricted to establish categories:

It is sometimes said that the nature of fiduciary relationships is both established and exhausted by the standard categories of agent, trustee, partner, director, and the like.  I do not agree.  It is the nature of the relationship, not the specific category of actor involved that gives rise to the fiduciary duty.  The categories of fiduciary duty, like those of negligence, should not be considered closed.
Guerin v. R. 1984 CarswellNat 813 (SCC) (Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 31)
866. The government is not exempt from being a fiduciary.  In Guerin, a case involving the Crown, the Supreme Court of Canada held that:

[W]here by statute, agreement, or perhaps by unilateral undertaking, one party has an obligation to act for the benefit of another, and that obligation carries with it a discretionary power, the party thus empowered becomes a fiduciary.
867. As noted by the Court of Appeal in Authorson (Litigation Guardian of) v. Canada (Attorney General) 2002 CarswellOnt 815 (Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 32) , the principle set out in Guerin has continuing application to the Crown and is not limited to relationships between the Crown and Aboriginal peoples:

Over the years since Guerin, the Supreme Court of Canada has significantly developed this area of the law.  As La Forest J. described in Hodgkinson v. Simms […] that development begins with Guerin and the seminal passage we have just quoted.  This evolution has proceeded with no suggestion that Guerin is to be confined to its facts or to the Crown or to situations of aboriginal title.  Rather Guerin is treated as the foundation of this line of jurisprudence.
868. Once a relationship is determined to be one that gives rise to fiduciary obligations, it remains to be determined what the specific obligations of the fiduciary are.  That determination is highly dependent on the context.  As stated in Hodgkinson v. Simms 1994 CarswellBC 438 (Plaintiffs’ Book of Authorities, Tab 33):
[T]he precise legal or equitable duties the law will enforce in any given relationship are tailored to the legal and practical incidents of a particular relationship.
869. As a Crown agency, and part of the government, likewise MTS had a fiduciary duty.

870. In this case, the key elements include:

1)
The government was a plan sponsor and had an integral role to play in making certain that the plan members were protected;

2)
MTS, as a government agency, was not independent, even though it acted as if it was a separate corporation.

871. MTS, rather than being deceptive and parsimonious in its dissemination of information, had an obligation to be transparent, fulsome and accurate in fulfilling its obligations imposed upon it by its master, the government.
872. MTS was in a horrible conflict of interest, because its duty to the plan members was compromised by its overwhelming interest in making certain that its shareholders would be placated, by having a plan text which met only the minimum requirements of the PBSA.  It ignored the wider objectives of The Re-Organization Act; all to the detriment of the plan members in terms of a substantial loss of benefits and benefit opportunities.

873. One only needs to consider that had a retiree remained with the CSSF, for the same cost, the retiree would have received an 8% to 14% increase in his or her pension.  Nothing of that sort has taken place under the New Plan.  (AD 1046)
Non-Disclosure of Draft Plan

874. The lack of disclosure by MTS was palpable, extensive and continuous.  The excuse of MTS that it needed to have “all its ducks in a row” so to speak prior to releasing the draft plan to the ERPC was a lame excuse.  It was a pretense behind the real motive of nor disclosure in advance of the passage of Bill 67.  MTS did not want to reveal the true contents of the plan text, because nothing had changed in terms of the concerns of the ERPC in any of the drafts leading up to the disclosure on November 11.

875. As aptly put by Praznik with respect to the disclosure of the draft:

     9       Q      Do you accept that, at some point, MTS' management

   10  would have to run the text by its board of commissioners?

   11       A      Yes.

   12       Q      And   we  know,   and   we're   getting    closer   to  the

   13  November 7 agreement but you've indicated that employees and

   14  retirees   wanted    --  it  was   critical,   from   their   point   of

   15  view, to have a chance to look at the text?

   16       A      Yes,   it's   not   unusual,    Mr.   Olson,   for   --   in

   17  drafting a document that before it receives approval or goes

   18  to government, that with -- that it -- there is consultation

   19  with  the  parties   involved.    It  would  not  have  been  untoward

   20  for,  anywhere   in  this  process,   to  a draft  being   shared  with

   21  the  people  who  would   be affected   by  it  so that  when   reports

   22  were  provided,   up  to  the  board  of  commissioners    or the  next

   23  level  of  governments    that  there  would  be  a  clear  indication

   24  that   people   who  are  affected    by  it  were   acceptable.      So

   25  that's   also,   also  method   of   operation.     I  don't   want   to

   26  leave,   on   the   record,   the   impression    that   it  would    be

   27  inappropriate    to  share  a  document   in  that  process,   as  long

   28  as   it  was   understood    that   was   happening.      And   it  has

   29  happened,   it  happened   in  various   roles  I  had  in  government

   30  where drafts were shared with various people so that I would

   31  understand   and  make   sure  my  draft  that  I  was  taking   for  an

   32  approval   reflected    what  I  was  intending    it  to  do  and  the

   33  people affected by it were, were in a concurrence.  (V6, p. 26, l. 9-33)
876. According to Praznik, had the plan document been available and discussed earlier, there would not have been the problems that ultimately were experienced.  (V6, p. 51, l. 2-11)
877. Restall summed it up best in terms of the right to participation with the following quote:

   25       Q      Well,  why  would   they  --  why  should  they  negotiate

   26  with their own employees when they have received a statutory

   27  direction to try and achieve something, sir?

   28       A      We viewed ourselves as being partners with MTS in,

   29  in  the  plan.    We  were  --  we  would  be  moved   from  the  civil

   30  service   plan  into  the  new  plan,  it  was  our  firm  belief  that

   31  we,  as  plan  members,   bringing   over   a significant    amount   of

   32  funds to, to the plan, that it was only fair and proper that

   33  we be involved in the creation of the new plan.
. . . 

   17       A      Have a right to be involved in the, in the details

   18  of putting the plan together and I think it would have added

   19  weight   if they  had,  when   it was  complete,   to  take  it  to the

   20  government    and  say  that   we  have  developed    a  plan  that   we

   21  feel  is  fair   and  equitable,   and   it  has  the  endorsement    of

   22  the  plan   members.     I  think   that   that  would   have   carried

   23  weight   with  the  government   and  it  would   have  avoided   a lot

   24  of the things that have happened since.
. . . 

   32       Q      Your  position   ended  up  being   that  the  bill  should

   33  never   be  passed  until   they  had   agreement   from  your   group.

   34  Wasn't it?
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    1       A      We  certainly   wanted  to  be  involved   to  that  point,

    2  where   we  could  go  to  our  members   and   say  that  we  have   --

    3  that we can endorse the new plan, we support it and in -- at

    4  the  same  time   MTS  could  go  to  the  government    and  say  that

    5  they have the support of the thousands of plan members.  (RV10, p. 80, l. 25-33; p. 81, l. 17-24, l. 32-34; p. 82, l. 1-5)
878. At no time did Fraser indicate in the discussions leading up to the November 7 agreement (AD 440) that the plan text called for MTS to utilize surplus at its discretion and that the governing body of the plan would be the Board of the Company.  It would have been contrary to the document he provided (AD 434) and in any discussions that Praznik was involved in with him during the negotiation of the November 7, Agreement (AD 440).  Furthermore, there was no discussion as to how the COLA account was going to operate.  (V5, p. 79, l. 15-34)
879. Nor was Praznik made aware that on November 12, 1996, the Company was seeking approval from the MTS Board of Commissioners to a draft plan text that the ERPC had not seen (AD 459 & AD 479).  (V5, p. 80-81)
880. The fact that MTS had not even shared a draft opinion was a major problem for the government.  Praznik put it this way:

    4            Was   there   any   discussion    surrounding   the

    5  provision of a plan text to the employees and retirees?

    6        A   There  was  a great  deal  of discussion  about it

    7  because   this  was  --  in  my  observation  and  view   and

    8  experience,  was a  major problem for us  in government that

    9  MTS  had not even shared a  draft with the pensioners.   Here

   10  we  had a group  of people whose money  it was, whose future

   11  was  in the pension plan, who  were asking for guarantees in

   12  the  sense  that their  interests were  being protected,  and

   13  MTS  had  not  provided that.    So from  my  perspective in

   14  negotiating this, this was a huge issue.

   15            There  is no  way that the  pensioners, in my view

   16  in  negotiating, would accept any  agreement unless they  had

   17  a  chance to see  that document and  ensure that it complied

   18  with  all  of the  principles that  had been  discussed that

   19  went  into that pension  plan.  And the  fact that it hadn't

   20  been  provided to date was part of  the reason we had such  a

   21  political  issue  in these  dying  days of  the Legislature.

   22  And  I, and I would say,  as part of that discussion, I made

   23  it  very  clear that  we could  not get an  agreement unless

   24  there  was a commitment by  MTS to provide that document  for

   25  a  reasonable  period of  time in  which the  pensioners  can

   26  ensure  that it  said what  had been expressed  to them and,

   27  and what was expected.  (V5, p. 58, l. 4-27)
881. Praznik was not aware that, on November 7, 1996, there had already been a meeting of the Board of Commissioners whereby the pension plan had been approved.  That would have caused great concern because the Bill had not been through the legislature and there was no reason why the employees should not have had the plan text.  Moreover, it would have allowed the government to properly focus the issues and move forward if the document had reflected what the intent of the government was.  (V5, p. 59-60)
882. The plan members were not aware that the New Plan was developed based primarily on tax considerations for the benefit of MTS.  (RV2, p. 51)
883. The plan members were not provided with a copy of the Towers Perrin report, nor were they provided with information as to the status of the pension reserve fund or its status at the end of 1995, which showed a liability for COLA increases in the future at 2/3 of CPI.  (RV2, p. 52)
884. From the beginning of the strategy and development of the New Plan, no one from the employees or retirees or any representatives thereof, were invited to participate or made privy to the strategy to be developed.  (RV2, p. 54)
885. Nor were the plan members made aware of any drafts of the pension plan documents being prepared by the MTS employees and representatives, including AD 258, in which the provisions relating to governance and the use of surplus were developed.  (RV2, p. 55-58)
886. The reason for the non-disclosure is fairly transparent.  MTS was in a crisis mode in terms of obtaining the maximum tax advantage it could by having a plan prepared suitable to its own needs and registered at the earliest opportunity.

887. There was no intention on the part of MTS to “upset the apple cart”, by giving the ERPC any information which would slow down the process.

888. In full knowledge of the concerns of the ERPC with respect to funding, surplus and governance, the MTS set out purposely to undermine the concerns of the ERPC, lest there would the kind of political repercussions as opined by Praznik (and as warned by Sale) in terms of the Bill not being able to be passed.

889. Had it not been for the eleventh hour intervention by the government, not even the November agreement would have been signed prior to the passage of the Bill and a more hopelessly flawed plan text would have been registered and then provided well after the fact.

890. By ignoring the interests of the plan members, MTS acted in a high-handed and offensive way to the detriment of plan members and demonstrated anything but the good faith, as expected even by Fox.
891. The end result was a litany of behaviour that was perpetrated well beyond 1997; with the consequent loss of significant rights to the Plaintiffs at monumental expense.

4.0
REMEDIES
892. The prayer for relief in paragraph one of the Fresh as Amended Statement of Claim asks for the following Declarations and Orders: 


November 7 Agreement

(l)
A mandatory injunction ordering that the defendants, pursuant to the November Agreement, pay to the employees and former employees of the defendants, as represented by the plaintiffs, for unpaid pension benefits in the form of cost of living adjustments (“COLA”) or general increased pension benefits to which the employees and former employees of the defendants are entitled in the amount of $43.364 million plus interest at the plan rate of return since January 1, 1997;

(m)
A declaration that the defendants are to keep a separate accounting to reflect all assets and liabilities from time to time pertaining to certain COLA to which the employees and former employees of the defendants are or will be entitled and not for use for any purpose other than for the purposes of COLA;

(n)
A declaration that the defendants are in breach of a certain agreement dated November 7, 1996, as hereinafter set out, in that they have used an asset transfer amount (“initial surplus”) of $43.364 Million to reduce the obligations or contributions of the defendants to said employee pension plan;

893. The Plaintiffs are seeking to have the COLA account re-established pursuant to Exhibit 33, and the plan text amended to reflect the changes. The surplus in the COLA account shall be used to increase COLA awards above 2/3 of inflation or to pay for other pension benefit improvements provided that the improvement does not create an immediate unfunded liability, on a going concern basis, in the plan as a whole. 

Independent Actuary Opinion
(g)
A declaration that:  (ii) the determination of Clifford Fox as contained in his letter of March 5, 1997, is invalid and of no force and effect;
894. Fox’s Opinion cannot be sustained.  The Plaintiffs seek a declaration of invalidity regarding his March 5, 1997 Opinion.  The Plaintiffs seek a further declaration that the Fox opinion is void rather than voidable. 


Equivalency

(u)
A declaration that said employee pension plan as drafted by the defendants and registered with the Superintendent of Pensions is not equivalent as required by s.15 of The  Act;
895. The Court of Appeal has made it clear that Fox’s Opinion can be appealed. It would be absurd to send the matter back to Fox or another Independent Actuary when this Court has had the benefit of 13 weeks of evidence and lengthy arguments to sort out the question concerning equivalency. This Court is best placed to resolve the matter once and for all.    

Emerging Surplus

 (s)
A declaration that any surplus established in said employee pension plan resulting from employee contributions, at the discretion of the plaintiffs, on behalf of the employees and former employees of the defendants, be used only for the purposes of improving employee benefits or reducing employee contributions;
896. The Plaintiffs seek a declaration that they own and control any and all surplus derived from their contributions. Employee surplus used to pay the full cost of a benefit improvement will not have an affect on MTS’ liabilities if the Court declares that such surplus is the sole and exclusive property of employees/retirees. 

Governance

(t)
A declaration that, to the extent the text of said employee pension plan purports to give the defendants the authority to use surplus, to govern said employee pension plan or to act or not act in the manner hereinafter complained of, said text is invalid and of no force and effect;
897. The Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the New Plan plan shall be governed on the basis of consensus; through the operation of a 2/3 vote of the Pension Committee with respect to any and all changes to the plan that impact on benefits. 

Reference

(v)
Any and all necessary orders, including accounts and references, to ensure that benefits under said employee pension plan are equivalent in value and will put said employee pension plan in the position it would have been had the defendants not breached their obligations to the plaintiffs;
898. The Plaintiffs expect that some form of compliance hearing or a reference may be necessary if the parties cannot agree with respect to the implementation of the Declarations and Orders sought. 

899. This Honourable Court has absolute discretion and jurisdiction to make all necessary Orders to ensure that the benefits are equivalent in value.  The Plaintiffs will elaborate fully on the specifics of the relief sought, for instance, the process to change the plan text, during oral submissions in March.   

Costs

(w)
Costs on a solicitor and client basis;
900. Costs will have to be spoken to after this Court hands down its decision. 
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� 	In this case, the Court of Appeal has already relied on Hansard transcripts to assist it with the interpretation of the Reorganization Act.  (See also:  Dagg v. Canada (Minister of Finance) [1997] 2 S.C.R. 403 (SCC) @ p. 14 para. 49) [Pl Case Book Tab 17] in which the Supreme Court indicated that use of Hansard is allowed to determine the appropriateness of a particular statutory interpretation.)





� 	The $49M is the true initial surplus figure ($424M minus ½ liabilities of $375M). The parties chose to use the figure $43.4 (the difference in contributions on day one) as a proxy for the calculation of initial surplus. The employees had asked that the initial surplus be defined as the surplus determined as part of the transfer amount from the CSSF (excess of assets above 50% of the liabilities). See AD 559 p. 07973.    


� There was one occasion of a deficit that was caused intentionally as a result of a benefit improvement agreement. Suffice to say it was extremely minor and purposefully temporary. 


� February 19, 1997 briefing note AD 813


� 	Exhibit 51, bottom row, shows the $43.4M at the plan rate of return, 1997-2007


� 	$49M is the true “initial surplus” as measured in the way surplus was measured in the CSSA. The $43.4M figure is the initial estimate of the difference in funding contributions between MTS and its employees on day one of the plan. Turns out the actual difference was (424-383=410). The parties agreed to use the difference in contribution levels as the proxy for the initial surplus in December of 1996 when employees were making recommendations for changes to the plan text. [AD 564 p. 00480]  and  [AD  637 where employees accept MTS proposal to use difference in contributions at p. 00506]  


� 	This benefit improvement would result in a 14.3% increase in pensions where the average salary of the pensioner was $25,000.  If the average salary of the pensioner were $75,000, the pension would increase by 5.9%. [AD 1040] 





�	 There remains the difference between the $43.4M designated as the initial surplus and the actual excess over 50% of the New Plan liabilities of $49M = $5.6M 


� 	Overturned on appeal @ 2008 ONCA 394; leave to the SCC filed





